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Research proves that excellence requires focus and 
engagement. For USP’s 2014 Annual Report, this is 

precisely the inspiration in which it comes from. 

Graphic elements and shapes used within the pages 
are distinctly Pacific, and they were carefully chosen 

to epitomise ideas and activities that signify the act of 
focusing with dedication. Traditional fishhooks from the 
Pacific submerged in the ocean and circles to draw the 

eye to the contents of symbolic spheres. Visible rays of a 
star to connote greatness and excellence.

Due to today’s plethora of distractions, real focus 
has become a scarce resource, and undoubtedly the 
University faces many challenges ahead to achieve 
excellence. However, we know that with the right 

amount of focus and perseverance, we will prevail. We 
will succeed, and we will be excellent.

ABOUT THE
COVER 

The cover features the force that unites the University 
and the region it serves - its people. Students from 
different backgrounds in all parts of the Pacific gather 
around the USP logo to show their unanimous support 
for the University’s focus on excellence. The meandering 
graphical forms represent the perseverance and the 
purposefulness required for such an endeavour.



Serving Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Samoa, 
Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu.
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OUR VISION
Achieving excellence and innovation for sustainable 
development of the Pacific Island Countries.

OUR MISSION
•	 To provide Pacific people with a comprehensive 

range of excellent and relevant tertiary 
qualifications;

•	 To deliver the benefits of advanced research and 
its applications;

•	 To provide communities and countries 
in the Pacific region with relevant, cost 
effective and sustainable solutions, including 
entrepreneurship, to their main challenges; and

•	 To be an exemplar of tertiary education for the 
Pacific Islands in quality, governance, application 
of technology and collaboration with national 
tertiary institutions.

OUR VALUES
•	 Commitment and loyalty of staff and students 

to the institution and the region;
•	 Highest standards of governance, leadership, 

academic freedom, integrity and transparency;
•	 Highest standards of creativity, innovation, 

teamwork and flexibility in the pursuit of 
excellence;

•	 Investments in staff, rewarding staff excellence, 
and empowerment of all USP teams;

•	 Respect for distinctiveness and diversity in 
our Pacific heritage and its development, 
preservation and dissemination;

•	 Commitment to regional cooperation and 
integration;

•	 Positive and inclusive learning and living 
environments for student excellence;

•	 Support for flexible learners in all locations for 
success in work, life and citizenship;

•	 Protection and nurturing of the environment;
•	 Strong relationships to guide engagement with 

national governments, Pacific communities, and 
development partners;

•	 Humility in performance, learn from others, 
value the trust given, and honour Pacific 
knowledge, contexts and aspirations.

Ultimately, both the Vision and Mission of 
this Strategic Plan will be realised through the 
contribution and attributes of USP’s graduates and 
staff. These are the key drivers of the Strategic Plan.

USP GRAdUATE ATTRIBUTES
The University of the South Pacific’s academic 
programmes will promote the development of the 
following attributes in all graduates:

ACAdEMIC ExCELLENCE
•	 Extensive knowledge of a particular discipline or 

professional area, including relevant knowledge 
and skills;

•	 Capacity for independent critical thinking and 
self-directed, life-long learning;

•	 Advanced information and communication 
technology knowledge and skills; and

•	 Research skills.

INTELLECTUAL CURIOSITy ANd INTEGRITy
•	 Deep respect for truth and intellectual integrity, 

and for the ethics of scholarship;
•	 Intellectual curiosity and creativity, openness to 

new ideas;
•	 Commitment to inter-disciplinary understand-

ing and skills; and
•	 Respect for the principles, values and ethics of a 

chosen profession.

CAPACITy FOR LEAdERSHIP ANd wORkING 
FOR OTHERS
•	 Effective interpersonal communication skills;
•	 Leadership, organisational, teamwork and time 

management abilities; and
•	 Personal maturity and self-confidence.

APPRECIATION OF THE CULTURES OF THE 
PACIFIC ISLANdS
•	 Knowledge and appreciation of both the unity 

and diversity of Pacific Island cultures;
•	 Understanding of the diverse economies and 

environments of the Pacific Islands; and
•	 Commitment to the maintenance and 

strengthening of the societies of the Pacific.
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Cross-Cultural CompetenCies
•	 An understanding and appreciation of social, 

cultural and linguistic diversity;
•	 Respect for human rights and dignity in a 

global context;
•	 Commitment to accountability, ethical practice 

and social responsibility; and
•	 Demonstrated oral and written proficiency in 

the English language.

STAFF ATTRIBUTES
The commitment of USP’s staff to the Vision, 
Mission, and Values of the University is embedded 
in the following attributes:
•	 Commitment and loyalty to the institution and 

its mission;
•	 Honesty and integrity in personal and professional 

interactions in the work environment, including 
the highest standards of academic conduct;

•	 A strong student-centred approach to learning 
and teaching;

•	 Highest standards of creativity, innovation, 
teamwork, cooperation and flexibility in the 
pursuit of excellence;

•	 Respect for the distinctiveness and diversity of 
our Pacific heritage and dedication towards its 
development, preservation and dissemination;

•	 A responsible attitude towards a healthy work-
life balance;

•	 A positive and proactive stance towards customer 
service;

•	 Respectful and ethical behaviour; and
•	 A collegial and cooperative attitude that 

contributes towards building a more cohesive 
university community.

 
FROM GOOd TO ExCELLENT
In order to bring about a transformative change 
from good to excellent, the University will focus on 
the following:

PEOPLE
Investment in people, leadership and change 
management.

QUALITy
An enhanced quality of teaching, learning, research 
and services, as measured through international 
accreditation of programmes.

REGIONAL CAMPUSES
A comprehensive and time-lined development 
of regional campuses with improved governance 
and management to bring about equitable and 
sustainable growth.

POSTGRAdUATE STUdIES
Significantly increased postgraduate enrolment, 
including PhD and Masters research, student 
success and supporting faculty.

RESEARCH
A greater impact of research, to place USP amongst 
the leaders in selected priority areas, including 
Pacific societies and cultures, oceans adn marine 
resources.

GLOBAL LEAdERSHIP
•	 The lead institution in Pacific Studies/Arts and 

Culture; and
•	 Amongst the leading universities in the world in
•	 ICT leveraged flexible learning and new 

pedagogies; and
•	 Pacific Ocean and Marine Resources.

AN ENTERPRISING UNIVERSITy
A university that produces students with 
entrepreneurial skills, as job creators, not just job 
seekers; and

REGIONAL ExEMPLAR
In tertiary education and assisting national 
institutions where needed and appropriate.
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am delighted to introduce this report, which is 
a comprehensive record of USP’s activities and 
impacts over the course of 2014. It contains 

essential information on educational outcomes; on 
the institution as a development organisation; and 
on the rate of progress achieved against goals under 
the Strategic Plan 2013-2018. It sets out what the 
University has achieved to date and also provides 
some details on our plans for the next year and 
beyond. Most importantly, readers are presented with 
all the information they require to draw their own 
conclusions about the scale and sustainability of USP’s 
achievements and intentions, with regard to both its 
own growth and that of the region it serves.       

USP has recorded amazing growth and success in 
a relatively short period of time; it has a proven 
record of success in using limited resources and the 
support of valued development partners to deliver 
cost-effective, high-quality education; it has a wide 
network of international university partners which 
recognise its regional presence and superb positioning 
for important research; and it is recording an annually-
increasing enrolment, both from within its 12 country 
regional membership and from outside of it. USP is 
firmly future-focused; it has its sights on excellence and 
a robust plan for how to get there. We are well on the 
way to objectively achieving outstanding results across 
the University by 2018.    

None of the success would have been possible without 
an active Council, a pro-active Vice-Chancellor and 
President, and Chancellors who have been interested 
in USP’s work and performance. My very special 
thanks go particularly to the Deputy Chair Mrs Fekita 
‘Utoikamanu, the Chair of Finance and Investments 
Committee Ms Fay Yee, and Chair of Audit and Risk 
Committee Mr Iowane Naiveli. 

We look forward to an exciting 2015.

Ikbal Jannif
Pro-Chancellor and Chair of Council

I
pro-ChanCellor’s 

FOREwORd

“USP is firmly future-
focused; it has its sights on 

excellence and a robust plan 
for how to get there. We are 
well on the way to objectively 

achieving outstanding 
results across the University 

by 2018”.
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am proud that USP already looks very 
different to the way it did in early 2013 when 
we embarked on the current Strategic Plan. 
Just two years ago, many in the region were 
surprised by the University’s boldness, even 

audacity. USP went beyond promising to improve and 
dared to publically declare an ambition to transform 
itself into an institution of excellence. USP had, keenly 
aware of its obligations to its member countries, 
calculated that not taking action to grow enrolment, 
improve infrastructure, attain quality accreditations, 
and increase research activity was a greater threat to 
the future prosperity of this institution and the region 
than was dreaming big- and planning for success.    

USP is already seeing returns on its ambitious plan 
and commitment. This University is on its way to 
all-around excellence by its 50th anniversary in 
2018. During 2014, USP deepened partnerships 
with a range of financial supporters, heightened and 
enhanced its international profile, and produced 
thousands of highly qualified and readily employable 
graduates. Student and staff satisfaction levels 
remained high, research outputs increased, and the 
number of accreditations and quality accolades grew.  
Further, these improvements began to be effectively 
embedded in policies, practices, and operations.
The Strategic Plan is clearly providing a framework 
through which USP can ensure that excellence is 
sustainable.  

All of the above achievements demonstrate how USP 
is helping to create a prosperous future for the region, 
which needs a critical mass of knowledgeable, highly 
skilled, and socially-aware leaders and contributors 
who will demand prosperous and peaceful societies.  
USP needs to become an outstanding institution in 
order to make that vision a reality.  

I

ViCe-ChanCellor
and president’s 

REPORT

As the region’s premier university, USP already 
produces a large graduating class each year, which 
joins the tens of thousands of USP Alumni already 
shaping the development of the Pacific Islands.  As 
our enrolments grow, so does our contribution to 
regional development, and we make progress both as 
a university and as a region.  

“It is well known that USP aspires 
to achieve excellence by its 50th 

anniversary in 2018. I am pleased to 
say that significant progress has been 

made, and we have recorded a number 
of outstanding accomplishments 

in 2014. Across all of our Priority 
Areas, we have shown that focus, 

concentration, and effort result in 
significant gains for students, faculties, 

campuses and the organisation as a 
whole”.
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In my 2013 Annual Report I had mentioned that 
“we are already working together, across faculties and 
campuses, to improve USP’s quality and our students’ 
results. As 2014 unfolds, we will remain steadfast in 
our determination to transform USP from good to 
excellent”.

I am happy to report that we are making good 
progress in these areas.

Strategic Plan 2013-2018 
Implementation

USP operates from a premise that will resonate with 
all of our students:  if one never aspires to greatness, 
the likelihood of achieving it is slim. The intention to 
be excellent in all aspects by USP’s 50th anniversary 
in 2018 has been declared.  Now, after two years of 
Strategic Plan implementation, concrete progress 
toward this goal has been achieved, and it looks highly 
likely that 2018 will celebrate USP being more than 
the region’s best university; it will be an outstanding 
university, outright and by any measure of geography.    

Across all Strategic Plan Priority Areas, focus, 
diligence, and cooperation resulted in significant gains 
for individual students, for faculties, for campuses 
and for the organisation as a whole. By the end of 
December 2014, USP had completed one-third of 
the time period of the Strategic Plan 2013-2018, 
and achieved roughly 34% of the Strategic Plan aims 
and objectives. This means that implementation is 
slightly ahead of schedule. Some background work 
constitutes progress that cannot always be recorded 
immediately. However, it should be noted that 
very strong foundations have been laid for future 
achievements. 

Governance

Robust governance has provided the guidance 
and framework that has supported Strategic Plan 
implementation. Governance is more than just 
organisational oversight; it is about maintaining the 
highest standards of equity, transparency, and honesty, 
putting in place structures, and cultivating the habits 
and quality standards which support excellence. 

Given USP’s dual role as a university and a regional 
organisation, with multiple stakeholders, locations, 

and main priorities, as well as budget comprising 
the contributions of 12 member countries and 
many development partners, governance at USP 
is a complex and strategically important area. The 
governance aspect of USP’s operations ensures that 
the significant actions we take and the major decisions 
made in areas such as finance, human resources, 
infrastructural improvements, and relations with 
development partners and donors ultimately result 
in a better education for Pacific Islanders, more 
useful research being produced, and more timely and 
helpful scholarly advice provided to Pacific leaders 
and regional organisations on the issues of greatest 
importance to the region.   

In practice, strong governance at USP means that 
checks and balances are in place; decisions are taken 
on advice and consider multiple viewpoints and the 
needs of diverse groups; all campuses are involved in 
decision-making; that management is accountable; 
finances are carefully monitored and reported; future 
leaders are trained and nurtured, and current leaders 
are evaluated and encouraged.     

In order to further strengthen Governance, the 
University Council in 2014 initiated an independent 
review of the USP Charter and Statutes to place 
the University on a better footing in each of its 12 
member countries. This external review, which took 
place over 2014, examined the University’s governing 
instruments – the Charter and the Statutes - and also 
studied the Council membership, key nominations 
and voting rights. At its 79th meeting held in Suva 
on 30 - 31 October 2014, the Council was presented 
with the report. The Council will consider all of 
the recommendations in detail at its 80th meeting 
scheduled for June 2015.    

It is important  to note that a key  finding of the 
of the Review was that the University’s Charter does  
give the University  legal standing in every country 
in which USP operates, regardless of whether the 
country is part of the Commonwealth or not, and 
even regardless of its date of independence. This is 
significant as the issue of USP’s legal status in each 
member country has been a longstanding one. The 
Council will now look at various options and consider 
appropriate actions for 2015.  
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The following three areas further demonstrate 
how good governance is contributing to USP’s 
transformation.   

Growth and Modernisation

USP is in the midst of a USD 19 million project, 
funded by a favourable loan from the Asian 
Development Bank (ADB), to build new campuses 
in Kiribati and the Solomon Islands. This project is 
essential to ensure that USP has the space and facilities 
to meet the growing demand for university places 
in the region and that the quality of the education 
offered is maintained or improved even with higher 
enrolments.  Without this development project, USP 
would be highly unlikely to achieve excellence for the 
region. The development of new campuses in Lautoka 
and the Marshall Islands and upgrade works at several 
other regional campuses were also initiated in 2014. 

Substantial progress has been made on the new 
Kiribati campus.  The civil works contract was signed 
in May, mobilisation began in June, and the Ground 
Breaking Ceremony took place in July.  By the end of 
September, pad foundation works were complete, and  
by December steel works were initiated. The project 
will be completed by August/September 2015.

The new Solomon Islands campus at Ndoma also 
formed a major body of work in 2014. The Solomon 
Islands Government (SIG) agreed in July to fund 50% 
of the total cost of UXO clearance work at Ndoma.  
Other work has continued while the UXO situation 
will be dealt with in 2015. 

Fiscal Responsibility

It is crucial that USP manages its finances carefully and 
extracts maximum value from every dollar invested in 
it. The University has made very good progress in this 
area;   there has been a tightening up of reporting and 
accounting regulations, and increased responsibilities 
have been placed on project implementers. The 
University cannot, after all, achieve excellence unless 
its financial situation is positive. All staff members 
have been requested to consider cost-saving, as well 
as income-generating  measures, and the continued 
financial health of USP will come down to staff 
members taking collective responsibility for balancing 
their books.  

We have also enhanced the financial aspects of 
reporting to member countries, more clearly linking 
member contributions with educational and research 
outcomes on a per-country basis. We are now 
considering how best to reflect USP’s investment 
in each country in reports, and how to differentiate 
between investments that will generate returns quickly 
and those that are necessary but will take longer to 
pay for themselves.  

Development partners provide valuable funding and 
support to the University, and remain willing to do 
so because they are assured that the governance and 
management of this financial support is of the highest 
standards.   

Regional and International Profile

For USP to be considered an excellent institution, 
it is necessary for its operations to garner the 
respect and admiration of governments, other 
universities, development partners, and the public.  
This requires that it offers top-quality education, 
outstanding research, and valuable advisory services 
and development project administration. All of 
these activities and achievements must be adequately 
publicised if USP’s reputation is to be further 
improved and its international profile enhanced.    

The University firmly believes that the more 
information is available to the public, the greater 
the support it will enjoy; we are confident in the 
outstanding education, research, and services we offer 
to the Pacific Islands.  We will therefore continue to 
produce top-quality publications and release regular 
information to the public in print, audio, and digital 
formats.

The University’s governance structures are sound, 
strong, and widely admired. Given the demands 
of increased enrolments, major infrastructural 
work at multiple locations and a determination 
to continuously improve quality, governance will 
continue to be a strong focus of the University 
Council. Risk Management and the minimisation of 
USP’s carbon footprint will be considered carefully in 
2015, amongst other governance-related issues.   
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The year 2014 further saw the structure of the Senior 
Management Team (SMT) change in order to provide 
a greater depth of leadership and expertise in those 
areas crucial to Strategic Plan success. The new SMT 
structure was fully staffed by the end of 2014, notably 
with new Vice Presidents for (1) Administration and 
(2) Regional Campuses and Properties and Facilities 
and a new Deputy Vice-Chancellor Research and 
International. SMT is determined and committed 
to realising the goals set for the University’s 50th 
anniversary.  

Major Achievements of 2014

During 2014, USP achieved record enrolment figures, 
made better-than-expected progress on Strategic 
Plan implementation, deepened its partnerships 
with a range of financial supporters, increased its 
international profile, and produced thousands of 
highly qualified and readily employable graduates.  

Accreditation is what differentiates us from other 
providers in the region. This is why employers value 
us and why we are the first choice for students. 
USP’s accredited programmes now include MBA 
programme; LLB programmes; USP’s Accounting 
and Finance degrees were successfully re-accredited 
until 2018 by Certified Public Accounting (CPA) 
Australia; The School of Tourism & Hospitality 
Management was awarded Associate membership of 
the International Centre of Excellence in Tourism 
and Hospitality Education (THE-ICE) in 2010; 
and Bachelor of Net-centric Computing (BNC) and 
Bachelor of Software Engineering (BSE) have been 
provisionally accredited by the Australian Computer 
Society (ACS), which is a signatory to the Seoul 
Accord. The University received a very encouraging 
response to its initial application for accreditation 
from the WASC Senior College and University 
Commission (WSCUC). 

Student support has been an area of remarkable gain 
in 2014. USP has always been highly regarded for the 
assistance it provides its students, but we have now 
improved this further. We are determined to set the 
standard for student support in the Pacific Islands 

region.  We have developed a first-rate Disability 
Resource Centre and have expanded our Career and 
Counselling Centres, and our faculties and campuses 
are taking an active role in the provision of focused 
academic support and student health and welfare 
services.  

Increasing the level, scale, visibility and impact of 
research is a major objective of the SP. While we are 
making progress in this area, we need to give this 
greater priority. In 2015, I would like us all to focus 
strongly on research, and consider the inclusion of 
different academic areas to foster multi-disciplinary 
approaches, the involvement of students in research 
projects, the possibility of carrying out research 
projects at the regional campuses, and the effective 
and creative dissemination of research results.  

Information Technology Services (ITS) successfully 
deployed the student mesh wireless. This gives 
Laucala campus almost 100% wireless accessibility 
coverage, which you can imagine, has pleased the 
students greatly. 

The Prime Minister of Tonga, Lord Tu`ivakano, 
officially launched the connection of the USP Tonga 
campus to Tonga’s Fibre Optic cable in July. With 
this connection, the Tonga campus enjoys a 100Mbps 
total capacity of the fibre link from Tonga to the 
Laucala campus. This means that video broadcasting, 
Skype, the use of Moodle and other forms of learning 
are much improved, and the Tonga campus students 
can use the Australian Academic Research Network 
(AARNet) to its full potential. 

USP takes its position as the region’s premier 
university very seriously, and seeks to fulfil its role as 
a leading Council of the Regional Organisations of 
the Pacific (CROP) member with excellence by taking 
part in all major regional meetings and contributing 
as much as possible. Throughout 2014, the University 
provided resources, advice, and leadership, both as a 
regular meeting attendee and through its chairing 
of two CROP Working Groups, namely on Human 
Resources Development and ICT.
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major Focus in 2015

While good progress was made across Strategic Plan 
Priority Areas in 2014, challenges remain, particularly 
in the area of Human Resources. We produce 
thousands of graduates each year, the majority of them 
remain in the region to work, and we are regarded as 
producing the type of graduates this region needs.  

Yet USP continues to experience difficulties in 
recruiting senior professors and administrators with 
the required capacity and breadth of experience. 
We are considering the reasons for this disconnect, 
and upskilling our  own   staff, through mentoring, 
in-person and online workshops, seminars, and 
courses provided by Human Resources, by extending 
international training opportunities, and by 
incentivising research and leadership development 
activities. Through these initiatives, we are addressing 
our own future recruitment needs, providing new 
opportunities for Pacific Island academics and 
providing incentives for them to stay in the region.  

I am confident that USP will be a markedly better 
provider of higher education, research, and policy 
advice by 2018. Such ambitions do not come to 
fruition without comprehensive planning and 
unfaltering commitment to action and results, and 
USP has become well-known for both of these.  Our 
success in Strategic Plan implementation stems from 
the reflective learning which we apply to all of USP’s 
operations; we plan, we take action, and then we 
observe and reflect on our progress and adjust our 
plans where required.  

USP continues to self-examine and devise strategies 
to increase the value-added of our services.  Robust 
governance practices provide assurance to the public, 
member countries, and other stakeholders that USP 
can be trusted to deliver on its promises whilst 
adhering to high standards. 

In 2015, we will determine our success during the 
next triennium as we convince the UGC and the 
regional Ministers of Finance about our funding 
requirements for 2016-2018. The funding  formula 
is being reviewed. Funding arrangements might, 
therefore, change. We will need to manage that 
within a tight timeframe. We will need everybody’s 
co-operation and assistance. We need to work smarter 
and together, and support each other. So let us build 
on our achievements to date and accelerate our 
progress on the journey to excellence. 

conclusions 

Annual Reports such as this one enable the sharing 
of achievements and also provide space to reflect on 
how we can do even better. Our ethos of continuous 
improvement permeates our approach to the 
University’s development, the outcomes we wish to 
deliver for the region, and the educational experience 
we provide to students and researchers, and I trust 
that this document showcases this determination to 
improve. 

The future of the Pacific Islands region and that 
of USP are clearly intertwined, as a critical mass of 
university graduates is crucial to economic and social 
development. We firmly believe that our ambition as 
an institution reflects that of our member countries, 
and so all the energies and the priority areas that we 
pursue are aimed at creating a Pacific university for 
the future, one which offers outstanding education 
and research that supports growth and prosperity.

Professor Rajesh Chandra

Vice-Chancellor & President
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The University of the South Pacific is the premier 
institution of higher learning for the Pacific, uniquely 
placed in a region of extraordinary physical, social 
and economic diversity. Established in 1968, USP is 
one of only two universities of its type in the world. 
It is jointly owned by 12 member countries: Cook 
Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, 
Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu and 
Vanuatu. The University has campuses in all member 
countries. The main campus, Laucala, is in Fiji. The 
Alafua campus in Samoa is where the School of 
Agriculture and Food Technology is situated, and 
the Emalus campus in Vanuatu is the location for the 
School of Law. 

The academic Schools, Institutes and Centres at 
the University are organised into three faculties 
led by Deans. These are the Faculty of Arts, Law 
and Education (FALE), the Faculty of Business 
and Economics (FBE) and the Faculty of Science, 
Technology and Environment (FSTE). Each faculty 
comprises a number of schools which offer a wide 
range of academic programmes and courses at the 
undergraduate and postgraduate levels. In addition 
to the faculties, the College of Foundation Studies 
provides pre-degree studies, and the Pacific TAFE 
provides vocational and continuing education.  

The University also offers programmes through 
flexible learning in a variety of modes and technologies 
throughout USP’s 14 campuses.

Advanced communication technologies through 
USPNet are used to reach flexible learning students 
across 33 million square kilometres of the Pacific 
Ocean.

UNIVERSITY ADMINISTRATION
USP is governed by its own Council, which includes 
representatives of the member country governments, 
academic staff, students, community and business 
leaders, the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat, Australia 
and New Zealand. The Council and the Senate are 
served by a network of standing committees as well 
as Joint Committees of the Council and Senate in key 
areas. The ceremonial head of the University is the 
Chancellor. USP’s Chancellors are normally Heads 

of State of member countries. The Pro-Chancellor 
is Chair of Council and the executive head of the 
University is the Vice-Chancellor and President.

THE COUNCIL

The Council is the governing body of the University. 
It exercises all powers conferred on the University 
by the Charter, subject to the powers, duties and 
functions conferred upon it by the Statutes.

It has general control over the conduct of the affairs 
of the University. It has the custody of the Common 
Seal and is responsible for the management and 
administration of the revenue and property of the 
University. 

The Council can add to, amend or repeal the 
provisions of the Charter and the Statutes by a Special 
Resolution. The Council makes Ordinances to direct 
and to regulate the University and its authorities and 
members. The Council meets twice a year normally 
in May and November. The following are the major 
Committees of the Council.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee exercises Council powers 
delegated to it from time to time. This includes 
the powers to appoint the University Visitor and 
the Auditor, to co-opt members to the Council, to 
determine fees of the University and allowances 
for Committee members (as recommended by 
FIC), to make financial commitment up to $10m 
(as recommended by FIC), to ensure a supportive 
working environment for staff, to determine the 
appointment procedures and salary structure for 
staff of the University, to grant special academic 
distinctions, and to exercise other delegations.

There are four (4) specialised Committees of the 
Council: the Finance and Investments Committee 
(FIC), the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), the 
Remuneration Committee and the Appointments 
Committee.

Finance and Investments Committee (FIC)

FIC is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the 
University’s financial system and processes, approval 
of financial policies, review all significant financial 

UNIVERSITY GOVERNANCE
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proposals for Council’s consideration, and for 
ensuring financial sustainability. The Tender Board is 
a sub-committee of FIC and reports on all tenders 
awarded.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

ARC oversees the risk management strategy for 
the University. It monitors the performance and 
effectiveness of external and internal audits, ensures 
that the University’s processes and systems are audited 
for efficacy and ensures that satisfactory arrangements 
are in place to promote economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness of the University.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee decides the terms and 
conditions of employment of the Vice-Chancellor and 
President and the Senior Management Team.

The Senate
The Senate is the chief academic authority of the 
University, responsible for all academic matters, 
including quality. It exercises the powers, duties and 
functions conferred by the Charter and Statutes, to 
promote academic excellence in teaching, consultancy, 
research and other academic work of the University. 
The Senate makes Regulations to govern learning 
and teaching at the University as well as all matters 
with respect to students, including academic and non-
academic support services aimed at improving the 
overall student experience at USP. The membership 
of the Senate is drawn from the Faculties, Regional 
campuses and the Student Association, with a majority 
of members being elected. The Senate meets at least 
four (4) times a year, and has ten (10) standing 
committees to expedite its work and execute its 
assigned statutory responsibilities as well as a number 
of ad hoc committees and working groups for specific 
tasks.

The Academic Standards and Quality Committee 
(ASQC) leads and oversees the development, delivery, 

assessment and quality management of academic 
programmes, and effective teaching, learning, 
assessment and examination processes within the 
University. ASQC has four (4) committees that report 
to it.

In terms of research the University Research 
Committee oversees, promotes, coordinates and 
facilitates research while the University Research 
Ethics Committee ensures that all research activities 
undertaken in the name of the University comply 
with its ethical principles.

The Communications, Information and Technology 
Committee ensures the most effective use of IT 
Services in all forms (data, voice and video) to support 
the current and future activities of the University 
in the areas of teaching, research, management, 
consultancy and service to the communities that the 
University serves.

To facilitate a positive and supportive campus 
environment in the University, the Campus Life 
Committee advises on overall welfare and personal 
development and well-being of all students and staff, 
the development of sound policies on health and 
security and the promotion of a Safe, Clean and Green 
campus for all campuses. It is also responsible for 
promoting cultural interaction and the development 
of a Pan-Pacific consciousness to ensure that the 
University produces graduates who can espouse or 
advocate and champion the idea of people who can 
live peacefully together.

The Student Discipline Committee is responsible for 
student discipline according to the Ordinance and 
Regulation Governing Student Conduct.

The Medals and Prizes Awards Committee oversees 
the award of medals and prizes to the University’s 
exceptional and high performing students.

Other committees are the Gender Mainstreaming 
Advisory Committee, the Library Advisory Committee 
and the Education for Sustainable Development 
Advisory Committee. 
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KEY
1. * Joint Committee of Council and Senate 
2. CITC - Communication, Information and Technology  
 Committee 
3. CFDL - Centre for Flexible and Distance Learning
4. DAC - Discipline Appeals Committee
5. ESD Advisory – Education for Sustainable Development  
 Advisory  Committee

6. Management Committees
•	 Senior	Management	Team(	advisory	committee	to	
 Vice-Chancellor & President)
•	 Staff	Policy	Committee
•	 Staff	Appointment	Committees						
•	 Staff	Conduct	Committee		
•	 Staff	Review	Committee

Council

Senate

*Joint
Appointments 

Committee

Remuneration	
Committee *DAC

Audit	&	Risk	
Committee

Finance & 
Investments 
Committee 

Executive 
Committee

Academic 
Standards
& Quality 

Committee 
(ASQC)

Faculty ASQCs

CFL Board

Credit 
Assessment 
& Validation 
Committee

University 
Scholarships 
Committee

Medals 
& Prizes 

Committee

Gender 
Mainstreaming 

Advisory 
Committee

University 
Research	Ethics	

Committee

Library 
Advisory 

CommitteeESD Advisory 
Committee

CITC

University 
Research	

Committee 
(URC)

Campus Life 
Committee

Student 
Discipline 

Committee

*Honorary 
Degrees 

Committee

Faculty 
Research	

Committees 
(FRCs)

Banner
Executive 

Committee

UNIVERSITY COMMITTEE 
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURe

Tender Board

T/B Sub 
Committee

Goods & Services

T/B Sub 
Committee
[Projects]

T/B Sub 
Committee

[Other 
Campuses]
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PRINCIPAL
OFFICERS

His Excellency Sir Iakoba 
Taeia Italeli

LLB, PDLP S.Pac., LLM IMLI 
Malta.

Chancellor

Professor Rajesh Chandra
BA GCEd MA S.Pac., PhD Br.Col.

Vice-Chancellor 
& President

Mr Ikbal Jannif
Pro-Chancellor 

& Chair of Council

Professor John Bythell
DPhil Ncwcastle UK

Deputy Vice-Chancellor 
(Research & 

International)

Dr Esther Williams
BA Well., PGDipLib Canb., 
MA Well., PhD Qld., ALIA

Deputy Vice-Chancellor
(Special Duties) 

Dr Akanisi Kedrayate
MEd Glas., PhD NE

Dean of the Faculty of 
Arts, Law & Education

Dr Kesaia Seniloli
BA S.Pac., MA, PhD ANU
Acting Dean of the 

Faculty of Business & 
Economics

Dr Anjeela Jokhan
BSc, PGDip, MSc S.Pac.,PhD Brist.

Dean of the Faculty of 
Science, Technology & 

Environment

Ms Heather Stadel
BA Trin.W., MA R.Roads  

Executive Director 
Human Resources

 Mr Kolinio Boila
BA S.Pac.

Executive 
Director Finance

Dr Dilawar Singh Grewal
MS OS Univ., PhD Texas A&M 

Univ.
Vice-President 

(Administration)

Dr Giulio Masasso Paunga 
BA Weslyan, 

MA, PhD Daito Bunka
Vice-President 

(Regional Campuses 
Property and Facilities)

ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE
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ExEcutivE officEr
vc&p officE

support staff

Council

Vice-

Chancellor 

& President

ORGANISATIONAL
STRUCTURE

• Development
• Marketing
• communications
• alumni relations
• crop Engagement
• australia awards   
 pacific scholarships  
 (aaps)
• aDB Loan

•	Audit
•	 Insurance
•	Risk	Management

• council and  
 central committee  
 secretariat
• central records  
 and archives unit
• Mail room

DIRECTOR
DEVELOPMENT,  

MARKETING, 
COMMUNICATIONS AND 

ALUMNI RELATIONS

DIRECTOR 
ASSURANCE, 

COMPLIANCE & RISK 
MANAGEMENT

SECRETARY TO 
COUNCIL AND 

MANAGER, COUNCIL & 
CENTRALCOMMITTEE 

SECRETARIAT

• associate Deans &   
 Heads of school
• faculty Executive   
 committee
• faculty asQc
• centres & institutes
• faculty research
 committee
• faculty appointments  
 committee
• faculty assessment  
 Board 
• centres and institutes

• Management  
 accounting
• financial  
 operations
• financial planning

DEANS
EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTOR 
FINANCE

• research
• Graduate affairs
• usp international
• innovation & Knowledge  
 transfer/ ip
• pacific centre for   
 Environment & sustainable  
 Development
• usp press

DEPUTY VICE-
CHANCELLOR
RESEARCH & 

INTERNATIONAL

• undergraduate affairs
• asQc
• strategic total academic   
 review (star) project
• student administrative services
• campus Life
• scholarships & financial   
 assistance
• college of foundation studies
• centre for flexible Learning 
• pacific tafE

DEPUTY VICE-
CHANCELLOR 

LEARNING, 
TEACHING & 

STUDENT SERVICES

• regional campuses
cook islands, fiji, 
Kiribati, Marshall 
islands, Nauru, Niue, 
samoa, solomon 
islands, tokelau, 
tonga, tuvalu and 
vanuatu

• property & facilities

VICE-PRESIDENT 
REGIONAL 

CAMPUSES AND 
PROPERTIES & 

FACILITIES

• policy & planning
• Quality
• institutional research  
 & Data
• Human resources
• its
• Japan-pacific ict   
 centre & regional   
 ict outreach
• Libraries
• usp commercial

VICE-PRESIDENT
ADMINISTRATION

DEANS

DEPUTY VICE-
CHANCELLOR
RESEARCH & 

INTERNATIONAL

VICE-PRESIDENT
ADMINISTRATION

VICE-PRESIDENT 
REGIONAL 

CAMPUSES AND 
PROPERTIES & 

FACILITIES

DEPUTY VICE-
CHANCELLOR 

LEARNING, 
TEACHING & 

STUDENT SERVICES
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REGION
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CAMPUS 2013  2014 

Cook Islands 61.6  76 

Fiji - Labasa 404.4 473.3

Fiji - Laucala 8,783 9,231.6

Fiji - Lautoka 575.1 672.3

Kiribati 474 319.3

Marshall Islands 106.6 116.1

Nauru 17.6 12.5

Niue 6.6 6.6

CAMPUS 2013  2014

Samoa - Alafua 313.2  381.5

Solomon Islands 1,287.5 1,472

Tokelau 33 32.6

Tonga 448.6 443.3

Tuvalu 69.9 72.9

Vanuatu -  Emalus 1,066.7 1,079.5

Total EFTS 13,648  14,390 

CAMPUS students by (efts)

Note: The sum of students studying at different course levels will not be equal to the total number of students since a significant number of 
students study between different course levels.

Headcount 2013 2014 

Total Number of Students  24,986   25,825 

In Pre-degree Courses  8,317   8,528  

In Bachelor Courses  14,336   14,814  

In Postgraduate Courses  2,676   2,781

In Other Courses  736  1,281

STUDENTS

Note: EFTS - Equivalent Full-time students is a unit measure that defines the calculated (not actual) number of students 
equivalent to the number carrying the workload of a fulltime student.  For example, an EFTS workload of 1.0/yr for a student 
means that the student is equivalent to a full-time student, while an EFTS of 0.5/yr means half the workload of a fulltime student.

Cook Islands

Fiji - Labasa

Fiji - Laucala

Fiji - Lautoka

Kiribati

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue

Samoa - Alafua

Solomon Islands

Tokelau

Tonga

Tuvalu

Vanuatu -  Emalus

64.2%

4.7%
2.2%

0.8% 0.1% 0% 2.7% 10.2% 0.2%
3.1%

0.5%

7.5%

0.5%

3.3%
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(1) A student is considered Part-time if the annual EFTS workload for a student is less than 0.75/yr. Where the student’s 
annual EFTS workload is greater than or equal to 0.75, the student is considered full-time.

FULL TIME/PART TIME 2013 2014 

Full Time  8,082 8,545

Part Time1  5,566 5,845

Total EFTS  13,648  14,390

FULL TIME/PART TIME

GENDER

NATIONALITY 2013 2014  

Cook Islands 61.6 73.3 

Fiji 7,702.6 8,256.2

Kiribati 731 639.6

Marshall Islands 109 117.8

Nauru 36.6 28.7

Niue 5.8 6

Samoa 334.2 378.4

NATIONALITY 2013 2014

Solomon Islands 2,415 2,563.4

Tokelau 36.3 34.5

Tonga 647.1 645.9

Tuvalu 221.9 202.8

Vanuatu 1,200.8 1,254.9

International 146.1 188

Total EFTS 13,649  14,390

NATIONALITY  

FULL TIME

PART TIME

Cook Islands

Fiji 

Kiribati

Marshall Islands

Nauru

Niue

Samoa

Solomon Islands

Tokelau

Tonga

Tuvalu

Vanuatu

International

53.9%46.1%

40.6%

59.4%

GENDER 2013 2014 

Female  7,303  7,757

Male  6,346  6,633

Total EFTS 13,648  14,390

57.38%

17.81%

1.41%
4.49%

0.24%

0.51%
1.31%

4.44%
0.82%

2.63%

0.20%
0.04%

8.72%
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MODE OF STUDY 2013 2014
Face to Face 6,146 6,611
Blended 1,211 1,053
Online 80% offering (no F2F) 537 960
Print 5,332 5,253
Flexi-School 422 513

TOTAL EFTS 13,648 14,390

MODE OF STUDY 

FACULTY 2013 2014

Faculty of Arts, Law & Education 3,181 3,321
Faculty of Business Economics 4,023 4,431
Faculty of Science, Tech & Env 3,082 3,154
University Wide2 3,362 3,484

TOTAL EFTS 13,648 14,390

FACULTY

COURSE LEVEL 2013 2014
English Language 10.5 15.4
Preliminary 1,106.8 1,011.2
Foundation 2,067.30 2,147.1
Vocational & Continuing 
Education 108.3 274.8
Certificate 6.8
Degree 100 level 3,799.2 3,943.1
Degree 200 level 3,210.7  3,338.2
Degree 300 level 2,088  2,355.5
Postgraduate 400 level 796.5 809
MBA course 147.8 183
Professional Law 87.6 80.7
Research 218.5 231.5

TOTAL EFTS 13,648  14,390

COURSE LEVEL

Faculty of Arts, Law and Education

Faculty of Business Economics

Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment

University Wide
(2) Includes programmes and courses from Pacific TAFE, 
College of Foundation Studies and PACE-SD

English Language Degree 200 level

Preliminary Degree 300 level

Foundation Postgraduate 400 level

Vocational & Continuing Education MBA course

Certificate Professional Law

Degree 100 level Research

Face to Face

Print

Blended

Flexi-School

Online

23.1% 21.9%24.2%30.8%

45.9%

36.5%

0.1%

27.4%

23.2%

16.4%

5.6%
1.3%

0% 0.6%1.6%
1.9%

14.9% 7.0%

3.6%

7.3%

6.7%
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SCHOOL, COLLEGES AND CENTRES   
 2013 2014
College of Foundation Studies 3,174.3  3,150.5
Pacifc Technical & Further Edu 115.7 265.5
Ocenia Centre/Ats Cul.Pac stud 366.5 389.8
Sch of Geo, Earth Sc & Envirmn 492.8 530.9
Sch of Gov, Dev & Intertnl Affs 549.5 589.2
Sch. Agriculture & Food Tech 185.4 209.2
Sch.of Lang.Arts & Media/JN 816.4 747.9
School Engineering & Physics 414.1 452.4
School of Accounting & Finance 1,234.2 1,384.3
School of Bio, Chemical Scienc 529.8 539.8
School of Economics 707.6 738.2

SCHOOL, COLLEGES AND CENTRES   
 2013 2014
School of Education 995.5 944.8
School of Land Mgment & Devel 110.3 103.6
School of Law 658.3 786.4
School of Marine Studies 201.3 206.3
School of Mngmnt & Public Admn 886.3 993.1
School of Social Sciences 344.3 401.8
School of Tourism & Hosp Mgmnt 201.6 230.1
School.Comp, Info & Math Sci 1,445.5 1,424.5
Graduate School of Business 147.8 183.0
Pacific Centre - Env & Develop 71.8 67.8

Total EFTS 13,648 14,390

SCHOOL, COLLEGES AND CENTRES

College of Foundation Studies School of Education

Pacifc Technical & Further Edu School of Land Mgment & Devel

Ocenia Centre/Ats Cul.Pac stud School of Law

Sch of Geo, Earth Sc & Envirmn School of Marine Studies

Sch of Gov,Dev & Intertnl Affs School of Mngmnt & Public Admn

Sch. Agriculture & Food Tech School of Social Sciences

Sch.of Lang.Arts & Media/JN School of Tourism & Hosp Mgmnt

School Engineering & Physics School.Comp, Info & Math Sci.

School of Accounting & Finance Graduate School of Business

School of Bio, Chemical Scienc Pacific Centre - Env & Develop

School of Economics

21.9%

0.5%
1.3%

9.9%

1.6%
2.8%6.9%1.4%5.5%0.7%

6.6%

5.1%

3.8%

9.6%

3.1%
5.5%

1.8%2.7%3.7%4.1%1.5%

POSTGRADUATE COURSE LEVEL 

 2013 2014
Postgraduate 400 level 796.5 809
MBA 147.3 183
Professional Law 87.6 80.7
Master Mini Thesis (Part-Time) 12.5 16.3
Masters Mini Thesis (Full-Time) 4 4.5
Masters Thesis (Part-Time) 54.8 64.3
Masters Thesis (Full-Time) 81 74.5
PHD Thesis (Part-Time) 31.3 38.5
PHD Thesis (Full-Time) 35 33.5

Total EFTS 1,250 1,304

POSTGRADUATE

62%

14%

6.2%

2.6%3%
5.7%

4.9%
0.3%

1.2%

Professional Law

PHD Thesis (Full-Time)

Masters Thesis (Part-Time)

Masters Mini Thesis (Full-Time)

MBA course

PHD Thesis (Part-Time)

Postgraduate 400 level

Masters Thesis (Full-Time)

Master Mini Thesis (Part-Time)
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(3)Laucala Fiji staff numbers include the USP headquartered staff who support the rest of the University.   
 

Campus Hourly Paid I&J  Senior Staff Total (% of Total) 
 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014
Alafua 29 34 36 36 16 17 81 87 5.1% 5.4%
Cook Island  2 6 1 2 2 8 5 0.5% 0.3%
Emalus 25 26 39 38 29 35 93 99 5.9% 6.2%
Kiribati  5 11 18 6 10 17 33 1.1% 2.1%
Labasa 4 3 9 9 2 2 15 14 0.9% 0.9%

Laucala (3) 258 222 458 466 535 533 1,251 1,221 79.0% 76.4%
Lautoka  1 14 13 7 8 21 22 1.3% 1.4%
Marshall Island  3  5 10 3 10 11 0.6% 0.7%
Nauru  2 5 2 3 2 8 6 0.5% 0.4%
Niue  4 1 0 1 1 2 5 0.1% 0.3%
Solomon Island 3 3 25 26 12 22 40 51 2.5% 3.2%
Tonga 4 9 17 12 12 14 33 35 2.1% 2.2%
Tokelau  0 1 1  0 1 1 0.1% 0.1%
Tuvalu  4 4 3  1 4 8 0.3% 0.5%
Total 323 318 626 630 635 650 1,584 1,598 100% 100%

STAFF BY CAMPUS AND CATEGORY

Staff Category  2013 2014
Academic & Comparable 635 650
Intermediate & Junior 626 630
Hourly Paid 323 318
Total 1,584 1,598

ALL STAFF BREAKDOWN

Staff Category  2013 2014
Academic   422 413
Comparable 213 237
Total 635 650

SENIOR STAFF BREAKDOWN

ACADEMIC STAFF RANKING 

PROGRAMME LEVEL 2013 2014
Foundation  1,480
Pacific TAFE  326
Certificate Programmes 15 27
Diploma Programmes 80 79
Degree Programmes 1,431 1,435
Graduate Certificate Programmes 18 41
Post Graduate Certificate Programmes 155 200
Post Graduate Diploma Programmes 472 502
Professional Diploma Programmes 107 91
Masters Programmes 322  270
Doctorate Programmes 4 3

TOTAL AWARDS 2,604 4,454

AWARDS BY PROGRAMME LEVEL

Note: Staff numbers include academic and support staff. Staff data census date is as at 31st December 2014.

Note: 2014 include College of Foundation Studies and Pacific TAFE Awards.

33.2%
7.3% 0.6%

1.8%

32.2%
0.9%4.5%11.3%

2.0%
6.1%

0.1%

Foundation Pacific TAFE Certificate Programs Diploma Programs

Degree Programs Graduate Certificate Programs Post Graduate Certificate Programs Post Graduate Diploma Programs

Professional Diploma Programmes Masters Programs Doctorate Programs
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   2012 2013 2014
Masters (Full Thesis)  46 34 44
PhD Thesis  7 4 3 
Total Research Masters & PhD 53 38 47

RESEARCH MASTERS & PhD AWARDs

Year FALE FBE FSTE PACE-SD Other Total
2012 120 110 178 14 0 422
2013 68 71 124 7 1 271
2014 69 78 157 12 14 330

Note: Where two staff from different faculties share a publication, the publication is counted twice, once in each respective 
faculty; for this reason Faculty Research Output is higher than the University Research Output.

Research Output by Faculty

   2012 2013 2014
Total External Research Income $7,581,856 $9,661,743 $5,517,025

Note: The definition of External Research Income is as per the 2013 HERDC.

RESEARCH INCOME

Year Books Book Conference  Journal Total  Others (4)  Total

  Chapters Proceedings Articles   Outputs

2012 18 20 56 187 281 136 417
2013 3 29 29 142 203 62 265
2014 5 30 43 176 254 59 313

Note: The focal areas of research output at the University are: Books, book chapters, conference proceedings and journal 
articles. These are the main areas listed in the 2013 Higher Education Research Data Collection (HERDC), Australian 
government.  

RESEARCH OUTPUT BY PUBLICATION TYPE

RESEARCH

 2013 2014
Professor 19 20
Associate Professor 31 24
Senior Lecturer 48 49
Senior Fellow  2 5
Fellow 9 7
Lecturer 82 73
Librarian 1 1

 2013 2014 
Subject Coordinator 12 16
Program Coordinator 1 1
Curator 2 1
Assistant Lecturer 92 84
Tutors/TA’s 123 124
Other Academics 0 8
Total  422 413

ACADEMIC STAFF BY RANKING

ACADEMIC STAFF RANKING 

(4) Non-Faculty, but USP publications.  Note that 2012 data provided here reflects a more accurate estimate of the 2012 
research output due to a more effective system of research data collection now in place (USPERR).
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TOTAL UNIVERSITY ALUMNI (5)   28,899 

 
Note: Alumni are defined as those who received at least one higher education award from the University.
(5) This number is only for the years 1992 to 2014. Alumni numbers for earlier years are currently being collated.

UNIVERSITY ALUMNI

REGIONAL NATIONALITY 2013 2014 
Cook Islands 45 8 
Fiji 1,833 2,497
Kiribati 38 193
Marshall Islands 16 41
Nauru 2 3
Niue 1 5
Samoa 100 98
Solomon Islands 214 1,159
Tokelau 2 12
Tonga 159 141
Tuvalu 61 57
Vanuatu 99 207
International 34 33

Total AWARDS 2,604 4,454

AWARDS BY REGIONAL NATIONALITY

56.1%

1.3%4.6%

0.2%
0.7%

3.2% 0.3%

0.9%
0.1%
0.1%
2.2%

26.0%

4.3%

Cook Islands Fiji

Kiribati

Marshall Islands Nauru

Niue

Samoa

Solomon Islands

Tokelau Tonga

Tuvalu

Vanuatu International
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HIGHLIGHTS
OF

2014

 1285 NEw GRAdUATES 
A total of 1285 students graduated at the Laucala Campus 
Graduation Ceremony on 11 April. USP’s Chancellor, 
His Majesty King Tupou VI of  Tonga officiated at the 
ceremony. Seventeen of the graduates were from non-
member countries, including four from Papua New 
Guinea. The graduates, representing 24 nationalities, 
demonstrate both the regional and international character 
of the University.

OUTSTANdING STUdENTS HONOUREd
Gold medals and prizes were given to 29 outstanding 
students at a special ceremony held at Laucala Campus on 
April 9. USP Chancellor, His Majesty, King Tupou VI of 
Tonga honoured awardees in 28. These students finished 
at the top of their classes. In order to receive a prize and 
medal, a student needs to get a Grade Point Average 
(GPA) of 4.0 or more in their programme or discipline, 
generally students with the highest GPA are the recipient 
of the award.

USP wELCOMES THE 21ST CHANCELLOR
Governor General of  Tuvalu H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli 
was formally welcomed as the 21st USP Chancellor on 6 
September 2014. Vice-Chancellor and President thanked 
him for accepting the position for this period of intense 
work and transformation. H.E. Sir Italeli stated that USP 
must guide and nurture Pacific Island youth so that “our 
growing generations must be better than what we have 
achieved.”.



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 27

840 NEw GRAdUATES 
A total of 840 students representing 15 different 
nationalities received certificates, diplomas and degrees 
from USP Chancellor and Governor General of Tuvalu, 
H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli at the second Laucala campus 
Graduation Ceremony on 5 September 2014. A number 
of high-profile officials, stakeholders, and supporters were 
in attendance, together with friends and families of the 
graduates. Fifty-nine percent of the graduating class was 
female, and 40% received postgraduate qualifications. 
Two students from FBE graduated with PhDs.

154 GRAdUATE FROM SOLOMON ISLANdS 
CAMPUS
A total of 154 students graduated from the Solomon 
Islands campus on 12 September, an increase of 79% from 
2013.  H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli, USP Chancellor 
and Governor General of Tuvalu conferred certificates, 
diplomas and degrees to graduating students. Forty per 
cent of the graduates were female. Fourteen per cent of the 
graduates received postgraduate qualifications, compared 
to 8 per cent in 2013, which is consistent with USP’s goal 
to boost Postgraduate studies.

53 STUdENTS GRAdUATE FROM TONGA 
CAMPUS
Fifty-three students graduated from USP’s Tonga campus 
on 20 September, of which 13 were from the region. Of the 
53 graduands, 58% were females and 12 students received 
postgraduate qualifications, with 5 receiving Masters 
degrees. Since 2009, there has been a steady increase in 
enrolment at the Tonga campus, with a corresponding 
decline in the number of Tongan students at the Laucala 
campus.

usp’s niue students graduate 
Four students graduated from USP’s Niue campus 
graduation ceremony on 18 October, 2014. The awards 
were conferred by Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli, USP Chancellor 
and Governor General of Tuvalu. During the ceremony, 
the achievement of two students who received Certificates 
in Foundation Studies was also recognised.
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341 NEw GRAdUATES FROM THE CENTRE 
FOR VOCATIONAL ANd CONTINUING 
EdUCATION 
A total of 341 students graduated with certificates and 
diplomas on 31 January after successfully completing 
their studies at the Centre for Vocational and Continuing 
Education (CVCE) now known as Pacific TAFE. Pacific 
TAFE provides vocational and professional programmes 
and short courses at USP. The quality of its programmes has 
been recognised as excellent, with eight TVET programmes 
internationally accredited by the end of 2014.

GRAdUATION OF 216 FOUNdATION 
STUdENTS 
A total of 216 students were awarded Certificates in 
Foundation Studies. The graduands hailed from Fiji, 
Marshall Islands, Niue, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga, 
Tuvalu and Vanuatu. Under the Strategic Plan 2013-2018, 
Foundation Studies is a priority area for development. It 
is a crucial introduction to university, during which time 
students are expected to transform from being passive 
learners to more active ones who take responsibility for 
their learning.  

MBA PROGRAMME GETS INTERNATIONAL 
ACCREdITATION 
USP’s Graduate School of Business (GSB) received an 
award as a newly accredited school under the Association 
for MBAs (AMBA) at the annual International Conference 
for Deans and Directors held in Paris, France in April 2014. 
This accreditation is an official recognition that USP’s 
Master of Business Administration (MBA) programme 
is of comparable standards to those offered by other 
premier business schools around the world. This award 
is an example of USP’s commitment to providing quality 
education as recognised by global institutions.

new usp-australia partnership
The new USP-Australia Partnership for 2014-2018 worth 
AUD 49 million covering 3.5 years was launched by Hon 
Senator Brett Mason, Parliamentary Secretary for Foreign 
Affairs of the Government of Australia, at the Japan-Pacific 
ICT Centre at Laucala on April 28. Senator Mason lauded 
USP as a great example of regional engagement and success, 
serving 12 countries with the highest standards.  He said 
that USP now has international standing, international 
quality and its courses are recognised throughout the 
world.
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78TH USP COUNCIL MEETING IN NIUE
The 78th USP Council Meeting chaired by USP Pro-
Chancellor and Chair of Council, Mr. Ikbal Jannif was held 
in Alofi, Niue from 21-22 May 2014. The Council meeting 
was officially opened by the Premier of Niue, Honourable 
Toke Talagi. The meeting discussed a range of strategic 
issues for the University.

USP OPEN dAy 2014
USP Open Day 2014  was held on 8 August at Laucala, 
Lautoka and Labasa in Fiji, and at its regional campuses 
in Nauru, Solomon, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, Samoa and 
Vanuatu. Head of the European Union Delegation for 
the Pacific, H.E. Ambassador Andrew Jacobs officiated 
at the Laucala campus ceremony, in the presence of high-
level officials, dignitaries, teachers, USP supporters and 
large number of students. The event saw around 8000 
students visit Laucala campus and over 4000 visit both the 
Lautoka and Labasa campuses. The Regional campuses 
also recorded high attendance figures.

usp welComes Fiji’s eduCation 
MINISTER
USP officially welcomed Fiji’s Minister for Education, 
Heritage and Arts, Hon. Dr Mahendra Reddy to the 
Laucala campus on 29 October 2014. Minister was an 
award-winning scholarship student at USP and University 
of Hawaii. He began his career teaching economics at 
USP and later a Lecturer in Development Studies in 1998, 
Senior Lecturer in Development Economics in 2002 and 
Senior Lecturer in Economics in 2005. He was promoted 
as the Associate Dean of the FBE at USP in 2007, Associate 
Professor of Economics in 2007 and Head of the USP 
School of Economics in 2008. The visit reaffirmed Fiji and 
USP’s mutual commitment to quality educational outcomes 
for the Pacific.

PACIFIC FUSION RESTAURANT ANd 
TRAINING kITCHEN
Australian Foreign Minister Julie Bishop opened 
the Australia-Pacific Technical College (APTC) new 
hospitality training facilities, at USP’s Laucala campus in 
Suva. The Pacific Fusion Training Restaurant and Kitchen 
was refurbished through an investment of FJ$1 million 
from the Australian Government and USP.  In it, students 
will develop their skills to the highest quality industry 
standards and provide a ready pool of skilled workers for 
the tourism industry. 
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USP HOSTS UN AMBASSAdOR
The Graduate School of Business hosted H.E. Gyan 
Chandra Acharya, the UN Under-Secretary-General and 
High Representative for the Least Developed Countries 
(LDC), Landlocked Developing Countries and Small 
Island Developing States (SIDS) at the first “Meet the 
Leaders” Forum at the Statham campus. H.E. Acharya 
noted that while people are the greatest asset that SIDS 
possess, partnerships and international support will boost 
education to achieve high economic growth and create 
more employment opportunities.

FIjI PRIME MINISTER OPENS 79TH USP 
COUNCIL MEETING
The Prime Minister of Fiji Rear Admiral (Ret) Honourable 
Voreqe Bainimarama, and Minister for iTaukei Affairs and 
Sugar Industry opened USP’s 79th Council Meeting on 
30 October 2014. The Prime Minister extended a special 
welcome to the Ministers of  Education of  USP’s 12 
Member States and said that the Fijian Government has 
very high expectations of USP to develop governance 
structures that benefit the education of children throughout 
the Pacific and that plugs into development efforts.

79TH USP COUNCIL MEETING IN SUVA 
The 79th Council meeting was held at the Novotel Hotel 
in Lami from 30-31 October.  The meeting was chaired 
by Pro-Chancellor and Chair of Council, Mr. Ikbal Jannif, 
who welcomed members and observers.  It was officially 
opened by the Prime Minister of Fiji and Minister iTaukei 
Affairs and Sugar Industry, Rear Admiral (Ret) Hon 
Voreqe Bainimarama. The meeting received reports and 
discussed strategic issues for the University. 

AdB VISIT TO USP
Mr Robert Jauncey, the new Regional Director, Asian 
Development Bank (ADB) Pacific Subregional Office 
(PSO), visited USP, accompanied by Mr Xianbin Yao, 
Director General of ADB’s Pacific Department and Ms 
Caroline Currie, Senior Economist at the PSO. USP’s soft 
loan of US$19m from ADB’s Multi-tranche Financing 
Facility (MFF) for the ”Higher Education in the Pacific 
Investment Program” was approved two years ago, and 
activities for the Tranche 1 loan for the new USP Kiribati 
campus and Tranche 2 loan for Solomon Islands campus 
are underway.
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USP/MSG PARTNERSHIP
A MOU was signed between the USP and MSG at the 
MSG Secretariat in Port Vila, Vanuatu in February 2014. 
This is in an effort to deepen collaboration, therefore 
marking a historic milestone between the two regional 
organisations. MSG represents a large portion of USP’s 
constituency; three out of the five MSG members are USP 
member countries. Students from MSG countries actually 
accounted for 83% of USP’s enrolment in 2013.

kOREAN AMBASSAdOR VISITS USP
Korean Ambassador His Excellency Seong-In Kim visited 
USP to promote the relationship between USP and 
Korea. H.E. Kim invited USP to participate in the Korean 
Studies Grant (KSG) programme, which enables foreign 
universities to acquire the services of a Korean professor. 
This could then open up further aid to the University 
from the Korean government.

LAUNCH OF wORLd BANk REPORT 
The World Bank launched its regional report, “Hardship 
and Vulnerability in the Pacific Island Countries” for the 
first time at the Laucala campus.The Australian-supported 
report found that extreme poverty remains rare in the 
Pacific, but that over 20 percent of people in most countries 
live in hardship that is they are unable to meet all of their 
basic needs such as food, fuel and medicines.

high-leVel Consultations with 
AUSTRALIA ANd NEw ZEALANd
Tripartite consultation meetings between USP and 
Australia and New Zealand, was held at the Laucala 
campus on 5 March and 27 October 2014 respectively. 
The objectives of the meeting were to brief, discuss and 
consult with Australia and New Zealand on progress of the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan 2013-2018; current 
and emerging issues significant to the economic growth, 
security and development of the region; and progress of 
the implementation of projects funded by Australia. USP 
was commended by both key development partners for the 
progress it has made on the path to excellence.
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EMALUS CAMPUS PARTICIPATION IN 
VANUATU ICT dAy
Staff and students of Emalus campus participated in the 
Vanuatu ICT Day on May 16 and 17 at the Seafront 
Park in Port Vila. USP created a float with a design 
demonstrating how USP uses ICT to educate students all 
over the Pacific region. A satellite dish at the back of their 
parade truck was linked to the flags of all USP member 
countries. Regional students, dressed in their traditional 
costumes, walked next to the float with tablet computers.

AGREEMENTS FOR NEw kIRIBATI CAMPUS 
SIGNEd 
The Loan Agreement and a Guarantee Agreement were 
signed by USP and the Kiribati Minister of Finance & 
Economic Development, Hon Tom Murdoch on 20 May 
2014. The new campus development in Kiribati is the 
first Tranche of a Multi-Tranche Financing Facility (MFF) 
of US$19m from ADB to USP. The construction of the 
Kiribati campus stated in July 2014 and will be completed 
by August/September 2015.

PROdUCTION STAGEd AT THE LABASA 
CAMPUS 
The Labasa Diabetes Theatre Troupe (also known as the 
Chee ikum Sukalailai Troupe and based at the Labasa 
campus) performed their new production for diabetes 
patients at the Labasa Hospital on May 20. The production, 
‘Healing Faith’, written by Dr Mohit Prasad, Associate 
Professor, explores the resistance to western medicine 
and healing due to traditional beliefs, medicines and the 
recourse to faith healers.

‘moVing oCeans’ launChed by 
oCaC-ps
‘Moving Oceans’, a book on the dance histories of the 
Pacific, was co-authored by Associate Professor Ralph 
Buck and Associate Professor Nicholas Rowe, both 
of whom are senior academics at the University of 
Auckland. It was launched on 28 March by the Dean 
FALE, who stated that students need to be encouraged 
to embrace the arts. She also acknowledged Associate 
Professor Rowe for his presence and said this would 
only strengthen ties between the two universities.
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spC sCholarships For usp’s 
COMMUNITy dEVELOPMENT STUdENTS
Sixteen students were awarded scholarships for Semester 1, 
2014 by the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) to 
mark the transfer of the Community Development course 
from SPC to USP. The transfer of the course under the 
SPC and USP MOU, has shown a great deal of goodwill 
and makes clear that both institutions prioritise the 
success of students. The Certificate Level 3 Community 
Development qualification is fully accredited by Fiji 
Higher Education Commission (FHEC).

USP ALUMNI NETwORk IN NIUE
The first USP Alumni function in Niue was held on 17 
May in Paliati, Alofi and was attended by USP Council 
members, Members of  the Niue USP Advisory Committee, 
Government representatives and alumni. The launch was 
formally declared by the Niue Minister for Education Hon 
Pokotoa Sipeli and USP Vice-Chancellor and President 
Professor Rajesh Chandra. USP Alumni and Niue 
Member of Parliament Crossley Tatui spoke on behalf of 
his colleagues saying it was a momentous occasion for the 
USP Niue Alumni.

LAUNCH OF STAP IN SAMOA
Samoan Prime Minister Hon Tuilaepa Aiono Sailele 
Malielegaoi commended USP for initiating the Science 
Teachers Accelerated Programme (STAP) for science 
teachers in Samoa. Sixty Government Scholarships for 
Science teachers were awarded, which fund a Bachelor of 
Science Programme via Flexible Learning (FL) at USP. 
This addresses the shortage of science teachers in Samoa, 
and provides an opportunity for many to upgrade their 
qualifications. STAP programme has a two-year delivery 
plan, and the first cohort is expected to graduate in 
September 2016.

usp’s LLB PROGRAMME RECOGNISEd By 
AUSTRALIA
USP’s Bachelor of Laws (LLB) degree programme has 
achieved international recognition by the Law Admissions 
Consultative Committee (LACC) of the Law Council 
of Australia. LACC is a coordinating body, including 
representatives of each of the Australian State and 
Territory Admitting Authorities, which is charged with 
forging consensus about Australian academic requirements 
for overseas-qualified graduates seeking professional 
admission. 
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SUSTAINABLE SEA TRANSPORT TALANOA
The 2nd Talanoa session on Sustainable Sea Transport 
and the International Conference on Renewable Energy 
and Climate Change (ICRECC) was held  at the Laucala 
campus in June  with an address from the Tokelau 
Transport and Energy Minister Hon. Faipule Foua Toloa. 
He said the impact of climate change is a fact of life in 
Tokelau, and that sea transport is the only means of travel 
for Tokelau, which has made numerous attempts to resolve 
issues so that affordable and reliable transport is available 
for its communities.

tonga Campus ConneCted to high-
SPEEd INTERNET
Tonga’s Prime Minister Lord Siale‘ataongo Tu‘ivakanō was 
Chief Guest at the official ceremony to commemorate the 
launch of USP’s fibre-optic link via the new Tonga Cable on 
15 July. AARNET, Tonga Cable Limited (TCL) and Tonga 
Communications Corporation (TCC) were key partners 
and facilitated the link between the Tonga and Laucala 
campuses.  USP Tonga campus is the first non-commercial 
organisation to connect to the Tonga fibre optic cable. This 
is a milestone for USP.

dean’s presentation to un high leVel 
POLITICAL FORUM
There should be greater emphasis on capacity development 
for the sustainable development of Pacific Small Island 
Developing States (SIDS), according to Dr Jokhan, Dean 
FSTE who made the comment during her presentation 
at the UN High Level Political Forum at the UN 
Headquarters in New York on July 2. UN HLPF was held 
to assist in formulating recommendations to the Third 
International Conference on Small Island States from 
September 1-4 in Samoa.

USP STANdS OUT AT COMMONwEALTH 
UNIVERSITIES AwARdS 
USP won an award in the Annual Reports category during 
the 2013 Association of Commonwealth Universities 
(ACU) PR, Marketing and Communications Awards 
competition. USP’s monthly newsletter, USP Beat, also 
received an Honourable Mention in the Newsletters 
and Magazines category. USP’s Director Development, 
Marketing, Communications and Alumni, Mr Jaindra 
Karan received the award at the University of Glasgow on 
July 15.



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 35

USP STUdENT FORUM wITH THE VC
Students of USP's Laucala campus had the 
opportunity to air their opinions and discuss some 
of their concerns with management during the Vice-
Chancellor’s Student Forum on 14 August. The 
Forum was a very positive event and an opportunity 
where attendees raised their queries and concerns 
directly with the Vice-Chancellor and President.   

LAUCALA STAFF FORUM wITH VC
The Vice-Chancellor and President Professor Rajesh 
Chandra briefed staff on key areas of the University’s 
work and heard their concerns and feedback during the 
Vice-Chancellor’s Staff Forum at the Laucala campus on 
14 August. Staff raised issues such as Staff Review, the 
appointment of Heads of Schools, and the duration of 
contracts. Professor Chandra addressed those concerns and 
highlighted the importance of understanding academic 
freedom. He encouraged staff to read and abide by the 
Professional Code of Conduct, and also called for all staff 
to appreciate the importance of producing graduates with 
outstanding English language skills.  

	  

PACIFIC yOUTH VISIT jAPAN 
The Kizuna and JENESYS 2.0 projects funded 
(F$11m) by Government of Japan  provided exciting 
and memorable experiences for the 687 students 
who had the opportunity to visit Japan. The project 
strengthened the links between USP, Pacific Island 
youth, and the government and people, particularly 
the young people of Japan. Participants in the 
projects became members of the Japan Pacific Alumni 
Association, which promotes Japan at USP and in the 
Pacific.

LAUNCH OF NEw ENERGy PROjECT
The Life Long Learning for Energy Security, Access and 
Efficiency in the African and Pacific SIDS (LEAP) project 
was launched on 28 January. The project, coordinated by 
Hamburg University of Applied Sciences in partnership 
with USP, University of Mauritius and Papua New Guinea 
University of Technology, has been funded following the 
conclusion of the highly-acclaimed Project DIREKT, 
which concluded its activities in early November 2012. 
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wORLd BANk FUNdING FOR REGIONAL 
ICT PROjECT
The World Bank is funding the Pacific Regional ICT 
Regulatory Development project, which is being managed 
by USP. The Financing Agreement provides USP US$ 
4.5million for the project over the next 5 years. The 
project involves USP managing the project in response 
to a request from the Pacific Region’s policymakers, 
regulators, and telecommunication industry to facilitate 
the transfer of knowledge and technical capacity to and 
amongst the region’s emerging regulators, and to foster 
collaboration among these institutions.

MEMORANdUM OF COOPERATION wITH 
PIURN
A Memorandum of Cooperation (MOC) was signed in 
Apia, Samoa for the Pacific Islands Universities Research 
Network (PIURN) on 29 August. Pacific Universities will 
work together through the network while maintaining their 
unique identity, independence and intellectual property. 
PIURN members have agreed to collaborate in three areas 
affecting the region most, namely Environment & Climate 
Change; Biology & Medicine; and Food and Agriculture.

HIGH PROFILE AT SIdS 2014  FOR USP 
USP came out of the Third International Conference on 
Small Island Developing States (SIDS) in Apia, Samoa with 
a high profile and credibility as a reliable and value adding 
partner. USP hosted Side Events on ‘ICT for Sustainable 
Development’ and ‘Culture and Development’, including 
a Parallel Event on ‘Agricultural Research for Sustainable 
Development and Intensification in Small Island 
Countries’. It was clear that USP would continue to play 
a lead role in leveraging ICTs for sustainable development 
and in supporting capacity building across the SIDS.

mou to up-skill teaChers in rmi 
A MOU between USP and the College of the Marshall 
Islands (CMI) was signed at the Marshall Islands campus 
on 9 September by the Marshall Islands Minister of 
Education, Hon. Dr. Hilda J. Heine and President of 
the CMI, Mr. Carl Hacker. This MOU is the first formal 
agreement for the joint delivery of a programme between 
the College and USP.  It provides the framework for the 
joint delivery of USP’s Bachelor of Education (Primary).
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CLEANUP CAMPAIGN By LAUTOkA CAMPUS
As part of the Lautoka campus Corporate Social Responsibility 
activities, staff and students cleaned the marine drive foreshore 
on 27 September. Cleanup followed their early morning six 
kilometer walk with the campus Director Dr. Pramila Devi. 
The walk, with over 130 registered participants, was part of 
the campus Health and Wellness Programme. A Blood Drive 
was also organised by the campus which attracted a large 
turnout. A total of 53 pints of blood was collected, which 
can potentially save up to 159 lives.  

SUCCESSFUL MEETING wITH PACIFIC 
ISLANd dIPLOMATS
USP held a successful briefing for Fiji-based Pacific Island 
Countries Diplomats at its Laucala campus on 8 October 
2014. The objective of the briefing was to inform the 
diplomats on USP’s role in providing quality tertiary 
education and to further engage with member countries 
on major development issues relevant to the region. The 
diplomats acknowledged the University for the initiative 
to update the diplomats. The briefing will be held bi-
annually.

	  

australia’s support For Climate 
CHANGE PROjECTS CELEBRATEd
The AU$2.9 million Future Climate Leaders Project, 
funded by the Australia which ended in March, 
empowered Pacific Island people and increased regional 
capacity to manage Climate Change.The project funded 
40 scholarships for students for Post Graduate Diploma 
and Masters in Climate Change programmes; developed 
Postgraduate Diploma in Climate Change programme in 
2010, which produced 74 graduates by the end of 2014.

INTERNATIONAL RECOGNITION FOR CFL
The Centre for Flexible Learning (CFL)  gained 
international recognition on 19 February from the 
International Board of Standards for Training, Performance 
(IBSTPI) and Instruction. For students, this means that 
their learning experiences and materials are of the highest 
quality. The major criteria that had to be met by the centre 
included professional foundations; planning and analysiss; 
design and development; evaluation and implementation 
and management. 
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NAURU yOUTH ENROLLEd IN POST 
sChool bridging programme (psbp) 
A student orientation for USP’s Post School Bridging 
Programme (PSBP) was held at the Nauru campus on 
15 August. PSBP which is fully funded by Australia,  is 
the first step of USP’s bridging programme, designed to 
offer mature students some preparation for the intellectual 
challenges of a university education. Successful completion 
of PSBP will be recognised as a basis for admission to the 
University.

FHEC ENSURES QUALITy EdUCATION
The Fiji Higher Education Commission’s Committee for 
the Accreditation of University Qualifications (CAUQ) 
held a two-day training workshop for Programme 
Evaluators from the three universities in Fiji at the Laucala 
campus on 16 and 18 September. Independent Chair of 
CAUQ John Harre noted that “this process will facilitate 
the movement of students between the three universities as 
well as recognition of their courses via cross credits.”

MAjOR BOOk LAUNCHEd IN COOk 
ISLANdS
A major book celebrating the life and work of USP 
Emeritus Professor Late Ron Crocombe was launched by 
his son Kevin Crocombe at the Cook Islands campus on 13 
February. The book comprises 40 chapters (651-pages), 
many of which first appeared as papers to the Festschrift 
Conference for Ron Crocombe, held at USP Cook Islands 
from 12-13 August 2010. A two metre- high portrait of 
Dr Marjorie Crocombe, OBE was also unveiled at the 
launch by her daughter, Ms Narida Hinano Crocombe.

wORk ON NEw USP kIRIBATI CAMPUS 
kICkS OFF
Work on the new USP Kiribati Campus has begun following 
the ground-breaking ceremony in July 2014 which was 
officiated by the President His Excellency Anote Tong. 
The event was a milestone underscoring Kiribati-ADB-
USP commitment and partnership to facilitating increased 
accessibility to higher education for Kiribati students. 
The event is a demonstration of USP’s successful regional 
cooperation and as a respected tertiary education provider 
in the region.
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USP PROGRESS COMMENdEd By H.E. SIR 
ITALELI
USP Chancellor and Governor-General of Tuvalu, H.E. Sir 
Iakoba Taeia Italeli congratulated the Vice-Chancellor and 
President Professor Rajesh Chandra for his commitment 
and dedication in successfully managing the institution.

Sir Italeli said the University has improved significantly 
since his days as a student at USP in terms of infrastructure 
development, particularly the student residences and the 
Japan-Pacific ICT Multipurpose Theatre.

PACFOLd LAUNCHEd By SAMOAN 
MINISTER
Samoan Minister of Education, Hon Magele Mauiliu 
Tafunai Magele officially launched the Pacific Centre 
for Flexible and Open Learning for Development 
(PACFOLD) on 22 September in Apia. PACFOLD is 
hosted by USP at its Laucala campus. The University has 
provided PACFOLD with first Director and office space 
while Commonwealth of Learning (COL) will provide 
funds for its activities, and COL Focal Points will provide 
overall governance of the new Centre.

NEw USP CENTRE IN VANUATU 
A new USP Centre (4th)  opened in the northern part 
of Vanuatu on 16 October. It includes an  office for 
the Coordinator, a small computer lab, a classroom and 
toilet facilities, and is located in Sola, the administrative 
headquarters of the Torba province. The Torba province 
not only witnessed the opening of a new USP Centre but 
also that of a TVET Centre. The two centres will provide 
many opportunities for people to access high-quality 
further and higher education.

epeli hau’oFa memorial danCe 
PERFORMANCE
The first Epeli Hau’ofa Memorial Dance Festival, hosted 
by the Oceania Centre for Arts, Culture, and Pacific 
Studies, was held on March 24-29 at the Japan–Pacific 
ICT Theatre. It featured guest dancers from six countries, 
including Japan, Germany, Taiwan, New Zealand, USA, 
and New Caledonia.  They were accompanied by the three 
USP Student Cultural Groups, representing Melanesia.
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FOURTH SPSE AwARd FOR USP
USP won the South Pacific Stock Exchange (SPSE) 
Annual Report Competition for the fourth year in a 
row in the ‘Co-operatives, Non-Profit and Charitable 
Organisations’ category on 27 November 2014. USP’s 
Director Development, Marketing, Communications 
and Alumni Jaindra Karan received the award on 
behalf of the University.

140 GRAdUATE AT EMALUS
One hundred and forty students were awarded certificates 
and degrees from USP Emalus campus on 5 December 
by H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli, Chancellor of USP 
and Governor General of Tuvalu. Seventy-four percent 
graduates were from Vanuatu while the remaining were 
from Belize, Cook Islands, Solomon Islands, Fiji, Federated 
States of Micronesia, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Niue and 
Tonga, indicating the regional nature of Emalus campus. 
The graduate from Belize indicates that the campus can 
also attract international students.

ENERGy SECURITy ANd CLIMATE CHANGE 
PROjECT
Supported by the European Union, the Pacific Technical 
and Vocational Education and Training on Sustainable 
Energy and Climate Change Adaptation (PACTVET) 
project aims to enhance PACPs’ regional and national 
capacity and technical expertise to respond to climate 
change adaptation (CCA) and sustainable energy (SE) 
challenges. EUR 6.1 million (F$11.9m) project is being 
implemented over 53 months by the Secretariat of the 
Pacific Community (SPC), in partnership with USP. The 
project will be implemented in 15 Pacific ACP countries 
in the region.

USP PARTICIPATION IN EUROPE dAy 
USP took part in the Europe Day celebrations held at the 
Fiji Museum.  USP had a display booth which exhibited 
the spectrum of cooperation between the European Union 
(EU) and the University. EU has funded many initiatives 
at USP, including the 8 million EU-GCCA project to 
address Climate Change Impacts and the Pacific Europe 
Network for Science, Technology and Innovation (PACE-
Net Plus), LifeLong Learning for Energy security, access 
and efficiency in African and Pacific SIDS (L³EAP) and 
European Consortium for Pacific Studies (ECOPAS) 
for EC FP7 Project: Climate Change uncertainties: 
policymaking for the Pacific front.
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UNIVERSITy GRANTS COMMITTEE 
Vice-Chancellor and President Professor Rajesh Chandra 
welcomed the members of the UGC at the Laucala campus 
on 3 November. UGC met to assess the progress of the 
University since its last meeting. It discussed the kind of 
operating environment we should expect to see in the next 
triennium which is 2016-2018 and the strategies that the 
University needs to deploy in the changing circumstances 
of tertiary education. UGC plays a key role in assuring all 
the stakeholders that the work of the University is carefully 
assessed and monitored, and that its resources are used 
wisely and according to Council-approved plans. 

usp partners with japan’s mie 
UNIVERSITy
USP signed a MOU with Japan’s Mie University (MU) 
in May 2014 which will ensure the development of a 
sustainable model for the two Universities to work in 
partnership. The areas of cooperation will include the 
exchange of staff members, students and publications, 
joint research and lectures and symposia, among others. 
A Letter of Agreement (LOA) was also signed that will 
provide opportunities for students at both Universities to 
be involved in student exchange.

AAPS AwARd dINNER
A total of 30 USP regional students sponsored by the 
Australian Government attended an end-of-semester 
Award dinner in June 2014. First Secretary of the Australia 
Aid programme James O’Brien congratulated the students 
for their achievements saying it was a journey that they 
had made with the help of professionals, friends and family. 
Australian scholarships continue to be an important part 
of Australia’s development cooperation programmes. In 
consultation with partners, Australia provides scholarships 
that help to fill skill gaps that exist in developing countries.

STUdENT PERFORMANCE OF “kARMEN”
The first performance of the stage musical “Karmen” by 
Igelese Ete and Larry Thomas was staged at USP’s Japan-
Pacific ICT Centre. The production, based on the French 
opera Carmen by Georges Bizet and was first premiered 
at the Opera Comique in Paris in March 1875, is set in 
Fiji. Mr Ete’s version features a rewording of some of the 
areas to be more relevant and appropriate to the local Fiji 
context.
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LEARNING 
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TEACHING 
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Progress in the area of Learning and Teaching can 
be measured in terms of the number of graduates 
produced and by considering the number of 
programmes which are externally accredited and 
assessing how well those programmes meet the needs 
of the job market, member countries, and students, 
in terms of being up-to-date, regionally-relevant, 
and accessible via a variety of modes. The University 
considers the need to provide higher quality education 
as its core mission, and acknowledges that innovative 
teaching and increased flexibility and accessibility will 
make it an excellent provider of that education.   

External Accreditation 
Accreditation is an extremely important external 
validation of USP’s quality and relevance and so USP 
aims to add to the number of validations it receives 
each year.

The Association of MBAs (AMBA) accredited the USP 
MBA programme for a period of three years from the 
end of 2013. Two professional degrees in Computing 
Science were granted provisional accreditation from 
the Australian Computer Society (ACS) in 2013, 
and the Centre for Continuing and Vocational 
Education (CVCE) now known as Pacific Technical 
and Further Education (Pacific TAFE), entered into 
an arrangement to secure full recognition of three 
of its vocational programmes under the Australian 
Qualifications Framework (AQF) in the same year.

The University received a very encouraging response 
to its initial application for accreditation from the 
WASC Senior College and University Commission 
(WSCUC).  WASC carried out a diagnostic visit to 
USP in October as part of the accreditation process, 
for which USP received very positive and encouraging 
feedback.

The University’s Bachelor of Law degree was given 
equivalent status to Australian Law programmes by the 
Law Admissions Consultative Committee (LACC) of 
the Law Council of Australia. LACC is a coordinating 
body, comprises representatives of each Australian 
State and Territory Admitting Authority, charged 
with forging consensus about Australian academic 
requirements for overseas-qualified graduates seeking 
professional admission.  

The University’s Bachelor of Commerce programmes 
were also re-accredited in Australia.

Relevance of Programmes 
As the region’s premier education provider, USP 
has a mandate to provide education that responds to 
the needs of the region.  USP is particularly keen to 
ensure that its academic offerings meet the priorities 
and identified needs of its 12 member countries.

In response to the needs of Samoa, the Science 
Teachers Accelerated Programme (STAP) was 
launched. A total of 60 science teachers were awarded 
funding from the Government of Samoa for a 
Bachelor of Science Programme at USP. The STAP 
Programme has a 2 year delivery plan, and so its first 
cohort is expected to graduate in September 2016. 
Hon. Prime Minister of Samoa, Tuilaepa Aiono Sailele 
Malielegaoi acknowledged USP for “making a reality 
out of a request from the Minister for Education.”  This 
enrichment programme delivered in DFL mode, has 
been particularly well received.

A Geospatial Sciences Programme was developed by 
the Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment 
(FSTE) in 2014, and will be offered in 2015 for the 
first time.  This programme addresses a gap in regional 
education offerings.  

USP’s TAFE courses grew in number and quality 
in 2014, based on encouragement from employers 
who value USP graduates, who they can be sure 
possess good English language ability, verified skills, 
and a depth of knowledge.  The year 2015 will see 
8 new courses introduced in Accounting (2), Office 
Management, Commercial Cookery, Hospitality 
Services, ICT, Professional Training, and Early 
Childhood Education and Care. 

Flexible Delivery of Courses 
Large-scale course and full programme conversions 
to online mode are underway across the University. 
FSTE’s whole Chemistry Major is planned for online 
delivery from Semester 2, 2015, with seven courses 
completed by December 2014, and the remainder 
set to be ready by mid-2015. Physics completed the 
conversion of seven courses and audited them in 2014, 
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ready for delivery in Semester 1, 2015. The final three 
physics courses are still under development. Across 
FSTE in 2014, all 100-level courses were in some 
stage of development for online delivery.

FALE’s Postgraduate Certificate in Tertiary Teaching 
programme was completely converted.  It has been 
available in online mode since Semester 2, 2014.  
The Postgraduate Certificate in Gender Studies was 
also converted. Work carried out to convert the BEd 
Secondary online programme should be completed in 
early 2015.  As at the end of 2014, FALE offered 
11 Undergraduate programmes in flexible learning 
mode. The BA Fijian Language and BA History 
remain under development with the Centre for 
Flexible Learning (CFL).

In FBE, the School of Accounting and Finance 
developed four courses for online (O) and print (P) 
modes during 2014. The School of Economics began 
work to convert all of its undergraduate courses 
to online mode, and used the Moodle platform 
extensively. The School of Management and Public 
Administration developed five new courses for print 
and blended modes for intended delivery in Semester 
2, 2015. The School of Tourism and Hospitality 
Management completed the online development of 
TS107 and began work on five more courses, while 
the School of Land Management and Development 

completed the conversion of two courses and has 
three more in progress.

eMentoring services
eMentoring services are now available in Laucala, 
Labasa, Lautoka, Alafua and Emalus campuses. This 
is an ideal tool for one-to-one consultation from a 
distance. The University is also looking into the 
possibility of students securing the online services 
outside of the campuses.

CFL also contributed to the USP Orientation 
programme by running basic online learning tips on 
how to use Moodle for their learning journey at USP.

Graduation Ceremonies 
A number of graduation ceremonies were held in 
the region during 2014. These occasions recognised 
student achievements and were a chance for the 
University management to engage with a wide range 
of stakeholders, including member governments, staff, 
and continuing students at the regional campuses.  

Laucala Campus Graduation 

The University’s main graduation ceremony, held 
at the Vodafone Arena, saw 1285 students graduate 
on 11 April 2014. These students, who received 
certificates, diplomas and degrees, represented 24 
different nationalities, testifying not only the regional 
but international character of the University. His 
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Majesty, King Tupou VI of Tonga conferred the 
degrees and awarded the diplomas and certificates in 
his capacity as Chancellor. 

The second Graduation Ceremony was held on 5 
September 2014. A total of  840 students representing 
15 different nationalities received certificates, 
diplomas and degrees from USP Chancellor and 
Governor-General of Tuvalu, H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia 
Italeli.

At the September Laucala graduation, H.E. the 
Governor of Tuvalu, Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli was 
installed as USP’s 21st Chancellor.  The appointment 
reinforces the special role that USP plays in the region 
and its active engagement with all member countries.  
The Chancellor, a USP alumnus, was accorded a 
special welcome, and his admirable background as 
Tuvalu’s Attorney General, before becoming Tuvalu’s 
Governor General, was shared with the audience.

Solomon Islands Campus Graduation 

The Solomon Islands campus held its 2014 
graduation ceremony on 12 September 2014. A 
total of one hundred and fifty four (154) students 
received certificates, diplomas and degrees from 
USP Chancellor and Governor General of Tuvalu 
H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli. The ceremony was also 
attended by Lady Koling Italeli of Tuvalu; USP Pro 
Chancellor and Chair of Council; the Vice-Chancellor 
and President; members of Government and the 
Diplomatic Corps; University staff and students, and 
the families and friends of the graduates.  

Tonga Campus Graduation 

Fifty-three (53) students graduated from USP’s 
Tonga campus on 20 September 2014. Of these 
58% were females; 12 students received postgraduate 
qualifications with 5 receiving Masters (3 Master of 
Business Administration, 1 Master of Education and 
1 Master of Commerce). The event was attended 
by USP Vice-Chancellor and President and  Pro-
Chancellor and Chair of Council.

Niue Campus Graduation

The Niue campus held a graduation ceremony for 
its students on 18 October 2014. A total of four 
(4) students graduated in Foundation; Master of 
Education; and Bachelor of Commerce programme. 
Those present at the ceremony were H.E. Sir 
Iakoba Taeia Italeli, USP Chancellor  and Governor 
General of Tuvalu, Lady Koling Italeli, Hon. Toke 
Talagi, Premier of Niue, Pro-Chancellor and Chair 
of Council, Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research 
and International), Senior Government Officials, 
representatives of the Private Sector and NGOs, 
USP Alumni, staff and students, graduands and their 
families and friends 

Emalus Campus

One hundred and forty students (140) graduated from 
USP Emalus campus on 5 December 2014. Seventy 
four percent of the graduates were from Vanuatu 
while the remaining were from Belize, Cook Islands, 
Solomon Islands, Fiji, Federated States of Micronesia, 
Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Niue and Tonga indicating 
the regional nature of Emalus campus. Thirty three 
students graduated with Postgraduate Certificates 
and Postgraduate Diplomas and nine graduated with 
Master’s degree. H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli, USP 
Chancellor and Governor General of Tuvalu awarded 
certificates and degrees to graduates.

Alafua Campus Graduation

A total of seventy eight (78) students graduated from 
USP’s Alafua campus  in Samoa on 12 December  
2014. Of the 78 students who received their 
certificates, diplomas and degrees, 62% were women, 
“an indication of growing gender equality in the 
Pacific”. Fourty four (44%) of all those who graduated 
received Postgraduate qualifications, including nine 
with Masters degrees. The awards were conferred by 
H.E. Sir Iakoba Taeia Italeli, USP Chancellor  and 
Governor General of  Tuvalu. Students from seven 
countries, including two countries that are not 
members of USP also graduated.
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Other Graduation Ceremonies

Pacific TAFE Graduation 

USP’s Pacific TAFE provides vocational and 
professional programmes and short courses. Two-
hundred sixty one students (261) graduated from 
Pacific TAFE at the Laucala campus on 8 September, 
70% were female. It is encouraging that such large 
numbers make use of this pathway to gain life skills 
and improve their prospects. USP’s Vice-President 
Regional Campuses and Properties & Facilities 
Dr Giulio Masasso Paunga awarded certificates to 
students.

CFS Graduation 

A total of two-hundred and sixteen (216) students, 
from Fiji,  Marshall Islands, Niue, Solomon Islands, 
Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu were awarded 
Certificates in Foundation Studies at the FMF 
Gymnasium on 7 February 2014. The Certificates 
were conferred by the Deputy Vice-Chancellor, 
Research and International Professor John Bythell. 

Confucius Institute Graduation 

A total of one-hundred and sixty (160) students 
graduated from USP’s Confucius Institute at the 
Laucala campus on 19 June 2014. This was the fifth 
graduation ceremony for the Confucius Institute, 
established at USP in 2012.  The graduates included 
100 students from the Social classes at Laucala, 20 
from the Staff classes at Laucala, 30 from the Social 
classes at Lautoka, and 10 from the Staff classes at 
Lautoka. USP Confucius Institute Local Director 
Joan Yee presented certificates to the students.

Vice-Chancellor’s Learning and 
Teaching Forum 
The annual Vice-Chancellor’s Learning & Teaching 
(L&T) Forum was held at Laucala campus on 10 
September 2014. The keynote address was delivered 
by Professor Vijay Kumar, Senior Strategic Advisor, 
Digital Learning & Director, Office of Educational 
Innovation and Technology at the Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology (MIT). He spoke on the 

topic of ‘Opening up New Insights for Educational 
Innovation & Opportunity’. 

Dr. Margaret Mishra, a Senior Lecturer in the School 
of Government, Development and International 
Affairs, and Dr. Shaneel Chandra, a lecturer in 
Chemical Sciences, were announced joint recipients 
of the 2014 Vice-Chancellor's Prize for Excellence in 
Teaching.

major Focus in 2015
There are five key areas for development within 
the area of Learning and Teaching, gleaned from a 
cross-case analysis of the Strategic Total Academic 
Review (STAR), Academic Quality Audit (AQA) and 
WSCUC accreditation process. The Faculties will 
work together on these activities to improve teaching 
standards and learning outcomes during the course of 
2015, and to put in place long-term strategies to raise 
attainment leading up to 2018.

DVC LT&SS plans to revise the Learning & Teaching 
Plan, the Learning & Teaching Policy and chair a 
team to review the implementation of a variety of 
related projects, including Recognition of Priority 
Learning (RPL), credit points, and e-learning. DVC 
will also review the Terms of Reference (TOR) for 
Academic Standards and Quality Committee (ASQC) 
and prepare the TOR for a new Teaching Quality 
Committee (TQC), which will be responsible for 
the enhancement of learning and teaching, including 
assessment, graduate attributes/profiles, etc. It will 
also monitor the Quality of Teaching (QoT) measures 
at the Faculty/School level.  

Academic Programmes Committee (APC) will sign 
off on all programmes to be offered in the following 
year (programme prescriptions) before the production 
of the Calendar and Handbook, and will approve any 
new programmes before they are submitted to the Fiji 
Higher Education Commission and its Committee 
for the Accreditation of University Qualifications 
(CAUQ).  

The University will appoint an expert in assessment 
early in 2015, and this position will contribute to 
the professional development of staff and help to 
create more robust assessment practices across the 
University.
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The recommendations, including the reintroduction 
of the English Language Skills Assessment (ELSA), 
will be fully implemented in 2015. The  introduction 
of an online version of ELSA will occur in 2015. 
English Learning Proficiency Centre will interact 
with, and may host, other devolved staff, such as 
the Student Learning Support (SLS)  officers in the 
Faculties.

A Retention Study has been commissioned for 2015.  
High failure rates amongst first year students must 
be considered as a key challenge to retention, and 
indicate that the University needs to focus more on 
the First Year Experience (FYE). USP has produced 
a draft FYE Framework, and each Faculty has a FYE 
Action Plan for implementation from 2015. The 
Orientation Week will also be internally reviewed, 
with the aim of improving it so that it forms a better 
preparation for the first year of university life. 

APC will be responsible for the review of programmes 
at regional centres, as well as for the approval of 
any course and programme offerings. Teaching 
and Learning quality (including resources) will be 
monitored by the TQC. 

The University has decided to follow the normal 
internal processes for new programmes (including 
consideration by the Board of Studies (BoS) and the 
Senate), and incorporate the CAUQ process internally.  
This will be done for all programmes, whether they 
are Fiji-based or not.  New Fiji programmes will also 
be submitted to the CAUQ, which includes external 
evaluation as part of its processes.

AQA has recommended that the University explore 
the provision of RPL. A draft RPL Policy has therefore 
been developed and will be submitted to Senate in 
2015.

The University Library also needs a major boost if the 
University is move from good to excellent; it requires 
a shift to a more digital space and must take on the 
look of a Learning Hub, and so options for these 
improvements will be considered in 2015.
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USP prides itself on its completion rates and most 
of the students who enrol at USP successfully 
complete their programmes of study. The highly 
acclaimed student services at USP contribute to 
these completion rates and the high level of student 
satisfaction.  Keenly aware that its students have much 
to learn from each other and outside the classroom, 
USP regards the student experience as one rich in 
opportunities for all. All USP students should have 
the same access to opportunities and services that will 
enrich their educational experience, and contribute to 
their academic achievement and personal well-being.     

In 2014, the University probably had more students 
with disabilities enroled than ever before in its history. 
USP is now a welcoming environment for people with 
disabilities.  

USP has increased number of mature students and 
non-traditional learners than ever before. The choices 
that are offered in terms of modes of study and 
location make it much easier for people to return 
to studies after a break of even several years. USP 
students in 2014 were also given more opportunities 
to learn about their own physical and mental health 
and could access more services and facilities to 
maintain or improve it than any group of students at 
the University to date.    

From the moment a prospective applicant makes 
contact with USP, the University cares. The 
University tries to turn initial enquiries into 
enrolment, and supports enrolled students to reach 
their educational goals and graduate. Membership of 
the USP community extends past graduation, for our 
alumni activities make the USP community relevant 
to all. Studying at USP comes with membership of its 
community for life. Students feel supported as they 
work towards their degrees and are aware that, should 
they encounter any problems or challenges, there are 
resources and staff in place to help resolve those issues 
which might threaten academic achievement and 
personal well-being.  

During the course of 2014, major improvements were 
made at USP in terms of disability services, campus 
life at the Regional campuses, health, security, and 
the First Year Experience (FYE). In terms of disability 
access and equity, the University must become more 

sophisticated in its approach, as lessons have been 
learnt from the initial phases of becoming an inclusive 
university. The University listens to its students and 
staff, and will enhance Campus Life to meet the needs 
of both groups. 

Increased Access to Disability 
Services

By 2014, the University had made physical 
improvements at some of its campuses to increase their 
accessibility. The Disability Resource Centre  (DRC) 
therefore implemented Phase 2 of its plan to address 
other disability and learning difficulties. Assistive 
technologies were acquired, and a Disability Resource 
Centre Student Space featuring six computers and 
twenty tablets, was created. All six of those computers 
were uploaded with JAWS Professional screen-reader 
software to assist blind and low vision students. 
There is also a Braille Sense U2 keyboard at the DRC 
Student Space, and three wheelchairs on stand-by.  
Late in the year a Braille Sense U2 Qwerty Notetaker 
with dictionary and Embosser was also available at the 
Centre.

The many strategies DRC has are used to increase 
access and inclusiveness which include the audio-
recording of assigned reading and the engagement of 
Sign Language interpreters. DRC worked diligently 
to raise awareness of disability and advocate for 
increased access at USP through various initiatives 
such as the production of a DRC promotional video, 
a DRC Handbook, and an e-Newsletter known as 
‘Be Inclusive’. As Facebook is the social medium of 
choice for most students, DRC Facebook page is used 
to quickly disseminate important information and 
updates. 

DRC has also forged important Strategic Partnerships 
and has been very active in its participation at 
various fora on disability. Perhaps its most notable 
achievement in this area has seen USP sign an MOU 
with the Pacific Disability Forum (PDF). This enables 
USP to consult the PDF’s Country Focal Points to 
provide specialist services to students with disabilities 
at the regional campuses. DRC is also pleased to 
highlight the fact that four students who accessed 
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their services successfully completed their studies in 
the areas of Education and Information Technology 
in 2014.

Campus Life at the Regional 
Campuses
The regionalisation of Campus Life in 2014 was 
an acknowledgement of the growing importance 
of the regional campuses, as well as the fact that 
students at Laucala   traditionally had access to more 
support, recreational opportunities, and leisure 
facilities. While this was justified due to Laucala’s 
comparatively large size, USP has decided that this 
situation was inequitable. The Regional Campuses 
should feature comparable facilities, services, and 
leisure options, thereby making them just as attractive 
a study destination that can produce equally satisfied 
graduates. The regionalisation initiative featured 
various activities and workshops facilitated by the 
Disability Resource Centre, Careers Centre and 
Counseling Centre.

Regionalisation of Disability Resource Centre 
(DRC) Support Services

Staff from DRC conducted their Disability Awareness 
and Advocacy Roadshows at the Tonga, Kiribati, 
Cook Islands, Emalus, Alafua and Solomon Islands 
campuses. DRC team also held consultations with 
government Disability Focal Points, Department of 
Foreign Affairs & Trade representatives, and other 
community stakeholders in the area of disability.

Regionalisation of Career Services

The Careers Centre aimed to replicate key 
Employability Workshops and create entrepreneurial 
awareness amongst students at the regional campuses, 
thereby developing their employability skills and 
making them more likely to be entrepreneurial. The 
Careers   Development, Small Business Incubator and 
Job Seeking Skills Workshops have been held at the 
Emalus and Alafua campuses, in addition to Laucala 
campus

The  Careers Centre also launched the Career 
Hub Portal, organised the USP Career and 
Entrepreneurship Fair, and held Lunch Hour Career 

Talk Programme, Westpac Graduate Management 
Programme and the British American Tobacco 
Graduate Recruitment Programme.

 Regionalisation of the Counselling Centre

The Counselling Centre’s outreach initiative included 
a number of awareness-raising workshops as well 
as counselling sessions to the major campuses. The 
Counselling Centre also promoted and facilitated 
Reproductive Health workshops for all students 
at Laucala and will continue to introduce new 
programmes. 

Health and Wellness Centre 
(HWC) 
The Health and Wellness Centre at Laucala provided 
general outpatient care (consultation and treatment) 
for all insured students during 2014. Complementary 
activities were designed to promote well-being and 
encourage the USP Community to assist those in 
need.

These included free private consultation and basic 
examination in partnership with Government agencies 
and NGOs for the early detection of cancer and free 
clinics on Reproductive Health/Family Planning and 
Advice and specific tests (pap smear) for detection 
of cervical cancer and demonstration on physical 
examination for early detection of breast cancer, as 
well as monthly blood drives, for which USP is now 
well-known. 

USP Health Week was held at Laucala and other 
campuses and boasted a wide range of health 
related activities. These activities included cooking 
demonstrations, torso dance fitness classes, swimming 
classes, tennis lessons, recipe competitions, and Vice 
Chancellor’s Walk along the foreshore. Oral health 
consultations, mental health, food and nutrition 
dietary advice and demonstrations on the effects of 
smoking were also highlighted.

As part of improving health awareness across all the 
campuses to our students and staff, Campus Life office 
established a USP Health and Wellness Facebook 
page. The site will assist in the promotion to all USP 
students and staff, a range of health and wellness 
issues relevant to the Pacific, including prevention of 
NCDs, healthy eating, benefits of regular exercise, 
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mental health, exercise through dance and promotion 
of Pacific Island governments' health programmes, 
and advice where applicable.

Campus Security
The Laucala campus Security received its Security 
Master License Certification in March 2014, under 
the Security Industry Decree. This license is necessary 
for compliance.

A consultancy firm based in Australia was 
commissioned to develop a USP Security Plan 
following a tender process. A Security Plan was 
endorsed by Senior Management Team (SMT) in late 
2014, with implementation planned in 2015.

First Year Experience (FYE)
FYE Coordinator worked closely with the First Year 
Experience Officers in each of the Faculties to produce 
a FYE Framework and an Action Plan for each Faculty. 
The plans will include workshops on Life Skills 
(such as budgeting and health) and Academic Skills 
(including information on peer mentoring, seeking 
academic advice, and completing Faculty Induction). 

These FYE experts will work with staff organising 
Orientation 2015 to ensure that it provides all 
required support and information that will better 
prepare new students for life on campus. 

USP Library
With more than a million print volumes, several 
thousands of e-book titles, and 40,000 full-text serial 
titles with 24/7 access, USP Library has continued 
to be the premier academic library and leader in 
information provision and services in the region.  

The Library’s learning resources were enhanced 
during the year by access to Cambridge Journals 
Online, Oxford Journals, SAGE journals and to Web 
of Science backfiles to 1900. Library resources at the 
regional campus libraries were also improved through 
special funds.   

Usage statistics for the Library’s online databases 
showed an increase of 19.41% over the previous year 
(219,851 in 2013 and 262,514 in 2014). The Library 
introduced the monthly “libguide” of new Pacific 
books which is emailed to all USP staff and students.  
There were 545,258 individual visits to the Library 
compared to 496,153 in 2013.  

The Fiji Law Reports digitisation project was 
completed in June 2014.  The reports were digitised, 
checked and sent to Pacific Islands Legal Information 
Institute (PacLII) as part of the special project. A 
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total of 1320 judgments, covering the periods 1875-

1989; 1993; and 2000 were digitised.

Community and Culture 
USP Blood Drives were undertaken in 2014 and reflect 
University's commitment to community engagement. 
The blood drives in 2014 collected a total of 288 
units, which included 53 units from Lautoka campus. 
In addition, Campus Life office is working with Fiji 
National Blood Services and campus Directors to 
organise a series of Blood drives for 2015 at each of 
our Fiji campuses. USP was acknowledged and won 
for the 5th year in a row the 2013 Divisional Award 
and National Award for the Highest Collection at 
a Tertiary Institution. The 2014 award is yet to be 
announced.

USP Pacific Market Day concept allows members 
of the USP family, NGOs, community vendors and 
charity fundraising organisations onto the campus to 
market and sell a range of products and add to the 
flavour of the USP environment.  It is pleasing to note 
that a growing number of students are participating 
as vendors, in an effort to raise money for their 
fees and everyday expenses. This also promotes the 
University’s efforts in encouraging entrepreneurship 
amongst students. 

In addition, Emalus campus started delivering Pacific 
Market Day in 2014 which added value to the campus 
experience as well as providing an opportunity for 
members of the USP community and others to the 
Emalus campus to market and sell a range of products.

major Focus in 2015
The University aims to refine its strategic approach 
to inclusiveness and equity in 2015. Given that the 
pre-requisite infrastructure, systems and processes are 
now in place, there will be a shift in emphasis towards 
mainstreaming disability. This will place less emphasis 
on accommodation that need to be made and special 
support that needs to be offered, instead focusing 
more on pro-actively including people with disabilities 
in aspects of University life. DRC staff will work 
closely with faculties, sections, departments and other 
stakeholders (both internal and external) to provide 
support and guidance on disability mainstreaming. 

In late November, DRC completed a Review of 
Disability Accessibility at USP’s Laucala, Statham and 
Lower campuses. The report strongly recommended 
that the University establish a Disability Accessibility 
Audit Team (DAAT) which will launch a phased 
institution-wide Access Audit Programme in 2015 to 
make certain that continuous improvements are made. 
DRC is looking forward to developing this initiative 
further and working collaboratively across the USP 
community in order to roll out the access audits.

Campus Life also intends to continue its planned 
events in its various areas which include  Pacific Market 
Day; Student Health workshop in NCDs;  Election of 
President and Vice-President of the USPSA; sports 
activities for students; health awareness workshops 
e.g. cancer clinics; green and clean programme for 
staff and students; first aid training; and First Year 
Experience initiatives.
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All outstanding global universities produce original 
research that is highly valued by both academia and 
industry. Therefore the development of a “research 
culture” is an integral component of  USP’s mission to 
achieve excellence.  In the global knowledge economy, 
a deep understanding of different cultures and 
communication styles is also crucial for success, and so 
USP aspires to become increasingly internationalised; 
in terms of the composition of its staff cohort and 
student body, in terms of its approaches to regional 
development and institutional progress, and in 
terms of academic openness and the consideration of 
multiple perspectives. As USP is extremely proud of 
its Pacific heritage, internationalisation at USP will 
mean more proactively sharing Pacific Island cultures 
and traditions with the wider world, and making sure 
that they are celebrated and have a place in modern 
societies.

A special focus of USP’s work is research on its Pacific 
Island heritage, from all angles, including scientific 
matters, languages, history, and arts. USP aspires to 
be the world’s leading university in this area. 

The Research Office (RO) works in six areas to support 
the research agenda of the University, including 
research policy development, research promotion and 
incentives, postgraduate research student support, 
research funding, research performance monitoring, 
and staff training. Each area saw extensive work 
during the course of 2014, resulting in an overall 
increase in research activity, enhanced staff and 
postgraduate research student capacity in terms of 
applying for funding, implementing research projects, 
and managing reporting and budgets, and growing 
interest in the Strategic Research Themes (SRTs).  
Given that the impartial recognition of research 
excellence is a hallmark of most highly-regarded global 
universities, this area still requires intensive work if 
it is to support the University’s claim to outstanding 
status in 2018. 

Research Policy Development
RO sets out the framework for undertaking research 
at the University by developing policies, regulations 
and procedures that provide clear guidance to staff 
and students.

The implementation of the Research Accounting 
Module (RAM) in Banner was an important area 
of work in 2014. It was, unfortunately delayed as 
fundamental financial data reporting across the 
University had to be prioritised. A Systems Analyst 
was recruited in 2014 who has begun the design 
and implementation of front-end forms to interface 
with Banner. This will result in a user-friendly 
submission, assessment and approvals processes for 
grant applications, as well as systematic data entry and 
the reporting of budget submissions. The system will 
allow the tracking of key performance indicators such 
as number and value of grant applications and success 
rates of individual staff. It will be a highly efficient, 
streamlined system that will help to improve success 
rates and reduce cases of poorly constructed proposals 
and budgets.  

Research Promotion and 
Incentives
RO promotes research activities of staff through 
the provision of incentives, such as rewards for 
publications and the Vice-Chancellor’s Prizes for 
Outstanding Research Achievement. It also publicises 
and disseminates research findings and reports using 
the open access online repository USP Electronic 
Research Repository (USPERR) and promotes 
research collaboration through research networks, 
such as the Pacific Islands Universities Research 
Network (PIURN), and through the hosting and 
facilitation of international research conferences.

A Memorandum of Cooperation (MOC) was signed 
in Apia, Samoa for the Pacific Islands Universities 
Research Network (PIURN) in August. This was 
followed by a second event in New Caledonia 
in November 2014, when officials of remaining 
Universities signed.  PIURN is a regional body which 
links several universities in Papua New Guinea (6), 
Fiji (3), French territories (2), and Samoa (1), and 
their resources to tackle regional problems through 
Research and Development (R&D).  

Regional networks encourage staff to investigate 
research questions in a collaborative and multi-
disciplinary manner, and often result in projects with 
multiple perspectives that are useful and relevant 
to a wide audience. Staff are highly encouraged to 
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take part in regional and international networks and 
projects.  

All staff involved in research, either themselves or 
as part of networks, are eligible for recognition and 
prizes. The 3rd Annual Ceremony to award prizes to 
outstanding USP researchers and staff responsible for 
high quality publications (based on 2013 outputs) 
was held at the end of November. The diversity of 
research and the authoritative presentation of research 
findings reflected the strengthened research culture 
and activities at USP.  The awards recipients were: 

•	 Vice-Chancellor’s	 Prize	 for	 Creative	 Works:	
Jointly awarded to Dr. Mohit Prasad, Dr. Sarah L. 
Hemstock,  Ms. Johanna Beasley, and Mr. Saimoni 
Fong;

•	 Vice-Chancellor’s	 Prize	 for	 Research	 Impact:	
Awarded to Professor Randolph Thaman;

•	 Vice-Chancellor’s	Prize	for	Best	Research	Output:	
Jointly awarded to Dr. Yoko Kanemasu and Dr. 
Alokanand Sharma; and 

•	 Vice-Chancellor’s	Prize	for	Best	Student	Research	
Paper: Awarded to Mr. Ronit K. Singh

Postgraduate Research (PGR) 
Student Support
RO administers around FJ$1.8m of PGR student 
support through the Graduate Assistantships and 
the Regional PhD Scholarship Programmes. It also 
provides support relating to data analysis and statistics 
through training workshops as well as individual 
mentoring and support. RO additionally monitors 
enrolment, progression and completion statistics. 

A significant concern remains PGR student 
completion rates. Although recent analysis of the 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) indicates that the 
University will meet the SP 2013-18 targets for both 
PhD and Master’s completions. The implementation 
of an online monitoring system, which will track 
the submission, assessment, and agreed milestones 
of PGR student proposals and progress reports is 
planned for the first quarter of 2015. The system will 
also track final thesis submission and external examiner 
appointments. PGR student monitoring system 
should, along with a more stringent implementation 
of the regulations requiring provisional registration of 
PGR students until the research proposal is accepted 
by the Faculty Research Committee, allow tracking 

and monitoring of both student progression and 
supervisor performance. An accreditation system for 
supervisors will also be more closely monitored and 
training of supervisors will be linked to accreditation 
and performance.

Research Funding
RO assists with external research grant applications, 
advises on bidding processes, and manages the 
University Research Committee’s (URC) funding to 
Faculties.  It administers the Strategic Research Theme 
(interdisciplinary) funding across the University. It 
distributes approximately F$1.6 m in research funding 
through those two mechanisms.

SRTs were launched in August. The 2013-18 Strategic 
Plan conceptualised seven Strategic Theme areas that 
described and defined areas of strength and expertise 
within the University. In late August, the SRTs were 
launched with announcements on the leadership of 
each and unveiling of plans outlining their activities, 
modes of operation, and priorities.

Research Performance 
Monitoring
RO assesses and reports to Senior Management on 
the research performance of individuals, Schools, 
Sections, Faculties and the University, including 
external candidates for job applications and internal 
candidates for promotions. RO also applies Research 
Performance Monitoring, according to the Research 
Performance Thresholds in the Staff Development 
and Appraisals process. It manages the Research 
Ethics Clearance processes of the University.

In 2014, USP achieved improved high-quality research 
outputs.  A key performance indicator for research is 
the publication of high-quality research outputs, such 
as books, book chapters, research journal articles 
and conference proceedings. RO tracks this for USP 
using an online open-access repository. The quality 
of outputs is assessed based on a ranking system that 
was introduced in 2010 (Excellence for Research in 
Australia, ERA 2010), and RO is in the process of 
holding consultations to improve and update this 
ranking system. External validation is provided by 
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monitoring USP research outputs indexed in major 
international bibliographic databases such as Scopus 
and Web of  Knowledge.

Performance in terms of the highest quality (ERA 
2010, A and A*) outputs has also increased in 2014 
and is predicted to exceed the Strategic Plan 2013-18 
targets (0.45 publications per staff for 2015 and 0.60 
in 2018) based on recent performance.

Academic staff were evaluated against Research 
Performance Thresholds, including total ranked 
publications and high quality (A+A*) publications 
to aid the SDA process. Line Managers utilise this 
information to evaluate academic staff performance 
over a three year period. All academic staff are 
individually contacted by RO with their publication 
record according to the USPERR, so that accurate 
data are used in SDA.

It is clear that USPERR, the rewards scheme for 
publications, and the Vice-Chancellor’s Research 
Prizes have all contributed to the positive trend in 
research outputs, while bespoke online tools, easy-
to-use frameworks, and comprehensive training are 
helping supervisors to make sound and fair judgements 
on the quality of those research outputs.    

Staff Training
RO ran a range of staff training programmes in 2014.  
It ensured that the Research Skills Development 
(RSD) Framework is part of teaching programmes, 
was involved with the induction of new staff, and 
carried out training in research grant application skills 
and PGR supervision skills and accreditation.

RSD Framework

The implementation of the RSD Framework was 
initiated in 2012 and was highlighted in 2014 as 
an example of good practice in the STAR review by 
Professor Geoff Scott (UWS). RSD implementation 
process has included the training of Course 
Coordinators, the revision of assignments to integrate 
research literacy and skills, design of RSD-framed 
marking rubrics for assignments, implementation of 
RSD marking rubrics in courses, and the monitoring 

and evaluation of implementation. Eventually, 
research literacy and skills will be embedded in the 
programme outcomes. RSD was implemented in 
core 200-level courses during 2014, with some other 
200-level courses due for implementation of RSD in 
2015. Foundation courses also began to implement 
RSD from 2014. Undergraduate courses as the 
300-level will commence the implementation of RSD 
from Semester 1 2015. 

Data Analysis and Statistics

RO training in data analysis and statistics has been 
greatly appreciated by staff and research students.  
There have been ongoing face-to-face student 
consultations to assist students and staff (primarily 
PGR students) with data analysis and statistics. The 
consultations involve multiple meetings with students 
to analyse their problems and then work with them on 
all issues related to data analysis, interpretation and 
the scientific writing up of the results. Furthermore, 
four 3-days workshop sessions at Basic, Intermediate 
and Advanced levels of SPSS (statistical software) 
were conducted for research-based Masters and 
PhD students. In each session, there were about 15 
attendees. There are now plans to offer workshops 
using the open-source software “R” which is a very 
powerful statistical tool for scientists. 

Grant Writing Workshop

The first grant writing workshop, “Securing external 
funding for your research”, was held in July for 26 staff 
selected by the Deans. The workshop, which aimed to 
develop the skills and abilities required to successfully 
apply to external donors for a research grant. In total, 
43 academic staff have taken one of the grant writing 
workshops. A related workshop on “Securing internal 
USP funding for your research” was also offered in 
October. This was the first in a series of workshops 
meant to review the different mechanisms, forms and 
applications procedures for securing funding via the 
Faculty Research Committee and University Research 
Committee (on the Strategic Research Themes). 
The workshops form part of an integrated research 
training package which was developed in 2014 and 
will be fully implemented during 2015.
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International Office
The International Office (IO) is responsible for the 
areas of International Marketing and Recruitment; 
Student Mobility; and International Student Support, 
including Orientation.

The International Office works with institutions 
and agencies internationally in the areas of student 
mobility and study abroad and manages several 
large student exchange programmes, including four 
Intra African, Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) and 
four Erasmus-Mundus programmes funded by the 
European Union (EU).

International student enrolment

Following its successful participation in the Einstieg 
Fair in June, a key student recruitment event in 
Europe, USP International has kept in contact with 
many prospective students. It is expected that some of 
these students will enrol at USP in the next few years. 
USP International  provided services and support to 
approximately 288 international students studying at 
USP’s Laucala Campus. 

major Focus in 2015
The University, in accordance with the Strategic 
Plan 2013-2018, will move forward determined to 
remain an exemplar research institution in the Pacific 
region by 1) focusing on the success of postgraduate 
students; 2) increasing the resources available to 
them; 3) building their ability to compete successfully 
for international grants; 4) increasing the quantity, 
quality and impact of its research outputs; and 5) by 
increasing the number of staff actively engaged in 
research.  All of   RO’s actions in 2015 will be aligned 
to those strategies.  

The major activities planned for 2015 include 
implementation of the Research Accounting Module 
(RAM) in Banner and develop a front-end grants 
submission portal to allow effective management 
of project applications, including closer scrutiny of 
budget adequacy. This will allow the University to 
track grant submission activity and success rates at all 
levels from individual staff to University. The system 
is planned to be operational by July 2015.

Secondly, implementation of a postgraduate research 
(PGR) student online monitoring system to control 

progress reporting, supervisor engagement, thesis 
submission and examining procedures. The role of the 
current PGR student coordinator would be expanded 
and a studentships assistant added to manage liaison 
with Faculties and External Examiners, as well 
as maintain and monitor the system and provide 
reporting and monitoring. The system is planned to 
be operational by July 2015.

In terms of training, additional mandatory training 
for all academic staff supervisors (mainly Heads 
of Schools) is planned for early 2015. This will 
ensure that all supervisors can apply the Research 
Performance Thresholds in the SDA process 
using the online performance management system 
iPerform. The process involves both the application 
of research output data (generated by the RO) and 
the collection of verified performance data (research 
income, PGR student supervision and non-standard 
publications). This information will be used to assess 
staff development needs and to inform changes in the 
workload balance in the case of research-inactive staff.

RO will implement targeted research training, 
combining online learning on general research skills 
(provided by the Epigeum system) with specific face-
to-face training (provided with the RO staff) on 
internal procedures and specific issues unique to USP 
and the region.  

The International Office will adopt the following 
four strategies for 2015; 1) increasing the amount 
of outreach to select universities with specialisms in 
Climate Change, Pacific Studies, and ICT in Education 
to publicise postgraduate, research, and student 
exchange opportunities; 2) encourage all travelling 
staff to equip themselves with adequate information 
and collateral to carry out recruitment activities as 
part of their trips; 3) improve USP’s web presence 
by designing new and additional pages focused on 
students interested in study abroad; and 4) explore 
opportunities for collaboration with established study 
abroad programmes in target markets and possibly 
develop programmes for specific universities.
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Outstanding performance in the area of ICT is crucial 
to USP’s success as it underpins both the results 
of other Priority Areas and is an area of particular 
pride and accomplishment for USP - one in which 
the University aims to serve as a positive example for 
other institutions and for the region as a whole.  

All of the University’s operations depend heavily on 
reliable Information Technology (IT) infrastructure 
and support services in order to perform well. As 
ICT is an enabler for other departments to achieve 
their core goals and targets, strong leadership and 
investment are both crucial to the future prospects of 
the University.  

The year 2014 saw the appointment of Dr Dilawar 
Grewal, USP’s Vice-President Administration, who 
is responsible for the area of ICT and is also Chair 
of the Council of Regional Organisations in the 
Pacific (CROP) Working Group on ICT. Having a 
Vice-President’s position in-charge of ICT serves to 
mitigate risks in the area, as active leadership enables 
greater achievement through effective planning and 
monitoring of work progress.

The year included many milestone achievements in 
terms of operational improvements and regional ICT 
development.  Infrastructure was enhanced, resulting 
in better services for staff and students. ITS section 
was also heavily involved with regional initiatives, 
and provided expertise, guidance, and support to 
governments and institutions in the Pacific Islands.  

Operational Accomplishments:  
Better ICT for an Excellent 
University 

Marshall Islands Campus

In early May, USP commissioned its fibre link between 
the Marshall Islands and Laucala campuses. This is 
the first fibre that directly links the two countries.  
The commissioning followed challenging year-
long negotiations, which resulted in USP securing 
favourable pricing. The inter-connection in Guam 
was another challenge that was effectively managed 
through teamwork. Post-commissioning feedback 
from students and staff have been extremely positive.  

Tonga Campus 

In May, the Vice-Chancellor and President and the 
Prime Minister of Tonga signed an Agreement relating 
to the link between Tonga and Laucala campuses. 
While this project had its challenges, in particular 
the FINTEL costs, it was eventually commissioned. 
Tonga campus staff and students are enjoying the 
high speed connection and services.

Banner   Infrastructure

In 2014, USP endorsed Information Technology 
Services' (ITS) intention to upgrade the Banner 
infrastructure at a cost of FJ$1.2m. This project 
has given USP a more robust infrastructure which 
utilises cutting-edge technology and features a proper 
platform for data warehousing as well as more useful 
reporting tools.

New Computers for Students

The 2013 VOICE Survey of students revealed that 
newer and faster computers should be made available. 
The University therefore purchased 300 personal 
computers in 2014 as replacements for older units; 
all of these new computers were deployed for student 
use. An ITS survey at the end of 2014 recorded an 
improved level of student satisfaction in computer 
performance and availability. 

Upgrading the Server Room

ITS also successfully upgraded the Server Room.  
This was a long overdue project especially with the 
new infrastructure in place. This included electrical 
rewiring, renovating the room to give more space, 
and reorganising the data cables. 

Regional Activities

CROP Working Group on ICT

The CROP Working Group on ICT, chaired by Dr 
Dilawar Grewal, Vice-President, Administration, 
collates the input of CROP agencies and invited 
organisations to help CROP carry out its advisory 
role relating to the development of information 
societies. The Working Group promotes sustainable 
development through the optimal and responsible 
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use of ICT. The strength of the Working Group is 
in streamlining and strengthening coordination and 
collaboration, and in encouraging synergies amongst 
regional countries and entities. 

The Working Group membership comprises all 
CROP members, and was extended to include the 
Pacific ICT Regulatory Resource Centre (PiRRC), 
Pacific Island Computer Emergency Response 
Team (PacCERT), Pacific Islands Chapter of the 
Internet Society (PICISOC), and the Pacific Islands 
Telecommunication Association (PITA).  UNESCAP 
has Observer status within the Working Group. 

This Working Group held two meetings in 2014, one 
in June and the other in December. The purpose of 
the first meeting was to determine priorities, chart the 
course of action for the Review of the Framework for 
Action on ICT Development in the Pacific (FAIDP) 
2010-2015, address issues of logistics, and agree 
on how to provide input to significant working 
documents in the area of ICT.  

The second meeting scheduled dates for regional 
consultations of the Review of the FAIDP and the 
Regional ICT Ministers Meeting, and discussed 
the hosting of cross-stakeholder initiatives on ICT 
consultations and the development of a related 
concept paper. 

Side Event on ICT for 
Sustainable Development At sids 
conference
The 2014 Small Island Developing States (SIDS) 
Conference in Samoa featured a Side Event with the 
theme, “Sustainable Development of SIDS through 
Genuine and Durable Partnerships”, which had a 
particular focus on ICT. At this gathering, USP 
presented on the key role it plays in by enhancing 
ICT in Education, Marine Sciences and Climate 
Studies.  USP Knowledge Hub, the purpose of which 
is to enable knowledge creation, both as a regional 
resource and as a means for developing and enhancing 
regional capacity to take advantage of the rapidly 
emerging ICT-based industries and environment, was 
also discussed.

USP presented on progress made towards the revision 
of the Pacific Digital Strategy. It was suggested that 
this strategy revision would best be a collective 
effort, involving Working Group members plus 
representatives from the private sector and financial 
institutions.  A Pacific Digital Alliance, along the lines 
of the Pacific Ocean Alliance, was thought to be a 
good way forward. 

Most regions of the world already have their own 
regional education and research networks. The 
Caribbean Knowledge Network, for example, was 
developed with European Union (EU) funding and 
is quite active. Based on this fact, the Pacific region 
commissioned a study on the establishment of a similar 
research and education network through the ACP 
Group. A meeting was held to discuss the findings 
of the report, at which the idea of the network was 
supported and the responsibility for its development 
was given to USP (given its expertise and experience 
with USPNet) and the Pacific Islands Universities’ 
Research Network (PIURN). 

The Pacific Islands Regional Research and Education 
Network (PIRREN) will help regional countries to 
increase higher education participation rates, build 
research capacity, and provide technical and vocational 
education to the large number of youths in the region 
who are unable to access either higher education or 
the labour market.      

Pacific ICT Regulatory Resource 
Centre (PiRRC)
An agreement signed in the August 2014 by USP 
and the World Bank makes USP responsible for the 
oversight of the administration of the PiRRC. This 
required USP to recruit a new Director and staff for 
the Centre, and this work was initiated in the last 
quarter of 2014.  

PiRRC operates both as a centralised knowledge 
centre and as a source of advisory services financing, 
which enables regulators to hire advisers on issues 
with demonstrable regional spill-over benefits.   
PiRRC responds to requests from the region’s 
policymakers and regulators (as well as from the 
regional telecommunications industry) to facilitate 
the transfer of knowledge and technical capacity to 
and amongst the region’s emerging regulators, and 
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also fosters collaboration amongst these institutions.  
These activities are intended to improve cooperation 
throughout the region, thereby reducing risks and 
uncertainty for private sector investors who seek 
consistency.

Pacific computer Emergency 
Response Team (PacCERT)
In spite of the diligent efforts of the PacCERT 
Board members, funds raised were not sufficient 
to continue the PacCERT operations. The Board 
therefore decided that, as of 31 December 2014, 
PacCERT services would no longer be offered and 
no staff would be maintained. In closing the project, 
the Board expressed its gratitude to USP and to 
the Government of Cook Islands for their support 
and contributions. The Board also resolved to meet 
various regional CERTs, governments, and potential 
donors to re-establish PacCERT in a different form 
with a sustainable funding model, as there is a 
demonstrable need for a regional CERT. This work 
will be undertaken further in 2015.

Capacity Building
ITS also ran a number of capacity building initiatives 
in 2014, including:

(a)  A Girls and Women in ICT initiative, held in May, 
involved reaching out to Secondary Schools and 
facilitating ICT activities designed to encourage 
more girls to become involved in ICT-related 
activities.  This resulted in the soft launch of the 
ICT4W website (http://www.pacificwomen4ict.
org/), which is the online presence of the Digital 
Alliance of Girls and Women in ICT. This day 
was supported by the South Pacific Computer 
Society, Pasifika Nexus, and other companies;

(b)  Assisting the Disabilities Resource Centre at 
USP to use ICT innovatively to improve access 
for people with disabilities. ITS collaborated 
with the Centre to participate in International 
Disabled Persons day  hosted by the Pacific 
Disabilities Forum at the Pacific Islands Forum 
Secretariat (PIFS)  in December 2014;

(c) A partnership with the Government of Fiji and 
the South Pacific Computer Society was the 
vehicle through which ITS helped to promote 
Child Online Protection (COP) in Fiji. ITS 
also participated in the Pacific Islands Capacity 
Building Workshop on Child Online Protection 
and the Commonwealth National Cyber-security 
Framework Regional Workshop, held in Port 
Vila in September 2014, and

(d)  Hosting a workshop, using USPNet, on the 
“Digital Divide”.  This workshop was held during 
the Asia Pacific Regional Internet Governance 
Forum (APrIGF), which took place in August in 
New Delhi. This involved the development of a 
video documentary which featured the Tuvaluan 
Telecommunications Minister, USP Vice-
Chancellor and President, and select leaders of 
ICT stakeholders’ groups across Southeast Asia 
and the Pacific.

Major Focus in 2015
ITS will continue with the re-architecture of the 
entire network and complete the Banner Roadmap. 
It will continue to set up the Knowledge Hub during 
2015, subject to funding. Although, ITS has carried 
out a lot of project work on the re-engineering of the 
network, there are some major tasks remaining, such 
as USP’s Single Sign-On, the development of a more 
robust wireless authentication mechanism in Network 
Access Control (NAC), and the re-engineering of the 
network proxy for a better and more secure network.

Work on the implementation of the Banner Roadmap, 
particularly the implementation of the Banner 
Revisitation of Student Administrative Services (SAS) 
and Human Resources (HR), will continue in 2015.  

USP will also host the Regional ICT Ministers Meeting 
in 2015. A final planning meeting will be held in the 
first quarter 2015, which will firm up the dates, likely 
to be in May or July. This timing would enable the 
production of a report for the Pacific Islands Forum 
Leaders meeting, scheduled for September 2015.
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USP’s activities in the region and in the communities 
in which it works are centred around the value of 
Pacific culture, heritage, and resources and the 
promotion of the value to the world. We value our 
Pacific heritage by learning more about it, by caring 
for it in the present and making plans to preserve it 
for the future, and by using and developing resources 
wisely. We promote our Pacific identity through our 
actions on the world stage, whether in the realms of 
education, research, or international development, 
and by seeking to enhance USP and the region’s 
global profile through rankings, research projects, 
participation in significant meetings, and international 
exchanges.  

The University must have the capability, capacity and 
resources to carry out this ambitious mission for the 
Pacific Islands. It therefore has invested in enhancing 
and expanding its campuses, its membership and 
operations, and has endeavoured to strengthen its 
partnerships with stakeholders, governments, industry 
and communities.  

The year 2014 saw considerable work done on 
regional campus development, with the framework 
for the Campus Development Plan having been 
approved by the USP Council in May 2014. That 
framework is used as a guideline for preparing each 
Campus Development Plan. The Consolidated 
Regional Campuses Development Plan will 
incorporate the outcomes of the External Review of 
the Administration, Management and Governance of 
Regional campuses, which will be completed by 2015.

A number of other crucial tasks took place in 2014, 
both at the regional campuses and at Laucala. These 
tasks are major undertakings necessary for the rational   
improvement and growth of the regional campuses 
over the long-term. 

The University saw a significant increase in 
the connections made with local, regional and 
international communities and universities and 
this was evident through USP’s participation and 
contribution at CROP and regional meetings, and in 
various regional working groups.

Australian Foreign Minister Julie Bishop launched 
a new partnership in October 2014 between USP 
and the Australia-Pacific Technical College (APTC) 

along with new hospitality training facilities, at USP’s 
Laucala campus in Suva and said, “The partnership 
between The University of the South Pacific and the 
Australia-Pacific Technical College brings together two 
of Australia’s most significant regional investments 
that are firmly focused on driving economic growth in 
the Pacific”. 

The Pacific Fusion Training Restaurant and Kitchen 
was refurbished through an investment of FJ$1 
million from the Australian Government and USP.  
In it, students will develop their skills to the highest 
quality industry standards and provide a ready pool of 
skilled workers for the tourism industry. 

The University places great importance on these 
relationships and continues to expand existing 
networks and develop new ones for learning, 
research, dialogue and scholarship. USP strengthened 
its engagement with international institutions and 
universities through the signature and implementation 
of a total of seventy four agreements in 2014.

REGIONAL CAMPUS DEVELOPMENT

Kiribati

The two price bids received in late 2013 for civil 
works at the Kiribati campus were considered 
excessive. Following agreement by ADB, discussions 
and negotiations were held with the lower bidder, 
Fortech Construction Ltd (FCL), throughout the 
first quarter. An additional US$1m was required 
for civil works and this was approved by ADB, from 
within the overall ADB loan, in May. The Loan 
Agreement (between USP and ADB) and Guarantee 
Agreement (between Government of Kiribati and 
ADB) for the additional US$1m were signed at the 
end of May. Following this, a contract of US$3.15m 
(ADB US$2.9m; USP US$0.25m) was signed by 
USP and FCL for civil works at the Kiribati campus. 
Demolition works commenced in early July followed 
by a ground breaking ceremony that was held in mid-
July and was presided by the President of Kiribati, 
H.E Anote Tong. USP was represented by the Pro-
Chancellor and the Vice-Chancellor and President. 
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The steel consignment for the new 3-storey building 
was ordered by FCL from China and was delivered 
to the project site in the last week of the year. The 
site was fully cleared and excavated in preparation for 
erection of the steel structure in January 2015. The 
construction of the new building is expected to be 
completed by August/September 2015. This will be 
a major milestone in regional campus development. 

Solomon Islands 

A preliminary survey report on unexploded ordnances 
(UXO) at the new campus site at Ndoma was submitted 
to USP in January. The cost of complete clearance 
of the whole 100ha site was estimated at A$2m. The 
Solomon Islands government agreed in July to share 
the costs but the high estimated cost prompted USP 
to seek an alternative firm to undertake the work. 
Discussions on this issue was not finalised by the time 
of the national elections in mid-November and it was 
agreed that this would be taken up again with the new 
Solomon Islands Government in early 2015.

The Lands Department advised USP in November   
that a private surveying firm from Honiara will be 
engaged in early 2015 to undertake topographical 
survey funded by the Solomon Islands Government.

An Indicative Academic Plan for the new campus 
was drawn up by USP in October and submitted 
to ADB and the Solomon Islands Government 
for their consideration. In November, a number of 
consultants were recruited by ADB as part of the 
Project Preparatory Technical Assistance Team for 
the new campus project. These consultants included a 
specialist to undertake an assessment of the Solomon 
Islands tertiary education landscape, an Economic/
Financial Analyst and a Specialist in Environment 
Impact Assessment. A Social Safeguards Assessment 
Specialist and a Civil Engineer will be recruited in the 
first half of 2015.          

The Republic of Marshall Islands (RMI)

RMI Government invested US$3.8 Million to 
purchase the Long Island Hotel for use as a new 
campus facility for USP in the Marshall Islands. An 
engineering firm was engaged by USP to provide 
detailed engineering design and documentation of 

the three-building complex. The new facility will 
provide a modern campus with labs and learning 
spaces for pre-degree, undergraduate, post graduate 
and vocational courses to meet the human resource 
development of the Marshall Islands. Plans include 
an expansion of the campus cultural arts programme, 
an Early Childhood Learning Centre, an Institute 
for Culinary Arts and Hospitality and a Centre for 
Sustainable Sea Transportation 

Lautoka

The original business case for the new Lautoka 
Campus was approved in 2013. This was withdrawn 
in 2014, given the change in the scope of the project, 
driven by the  increasing demand for teaching space 
and the need to acquire additional land to build a 
suitable campus for excellent teaching delivery in the 
Western Division of Fiji. The University has since 
negotiated with the Fiji Government for the lease of 
additional two and half acre of land currently held by 
the Fiji Sugar Corporation Limited. The University is 
following the formal requirements  for the issuance 
of the lease and hope to receive the lease on the land 
in 2015.  

A new design for the development plan for the 
Lautoka campus will be undertaken and aligned to 
the steadily increasing demand for tertiary education 
in the Western Division. The University intends to 
construct a facility that will cater for long term campus 
growth projections and provide people of the Western 
Division with a high-quality learning environment. It 
is aimed to begin construction work towards the end 
of 2015.    

Nauru

A major achievement in ICT development for the 
Nauru campus was recognised when engineers 
successfully completed the Wireless Network Project 
for the campus in October, 2014. Students and staff 
can now operate with Wi-Fi anywhere on the campus.

Construction work has begun with laying of the 
foundation for the campus building at the new 
“Learning Village.”  The project will be jointly funded 
by the Government of Nauru and the Government 
of Australia through its bilateral support to Nauru. A 
total  budget of AUD$4.2million has been earmarked 
for this project, with Government contributing 
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$1million and $3.2 from Australian Aid.  The new site 
is located about 10 minute’s drive from the present 
campus.  A major part of this development project 
will continue in 2015.  

Tonga

The Vice-Chancellor and President, Professor Rajesh 
Chandra signed an agreement with the Government 
of Tonga through the Tonga Cable Ltd., on 15 May 
2014 enabling a very low commercial rate for the use 
of USP and piloted schools in Tonga. The connection 
of the Optic Fibre Cable to the Tonga campus was a 
historical milestone not only for the campus but for 
education in Tonga. This was launched by the Hon 
Prime Minister Lord Tu’ivakano and the Minister of 
Education Dr. ‘Ana Maui Taufe’ulungaki on 15 July 
2014. 

Major repair and maintenance works at the campus 
that started in 2013 were completed, which included 
painting and replacements of gutters for the 
administration and library buildings. An expansion 
of the IT section room to cater for  equipment for 
the new Optic Cable connections was also completed. 
The building of specialised facilities for Disabilities 
has been implemented and will continue in 2015.  
These developments provide further enhancement of 
students’ learning facilities.

A Task Force was set up by the Campus Director to 
map the way forward for the Tonga campus on the 
fourteen (14)  acres of land that was generously given 
to the University in 2012. Based on the plans made, 
the year 2015 will focus on ensuring that the Master 
Plan for Tonga campus is completed.

The relocation of the USP Vava’u Centre to a 
Government property in March gave the students of 
Vava’u a much improved learning environment and 
teaching facilities. Staff and students of the Tonga 
campus also supported the Institute of Education 
(IOE) and the Tonga Institute of Education to host 
the second Vaka Pasifiki Conference in September, 
an international conference for Pacific educators 
throughout the region.

Vanuatu

In honoring requests from the government of 
Vanuatu and in line with its Strategic Plan, the 

University in October 2014, opened its fourth centre 
in the northern part of the country. This is located 
in Sola, the administrative headquarter of the Torba 
province. Following the signing of a Memorandum 
of Agreement between USP and the Torba Provincial 
Government in 2013, a building belonging to the 
Arep Junior Secondary School was made available to 
USP for use as a centre. Renovations on the premises 
were undertaken in early 2014. Registration for 
courses in 2015 began concurrently.

The Government of  Vanuatu has pledged to build a 
new fence for Emalus campus. The project has been 
tendered and is anticipated to start in 2015.

REGIONAL ENGAGEMENT
The University continued to strengthen and expand 
its communication and partnerships with CROP and 
other organisations. USP was represented at and 
actively participated in all key regional meetings in 
2014.

These included the CROP Executive Meetings; Pacific 
Islands Development Forum Summit; 45th Pacific 
Islands Forum Leaders Meeting, PIC Development 
Partners Forum, Forum Disability Officials Meeting, 
Forum Economic Ministers’ and Related Meetings, 
Forum Education Ministers’ Meeting, Small Island 
States Officials Meeting, Pre-Forum Officials   
Meeting, SPREP Meeting and Associated Meetings, 
UN SIDS Conference and Events; and the 44th 
Meeting of the Committee of Representatives of 
Governments and Administration (CRGA).

USP presented on Regional ICT outreach at the 2014 
Small Island Developing States (SIDS) Conference 
held in Samoa through a Side Event with the theme 
“Sustainable Development of  SIDS through Genuine 
and Durable Partnerships”. At this Side Event, USP 
discussed the key role played by the University as 
it promotes the use of ICT in Education, Marine 
Sciences, and Climate Studies, primarily through the 
building and maintenance of the USP Knowledge 
Hub.  

In addition, USP, in partnership with UNESCO, 
hosted a presentation of the Pacific Heritage Hub 
(PHH) as a Side Event on September 3. The objective 
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of this Side Event, with its focus on culture and 
development, was to highlight the socio-economic 
importance of heritage and creativity in the context 
of the sustainable development of SIDS. A Parallel 
Event was held at the Alafua campus, which provided 
an excellent opportunity for the University to 
showcase its research work related to agriculture and 
food security.  

USP was also consulted on the Framework for 
Regionalism, which was endorsed by Pacific Islands 
Forum Leaders in July 2014 and replaces the Pacific 
Plan. The Framework is intended to support focused 
political conversations on key strategic issues, 
including shared sovereignty, pooling resources and 
delegating  decision-making. Rather than providing a 
list of regional priorities, it sets out a robust process 
through which regional priorities will be identified 
and implemented. The Framework for Regionalism 
will be implemented from 2015, and USP as a CROP 
agency will play its role in its area of competence.

The University further supported the Pacific Island 
Forum Leaders call for the Pacific Islands Forum 
Secretariat (PIFS) to rationalise ministerial meetings 
in support of the objectives of the Framework for 
Pacific Regionalism. USP Council endorsed USP’s 
participation in the comprehensive review and in 
discussions relating to the organisation of future 
Ministerial Meetings on Education and ICT, as well 
as its continued contribution to other ministerial 
meetings, such as FEMM; and recommended that 
Ministerial meetings should be scheduled at intervals 
so as to allow maximum time for the implementation 
of Ministers and Leaders’ decisions and mandates.

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT
USP staff and students were primarily engaged with the 
community through development projects, research, 
and cooperation on specific topics governed by formal 
partnerships. Many members of the USP community 
also became involved with their neighbours off-
campus for charitable work. The University is eager 
for all of its staff and students to realise that as a 
whole, they are quite privileged in a variety of ways, 
and as responsible citizens, they should share their 

knowledge, time, and goodwill to improve the lives 
of others.  

A university education is, after all, not just about 
earning a piece of paper that certifies a minimum 
amount of knowledge; rather, it is about pursuing an 
intellectual passion, understanding   what one learns is 
relevant to the real world, and growing in realisation 
of the importance of living in and contributing to 
one’s community.  

Community engagement is encouraged at the 
institutional and individual levels as part of Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR).  Community engagement 
forms a key component of the work of many sections 
of USP, most notably the Institute of Applied 
Sciences, and the Pacific Centre for Environment 
and Sustainable Development’s (PACE-SD) work 
in Pacific Island countries.  USP-EUGCCA project, 
implemented by PACE-SD, is one of the region’s 
most comprehensive Climate Change adaptation 
projects; it is being implemented across 15 Pacific ACP 
countries in more than 40 communities. With three 
pillars of work, namely capacity building, community 
engagement and applied research, the Project, which 
commenced in 2010, worked throughout 2014 
to develop and strengthen Pacific ACP countries’ 
capacity to adapt to the impacts of climate change. 

USP provided expertise, through its Institute of 
Applied Sciences, to Suva’s recent Sewage Spilling 
Monitoring Programme. This 8-week sampling 
programme involved the collection of fish, shellfish, 
sediments, river water, foreshore water and open 
sea water, all of which were subjected to about 26 
different tests, including chemical, physical and 
microbiological analyses. 

Another research project which benefits the 
community involves an exploration of the most 
efficient methods of using clean and affordable energy.  
The results of this project will be shared with students 
in related academic courses and programmes, and 
students will be encouraged to take this knowledge 
into communities and apply it to address practical 
concerns.    

As part of its engagement, USP collaborated with 
Pacific Disability Forum in September in the 
compilation of an USAID grant application fund 
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to develop a sustainable disability inclusive climate 
change adaptation project that will compliment 
current national climate change initiatives in the 
Pacific. Given the comprehensive challenges, persons 
with disabilities face in climate change, the project 
will ensure disability inclusiveness in improved natural 
resources and water management and livelihood 
development and income diversification. USP also   
sponsored the naming rights of the FIBA-USP 
Oceania U19 Championship with the Basketball 
Federation (BF) of Fiji in November. 

A number of initiatives signed with Private Sector 
and University led to students completing internships 
in such organisations, exchange of staff members, 
students and publications, as well as the undertaking 
of joint research, lectures and symposia. In addition, 
various staff and student groups regularly carry out 
community service projects, such as the beautification 
of retirement homes and Book/Toy drives for 
orphanages.

MAJOR FOCUS IN 2015
The year 2015 will see the completion of a new campus 
in Kiribati by August/September; the finalisation 
of the preparatory work for the construction of the 

new Solomon Islands campus; the renovation of 
the premises acquired for the new campus in the 
Marshall Islands, and substantial progress in terms 
of the development of the new Lautoka campus. The 
University will continue to plan the construction 
of additional student accommodation and upgrade 
connectivity, as well as improve learning and teaching 
facilities.

To maintain visibility, the University will work 
with the various stakeholders including donors and 
development partners, governments, members of the 
community and the students. Through the number 
of agreements signed, the University will continue to 
honor them and provide its service to the community 
and the region as a whole. 

The University will also focus on assisting with the 
implementation of the Framework for Regionalism, 
which will promote the development of large-scale 
initiatives that bring together development partners, 
regional agencies and non-state actors with plans of 
action rather than just good ideas.

Launching of Pacific Technical and Vocational Education and Training on Sustainable Energy and Climate Change Adaptation (PACTVET) project.
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In 2014, Human Resources (HR) section continued 
to move forward with its long-term strategies for 
improved Talent Development and Engagement 
(TD&E), Business Analytics and Recruitment. 
Capacity development and skills training assisted 
staff to more readily adapt to the changes that were 
introduced. The use of diagnostics related to human 
resources was expanded; for example, the iPerform 
performance cycle reports and the VOICE survey 
were used to develop a matrix of business intelligence, 
and analytics-enhanced broader thinking was applied 
to link workforce planning to recruitment needs and 
development tracking.  The use of these HR models 
and tools enabled the HR section to make progress 
in implementing Strategic Plan initiatives and 
created achievements, new opportunities, and more 
harmonious workplace relations.

Creating Achievements
By the end of 2014, the new-look Senior Management 
Team (SMT) was fully staffed.  Strengthened in order 
to support the accomplishment of the University’s 
goals for 2018, the SMT put in place during 2014 
two new Vice-Presidents, responsible for the areas of 
Administration; and Regional Campuses, Properties 
& Facilities respectively. Robust and visionary 
leadership is required to ensure that USP’s vision 
becomes reality, and the scope of the task at hand 
necessitates a hands-on approach from management, 
which can be delivered through the two new Vice-
President positions.   

Two more academic staff, earned their PhD degrees 
during the course of 2014 bringing the total number 
of academic staff with PhDs to 137 compared to 135 
in 2013  Reports presented to the USP Council on 
appointments, completions, renewals and promotions 
documented trends of improvement, which bode well 
for longer term quality staff retention outcomes.  The 
“Performance Stretch” approach, taken by the Staff 
Development and Appraisal (SDA) programme, also 
supported the achievement of excellence.  This SDA 
focus indicates that staff have more ambitious, or 
“stretched” performance goals, and also have target 
achievements which are aligned to the Strategic Plan.  
There is a clear commitment to ensuring that all staff 
members readily understand how their work directly 
contributes to Strategic Plan goals, as this contributes 

to a positive team atmosphere, boosts staff satisfaction 
levels, and makes the achievement of collective aims 
far more likely.   

The University enhanced its “Total Rewards” 
approaches in discussions with all Staff  Unions on 
salary restructuring so that comparator markets 
and reviews of the various benefits policies were 
considered.  Significant salary improvements for most 
staff groups were also achieved in 2014 as a result 
of successful negotiations and consultations with 
the respective Staff Unions. Collective agreement 
standards were also put in place for all Intermediate 
and Junior unions in USP’s regional countries. These 
tangible benefits have made staff more willing to 
engage with management. As staff become more 
certain that they are valued by management, they are 
willing to invest more in their own performance and 
more interested in seeing excellent standards achieved 
across USP’s operations.  

The strategies of the HR section are designed to 
create the conditions required for USP to flourish; it 
is essential that staff know that they are valued and see 
evidence of this.  Moreover, there must be tangible 
evidence that the aspirations of staff to excellence will 
be supported and encouraged; this is being developed 
through the linking of performance outcomes to 
planned development. The revised performance 
management policies endorsed by SMT, Association 
of  The University of the South Pacific Staff (AUSPS) 
and the Staff Policy Committee now give clear 
guidelines and enriched bonus and increments awards 
for outstanding performance. 

Overall, the statistics indicate that USP has maintained 
its position as a preferred employer both locally and 
regionally, and for both the lower academic ranks and 
most non-academic positions. Cross- unit discussions 
held towards the end of 2014 explored a number of 
options to mitigate the challenges faced in attracting 
quality academic staff to the regional campuses. 
Country-specific strategies will be adopted to attract 
quality staff using fractional/itinerant flexible 
appointments. The conditions of Teaching Assistants 
will also be reviewed with the aim of making them 
more competitive.  
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Enlightening Opportunities

The provision of better role clarity and the introduction 
of career path support strengthened our recruitment 
by enhancing USP’s “brand reputation”. The career-
building programme models which form part of the 
TD&E framework resulted in the creation of a new 
online booklet for academics. The booklet outlines 
the requirements of each academic level in terms 
of the Quality of Teaching and Quality of Research 
criteria (USP-based criteria) and also features sample 
performance development benchmarks and indicators.  

Tools such as this booklet can be used for career and 
succession planning for the academic staff workforce.  
Career-building programmes can be incorporated in 
individual development plans, as well as to inform the 
SDA programme and planning for career progression. 
The conceptual design of the Early Academic Career 
and Academic Research Mentorship Contacts and 
Learning Resources included guidelines for mentors.  

During  the  course  of  2014, Academic Staff  
development opportunities  were  further complemented 
with an increase to sabbatical leave entitlements. USP 
criteria was also used to revise policies for Heads of 
Schools and Academic Classification Standards for the 
Staff Policy Committee’s Review. In November 2014, 
a review of the academic career streams was initiated 
to consider teaching and research-active/focused 
options for workload consideration. 

By the end of 2014, the Job Evaluation (JE) process 
for Professional Staff was in its second stage, which 
evaluates the 47 Professional Benchmark positions. 
These JE outcomes have been audited by an external 
party and cross-checked with a market comparison 
study. The automation of the JE System is also being 
developed to facilitate this exercise. The benchmarked 
Professional Position Descriptions (PD), which are 
outcomes-based and specify the scope of the role 
and job competency requirements, are still being 
developed.   

HR also created  new templates for Knowledge 
Transfer and Succession Planning. The e-Lamp 
(Emerging Leaders and Management Programme) 
Pilot project brought regional staff participants to 
Laucala campus for Module 1 sessions in early July.  

Participants completed the first half of the Australian 
certification programme. HR also funded regional 
staff members’ registration in Pacific Technical And 
Further Education (Pacific TAFE) regional courses. 
An Online Induction Programme, university-wide 
registration, and provision for automated feedback 
were also created. Communication was enhanced 
to include Advisory Groups for Induction, Early 
Retention, and pilot programmes.  

Programme delivery options were also reviewed to 
ensure equitable access. Finally, HR was also able to 
identify workshops to supplement SDA training (e.g. 
Workload Planning, Staff Experiencing Difficulties, 
SMART goal setting). All of these resources, and the 
mechanisms for feedback that are in place, enable 
USP management and staff to effectively explore 
how performance is connected to behaviour and to 
link the value of recognising excellence with specific 
outcomes.

HR also offered short-term training programmes 
throughout the year. This increased Pacific TAFE 
registration figures due to joint marketing. One 
example of these short-term programmes is the 
Supervisors Certification Training Programme. 
Supervisory staff are required to complete it prior 
to being given the relevant delegated authority and 
access to related online Employer Relations software.  

Supporting Harmonious 
Relationships
SDA Policies were examined in 2014, and by the 
end of the year, were in the final stage of approval, 
having been revised in terms of HR delegations for 
performance management. This is important to ensure 
that supportive staff relationships are built and that 
proper procedures relating to supervisors’ delegated 
responsibilities in performance management are in 
place.

SDA Policies and standardised collective agreements 
in all of USP’s member countries provide full 
information to staff members on their employment 
terms and conditions. An Employee Relations 
Framework Review, initiated in 2014  includes a review 
of delegated responsibilities for issues management, 
discipline, and grievance resolutions.  HR training on 
Employee Relations Skill Building and Supervisory/
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Head of Sections-related Responsibilities also 
commenced.  

The VOICE Staff Engagement Survey was expanded 
in 2014 to provide internal benchmarks. When 
combined with the external benchmarks from 
2013, the survey findings will effectively strengthen 
staff engagement at USP, particularly at the school 
and sectional levels.  The tool firmly establishes the 
importance of an organisational work culture linked 
to USP Values and Staff Attributes to strengthen 
cohesion and constructive goal-focused behaviours.  
With these tools, supervisors can provide better role 
clarity and discuss career path supports using the 
TD&E, JE and SDA tools. 

Internal relationship support, as a strategic initiative 
of HR, was addressed in the Strategic Planning and 
Leadership workshops with the SMT, Heads of 
Schools, Directors and Heads of Sections. Leadership 
direction feedback and capacity building were also 
discussed.  The workshop held on 25-26 April 2014 
was facilitated by Emeritus Professor Geoffrey Scott 
of the University of Western Sydney. 

HR Section considered how best to improve 
USP’s ability to attract and leverage its community 
networks for recruitment purposes.  Recruitment 
outreach through the use of social networking was 
found to successfully generate a range of specialised 
applicants. For instance, with IT-specific networked 
advertisements using Social Media, USP received over 
600 applications which is in addition to the 3,376 
received through the online recruitment system.  
Raising awareness of USP as a professional option is a 
“brand awareness” opportunity.  The achievement of 
over 4000 “like” hits on the HR Facebook site by the 
end of 2014 indicates that USP is a highly-regarded 
employer.

Major Focus in 2015
Looking forward to 2015, HR will continue its work 
to further embed and integrate the five ‘Our People’ 
strategic themes. It is anticipated that, with SMT’s 
support for targeted regional recruitment, ambitious 
development and retention targets can be reached in 
2015.  Other initiatives, particularly for academic and 
professorial positions and succession planning will 
be expanded in 2015. With the TD&E Programme 

pilots underway based on positive SDA integration, 
the stage is now set for the programme to build other 
needed capacity supports.  For instance by the end 
of 2015, a Mentorship Pilot can be anchored within 
these programmes when they are fully implemented. 
The webpage on assessment information for applicants 
will be designed and launched on the HR site. HR 
has also discussed with FALE the use of the English 
Language Assessment Test (IELTS) for candidates for 
entry-level academic positions that support students 
learning English (Teaching Assistants and Assistant 
Lecturers will need an IELTS score of 7 to teach 
English).

In 2015, these strategic initiatives will be carried 
forward.  Based on the VOICE survey action priorities 
for 2015, HR has also identified and developed the 
support needed for effective conflict management. 
The Assessment Centre, when it becomes fully 
functional in 2015, will also support the assessment of 
capacity and skills knowledge transfer, organisational 
skills building and value added/usage measurements. 
Employment Relations Framework and Assessment 
Centre are important components of the “Our 
People” strategic initiatives designed to enable the 
achievement of KPIs, and mitigate risks as they will 
reduce interpersonal conflicts.

Ultimately, as part of the Total Administrative Review 
Project (TARP) strategic initiative, HR envisages 
a number of processes that will better facilitate the 
diverse business needs of the University in terms of 
HR efficacy and quality by the end of 2015. To meet 
the pressing HR complexities of USP, a restructuring 
of the HR section will be completed in 2015.  The 
restructuring will better inform HR delegations, 
systems, policies and procedural revisions. Concurrent 
with the HR automation, the embedded HR 
frameworks and strategic initiative outcomes are all 
coming to fruition in an integrated model.    

The University is now ready to focus on Balanced 
Systems Pathways. This model will be used in 2015 
to complete the foundation of a well-engineered road 
that leads to the second (2016-2018) phase of the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan.
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In order to reach its goals, USP must work ethically, 
efficiently, and effectively. Systems and processes 
are in place so that USP staff can gauge their own 
performance and track institutional progress in 
terms of the highest ethical and quality standards.  
Strong governance systems, informed and committed 
leadership, engaged and motivational management 
personnel, and a commitment to “always do better” 
underpin USP’s operations, and are in place to ensure 
that its goals of excellence are achieved.

During the course of 2014, the University Council 
continued its focus on strengthening governance 
within the Council and amongst University 
Management. An Independent Review of the USP 
Charter and Statutes was carried out by Francis 
Abourizk Lightowlers (FAL) Lawyers of Melbourne, 
following the call of an international tender.   This 
Review examined the University’s governing 
instruments and studied the Council’s membership, 
key nominations and voting rights. 

Although the final report was presented to the 79th 
Council Meeting, held in Suva on 30-31 October,  it 
was decided that the Council would consider all of 
the recommendations in detail at its 80th meeting, 
scheduled to be held in June  2015.    

A key finding of the Review was that the University’s 
Charter does operate to give USP legal standing 
in every country in which it operates, regardless of 
whether the country was part of the Commonwealth 
or not, and even if it has gained independence since 
1968. The issue of USP’s legal standing has long been 
debated, so this finding is significant.

The Consultants also noted that USP was the second-
to-last University to be granted a Royal Charter, which 
is a very prestigious form of legal entity.  This means 
that the substance of the Charter can be amended, 
but its Preamble cannot be changed.    

Meetings of Council
The University Council met twice in 2014.  The 78th 
Meeting was held in Alofi, Niue on 21 & 22 May 2014, 
and was formally opened by the Premier of Niue, Hon 
Toke Talagi. In his address, the Premier affirmed the 
fact that the University plays an extremely important 
role in the development of Niue. He added that his 

Government is pleased with the reports of its Ministry 
of Education on the success of the University, and he 
paid tribute to the Vice-Chancellor and President; and 
the Pro-Chancellor of USP for this. “The University, 
in its strive for excellence and getting recognised as the 
supreme and premier education provider in the region 
and beyond, is something the Government of Niue has 
recognised.”

The 79th USP Council meeting was held in Lami, Fiji 
on 30 & 31 October 2014.  The meeting was opened 
by the Prime Minister of Fiji & Minister iTaukei 
Affairs and Sugar Industry, Rear Admiral (Ret) Hon 
Voreqe Bainimarama. The Prime Minister highlighted 
his government’s Tertiary Education Loans and  
Scholarship Scheme (TELS) which provides funding 
for tertiary education.   

He stated that USP always has to be on the lookout 
for ways that it can contribute to national and regional 
development. He also emphasised that, as the largest 
single contributor (FJ$36 million a year)  to the 
University, the Fijian Government has very high 
expectations of the University to develop governance 
structures that benefit the education of children 
throughout the Pacific and that are consistent with 
development efforts. He called for close co-operation 
between all stakeholders to ensure that educational 
systems from pre-school all the way up to graduate 
school are developed that are relevant to the needs 
of member countries and the labour markets.  
“I believe that the Council is well-placed to assist these 
endeavours and to help shape the future of the region 
through the provision of sound governance structures 
and relevant policies for quality education for our 
young people.” 

Finance and Investments 
Committee  
The Finance and Investments Committee (FIC) 
met four times in 2014 to consider key financial 
governance and management-related activities. It 
recommended that Council approve the Annual Plan, 
the Income and Expenditure Budget, and the Capital 
Expenditure Budget for the University for 2015. The 
Committee also reviewed and provided comments 
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to Council on the University’s half year and annual 
financial statements. During the year, it monitored 
financial performance in relation to the approved 
budget, considered proposals for major capital 
projects, reviewed the financial regulations, proposed 
and approved financial policies, and assessed financial 
risks. 

Audit and Risk Committee  
The Audit & Risk Committee (ARC) met nine 
times in 2014 and discussed fourteen internal audit 
reports. In discussing major issues highlighted in the 
reports, ARC noted the need to visit the Regional 
campuses during the audits, as this would likely 
increase Committee members’ understanding of the 
challenges faced by the campuses. All sections and 
campuses worked to address issues of concern that 
were highlighted in the reports.  

ARC also discussed the 2014 internal and external 
audit timelines; the full-year Financial Accounts of 
the University for 2013; and the new audit service 
providers for the University for the period 2015-
2017. KPMG and PWC were appointed as the internal 
and external audit service providers respectively for 
the University for the period 1 January 2015 to 31 
December 2017.  

Members of ARC whose term had expired in 2014 
were re-appointed as members of ARC by the 
University Council for a further two year period.

Management
The Executive Committee (EC) of Council approved 
the recommendations of the Joint Committee of 
Council and Senate with regard to recruitment for the 
two new positions of Vice-President (Administration) 
and Vice-President (Regional Campuses, Property 
& Facilities). EC was also delegated the authority to 
appoint the new Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Learning, 
Teaching and Student Services. These appointments 
reflect a realignment of the Senior Management 
Team to reflect the core administrative and academic 
responsibilities under the Strategic Plan 2013-2018.

The 78th Council appointed Ms. Fekitamoeloa 
‘Utoikamanu as the Deputy Chair of Council for a 
further three years from 1 July 2014.  Ms ‘Utoikamanu 

is also Deputy Director General of the Secretariat of 
the Pacific Community (SPC).

The Council also approved the upgrade of the 
position of Pro Vice-Chancellor, Research and 
International to that of Deputy Vice-Chancellor, 
Research and International. The new appointments 
and arrangements are expected to boost USP’s ability 
to deliver the Strategic Plan 2013-2018 in full.

Commercial Operations
The financial viability of all University operations 
must be ensured if USP is to successfully develop 
into an excellent institution.  Established in 2012, the 
Commercial Operations section is dedicated to fully 
leveraging the University’s physical assets and making 
sure that it takes up opportunities to be enterprising 
and to diversify USP’s sources of income. 

The section includes USP Book Shop,  
Computer Shop, Staff Residences, USP Lodges 
(comprising Waqavuka Flats International Student 
Accommodation, Marine Lodge and Upper Lodge), 
and leased-out properties (including Statham 
campus buildings, Marine Sea Point Bistro, former 
USP Dining Hall premises, the Southern Cross café 
and Coffee Central café, and a convenience store), 
all of which are located at the Laucala campus. 
During 2014, the following units were added to the 
operation:  Student Halls of Residence, Community 
Recreation Centre (including the gymnasium, 
swimming pool, and other sports facilities), and 
student lockers.  

The operation achieved a total revenue of $16.7m in 
total, as compared to the $17.0m earned in 2013. In 
2014, a net surplus of $4.1m, was recorded, after a 
contribution of $1.8m to USP.

During the year, the 96-bed student accommodation 
was completed.  A further 48-bed student dormitory 
was being built, and is expected to be completed 
in February 2015.  Both of these construction 
projects relate to USP’s plan to increase its student 
accommodation by 1041 beds by 2015. To achieve this 
goal, the University is considering the construction of 
a residential facility for students with at least 400 beds.  
A similar facility, aimed at staff, is another possibility.  
Both of the large housing units will be built under 
private partnership schemes. 
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A five-year Commercial Plan, which would dictate 
operations through to 2018, was prepared and its 
review, involving both by internal and external parties, 
is expected to be completed in early 2015. The plan 
envisages achieving total revenue of approximately 
$25 million, with an operating surplus of close to 
$7.4 million, by the end of 2018. These funds would 
be used to support the University’s core activities.

Commercial section will continue to identify other 
revenue sources for the University, which may in the 
future include building commercial premises which 
can be rented out.

Continuous Improvement
The overriding aim of the Strategic Plan is to 
transform the University from good to excellent on its 
road to becoming a great university. There were some 
major achievements during the year across Priority 
Areas.  For instance, enrolment reached record levels, 
partnerships with a range of financial supporters were 
deepened, USP’s international profile was enhanced, 
thousands of highly qualified and employable 
graduates left USP to join the workforce.  

It is expected that enrolment will increase again in 
2015 at all campuses, which are being improved 
and enlarged to provide high-quality education and 
services to greater numbers of students.  The financial 
situation of the University is very positive, and the 
public, member countries, and development partners 
hold USP in high regard. As the 2015 is the mid-
point of Strategic Plan implementation, all efforts will 
be made to maintain the current rate of progress and 
to surge ahead where possible, so as to ensure that we 
reach our goals according to the timelines that have 
been set.

Accreditation is a significant area of work, as it clearly 
differentiates us from other providers. The externally-
validated quality of USP’s academic offerings is 
valued by employers, and makes USP the first 
choice for students. USP’s education is recognised 
internationally; this makes a USP degree very useful 
for students who wish to have the option to work or 
study outside their home countries and the Pacific 
Islands region. It is important that each year, more 
of USP’s programmes are internationally accredited.  

The newly constructed 11th Hall.
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The Regional Scholarship Team (RST) was established 
in 2006 following the signature of a contract between 
Australia’s Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade 
and USP. The contract requires USP to provide 
academic and non-academic support to Australia 
Awards Pacific Scholarships (AAPS) sponsored 
students in return for a management fee. In August, 
DFAT Canberra sent an audit team to review the 
RST project. This was the first audit of project, and 
considered seven areas. USP was pleased with the 
audit results, as this project is very well and effectively 
managed. This is significant achievement, validation 
and recognition of the management of Australian 
scholarships at USP.

The Seven Pillar Assessment report prepared by the 
External Auditor, KPMG was finalised and submitted 
to the European Commission in November 2014. 
The Pillar Assessment report indicates that USP 
has performed well under the pillars assessed. The 
Ambassador of the EU Delegation has congratulated 
the University on the positive outcome of the Pillar 
Assessment conducted by KPMG.

In November, the University Grants Committee 
(UGC) conducted a Mid-Term Review. UGC met 
with a number of stakeholders and has noted that 
the University has continued to make very good 
progress.  Every year since 2008, USP has performed 
better than projected. There has been a significant 
improvement in the quality of the University offerings 
demonstrated by a number of accreditations. USP has 
also strengthened the embedding of the University 
in our member countries and the support from 
stakeholders including development partners, and 
member countries have gone up significantly.  

Outstanding research underpins excellent scholarship 
and is central to a world-class university. As USP 
works to improve its academic rigour and attain 
greater recognition of its quality, the development 
of a research culture is very important.  Increasing 
the level, scale, visibility and impact of research is a 
major objective, and while progress is being made, 
it must be given greater priority in the year to come.  

In order to significantly improve research at USP, all 
staff must consider the inclusion of different academic 
areas to foster multi-disciplinary approaches, involve 
students more in research projects, carry out research 
projects at the regional campuses, and effectively and 
creatively disseminate research results. 

USPNet supports all of USP’s operations and all 
of the learning and teaching that goes on. With 
data and software upgrades, better processes, and 
the acquisition of greater bandwidth, combined 
with better fibre connectivity, there should be 
demonstrable improvements in the efficiency of ITS 
and the satisfaction of users in 2015.   

Major Focus in 2015
The successful completion of the entire University 
Grants Committee (UGC) exercise of paper 
submission, discussions, and the meeting, followed by 
the endorsement of the member country Ministers of 
Finance- will be crucial to the future sustainability of 
USP. UGC process supports the achievement of the 
Strategic Plan KPIs and the University's ambitions to 
achieve excellence. A review of the funding formula 
for member country contributions will also be carried 
out.

The staffing situation is much better than it has been 
for several years, with key positions filled. SMT will 
be at full strength, although DVC Research and 
International will leave USP at the end of April 2015.

As the UGC cycle moves forward, and with intense 
competition in the tertiary education system in the 
Pacific, it is vital that the University increases its 
level of engagement with its member countries, 
development partners and other stakeholders even 
further to ensure a bright future for the University.

A review of the Strategic Plan is scheduled for 2015, 
and will determine whether the goals that have been 
set for 2018 are realistically achievable.  Areas where 
challenges or issues have been encountered will  be 
assessed, and plans for the way forward will be drawn 
up. The commitment of all staff will be required as 
this exercise is carried out.



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT 77

QUALITy
MATTERS



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT
78

The University is totally committed to the maintenance 
and enhancement of the academic quality and 
standards in the delivery of its core business. Striving 
for excellence is foremost for all staff and they will 
continue to evaluate and reflect on the quality of the 
educational experiences provided for students and 
make improvements where necessary. Institutional 
and programme accreditations, academic programme 
and support section reviews, quality audits, surveys 
and compliance and registrations form essential 
quality assurance practices of the University. 

Accreditation Progress
The Western Association of Schools and Colleges 
Senior Colleges and University Commission 
(WSCUC) is one of six regional higher-education 
accrediting agencies in the United States. USP has 
elected to seek accreditation from WSCUC for a 
number of reasons. Not only will accreditation increase 
USP’s international standing but it will also facilitate 
the transfer of students from the former American 
territories in the Northern Pacific by enabling access 
to government funding for USP education. USP 
is classified as an international institution and was 
required to submit an Initial Application as a start of 
a multi-stage process of WSCUC accreditation, which 
could take 4-6 years. 

Following a successful assessment of USP’s Initial 
Application in May 2014, an onsite Diagnostic Visit 
to the Laucala campus was conducted in October 
2014. Two WSCUC Commissioners, Dr. William 
Platter and Professor Ronald Carter, assessed how well 
the University is prepared for the Eligibility Criteria, 
which are basic qualifications that an institution of 
higher education must meet to be considered for 
initial accreditation by WSCUC. In order to make this 
judgment, the Commissioners met with members of 
staff, students, Council members, alumni and officers 
from both the Fiji Higher Education Commission 
and the US embassy. Video conference meetings were 
held with the Chief Executive Officers of the Samoa 
Qualifications Authority and the Tonga National 
Qualifications and Accrediting Board. The following 
statement was provided by the Commissioners, as 
part of their Diagnostic Visit Report.

“The University of the South Pacific (USP) has submitted 
the initial application for accreditation to the WASC 
Senior College and University Commission (WSCUC). 
WSCUC has reviewed the initial application, conducted 
an on-site diagnostic visit, and determined that USP 
is ready to proceed to Application for Eligibility for 
Accreditation, the first step in a multi-stage process 
leading to accreditation. A determination of Eligibility 
is not a formal status with the accrediting Commission, 
and it does not ensure eventual accreditation; it is a 
preliminary finding that the institution is potentially 
accreditable and can proceed within four years of an 
eligibility determination to be reviewed for Candidacy 
status with the Senior College and University 
Commission. Questions about eligibility may be directed 
to WSCUC at http:/wascsenior.org/.” 

This is a very positive outcome and is indicative of 
WSCUC’s confidence in the quality of USP’s processes 
and procedures. The University is committed to 
making steady progress with its application and 
securing accreditation by 2018.

Programme and Support Section 
Reviews 
WSCUC places a great deal of emphasis on 
programme reviews as a key element of institutional 
quality assurance and improvement. It considers those 
reviews to be valid means of assessing the achievement 
of institutional and programme learning outcomes. 
The University has completed Stage 2 of the WSCUC 
accreditation process and, to comply with WSCUC 
documentation requirements, the current University 
Academic Review Policy, Procedures and Guidelines 
were revised. The revised set of programme review 
documents also addressed one of the Academic 
Quality Audit (AQA) Report recommendations on 
programme reviews.

Off-shore reviews were undertaken for the Biology, 
Geography and Physics disciplines in 2014. A highly 
positive Review Report has been received for the 
Geography discipline, and we are awaiting the reports 
from the External Advisers for Biology and Physics.  

In  late August, USP  requested that  the Commonwealth 
of Learning (COL) lead an international panel to 
review the efficiency and effectiveness of  flexible 
learning (FL) provision at USP. The Panel was 



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT 79

invited to review the overall strategic direction and 
operational effectiveness of Flexible Learning (FL) at 
USP, the FL programmes and courses, the structures 
that support FL, and the development and delivery 
of FL. The Panel was also requested to recommend 
steps that would deliver the University’s strategy 
and aspiration to be “internationally recognised 
as the region’s knowledge hub, and as one of the 
world’s leading universities in flexible and technology 
supported learning” (Strategic Plan 2013–2018, p. 
20). 

The COL Review was chaired by Professor Asha 
Kanwar, President and CEO of Commonwealth 
Learning (COL), who was joined by Professor Belinda 
Tynan, Pro Vice-Chancellor (Learning and Teaching) 
of the Open University, United Kingdom; Professor 
Mark Brown, Dublin City University, Ireland and 
Dr. Sanjaya Mishra, Director, Commonwealth 
Educational Media Centre for Asia. The team visited 
Laucala, Emalus, and Solomon Islands campuses to 
assess strengths and gaps in existing practices and 
processes related to FL strategy. The Report has made 
a number of recommendations, commendations and 
affirmations that will guide the University in the 
future as it strives to increase its programme offerings 
via flexible learning. 

Programme Accreditation 
USP is very proud of its academic programmes, which 
our stakeholders and employers throughout the region 
inform us produce very knowledgeable and capable 
graduates. This feedback is valuable and enables us to 
make improvements as the region’s needs and the job 
markets require. The accreditation process is another 
means through which USP tests its quality, and is an 
impartial quality endorsement that can be used and 
understood by people anywhere in the world.  Having 
internationally-accredited programmes boost USP’s 
reputation and provide assurance to prospective staff, 
students, and institutional partners who may not be 
familiar with USP and its role in the Pacific Islands 
region.  

In 2014, the School of Management and Business 
Administration began to pursue accreditation from 
the UK- based Programme Accreditation Scheme 
known as European Programme Accreditation 

System (EPAS), run by the European Foundation for 
Management Development. 

The School of Social Sciences also prepared to seek 
accreditation of its social work programmes from the 
Australian Community Workers Association (ACWA). 

The Pacific TAFE which provides vocational & 
professional programmes and short courses at the 
University, commenced work on registration as 
a Registered Training Organisation (RTO) with 
Australian Skills and Qualifications Authority (ASQA) 
in 2014. 

The School of Accounting and Finance received a 
renewal of accreditation until 2018 for its Bachelor of 
Commerce –Accounting. 

The Bachelor of  Laws programme received 
recognition of some of its courses from the Law 
Admissions Consultative Committee (LACC) of the 
Law Council of Australia.

All Schools are expected to pursue accreditation in 
sync with the Strategic Plan 2013-2018 to maintain 
a sharp focus on academic excellence and graduate 
employability.

External Quality Audit Follow-
Up
The University received the final report of the 2013 
External Quality Audit from the Academic Quality 
Agency for New Zealand Universities (AQA) in 
March 2014. As a requirement of AQA, the report 
was immediately published on the USP web site. The 
University’s view was that it was fair and balanced.  
USP received 12 commendations, 7 affirmations, and 
30 recommendations in the report.  

To ensure that the recommendations and affirmations 
were systematically addressed, an Implementation 
Framework was developed by the Planning and 
Quality Office. This Framework was used to develop 
an Audit Implementation Plan. Members of the 
Senior Management Team who were given Executive 
responsibilities provided initial responses to the 
recommendations and affirmations related to their 
areas of responsibility.  
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Progress on the post-audit actions taken were 
presented to 2014 Council meetings. A visit to follow-
up on progress made to address the recommendations 
and affirmations by the Chair of the Audit Panel, 
Professor David Mackay is planned for March 2015.

ACU Benchmarking
USP was one of 11 countries that participated in the 
2014 Benchmarking Programme coordinated by the 
Association of Commonwealth Universities (ACU). 
ACU Strategic Management Programme (formerly, 
the Commonwealth University Management 
Benchmarking Programme) was formed under the 
auspices of the then Commonwealth Higher Education 
Management Service (CHEMS), and commenced its 
work in 1996. It is now managed and run by ACU, 
and aims to measure and promote excellence in 
university management. Universities from Australia 
(4), Canada (2), Kenya(1), New Zealand (1), South 
Africa(1) and Zimbabwe(1) also took part. 

The benchmarking exercise focused on the topics of 
(i) Ethical Governance; (ii) Quality Management; 
and (iii) Student Support. The programme provided 

a great deal of useful insight into the ways in which 
different universities approach similar problems, deal 
with externally changing circumstances, and seek 
to improve their effectiveness. For USP, changes to 
be made in the methodology are more at the ‘fine 
tuning’ rather than fundamental level.  

Registration with Fiji’s Higher 
Education Commission
In 2013, the Committee for the Accreditation of 
University Qualifications (CAUQ) was launched by 
the Fiji Higher Education Commission (FHEC). The 
members of the Committee are the Vice-Chancellors 
of the three Universities in Fiji, and it is tasked 
with evaluating and deciding on the accreditation 
of programmes and qualifications proposed by the 
Universities in accordance with established criterion, 
on behalf of the FHEC.

Approval of programmes by the CAUQ results in 
those programmes being eligible for funding from 
the Fiji Government. A two-day training workshop 
for a pool of future Programme Evaluators from 
the three Universities was facilitated by FHEC and 
hosted by USP at the USP-ICT Conference Centre in 
September 2014.

Members of the Academic Quality Agency for NZ Universities (AQA)audit panel at USP Laucala campus
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Tonga and Samoa
The University received registration confirmation as a 
Higher Education provider from the Tongan National 
Qualification & Accreditation Board (TNQAB) on 
19 September and from the Samoa Qualifications 
Authority (SQA) on 30 September.  The registrations 
were granted after assessment of USP’s submissions 
for registration. 

Student Feedback on Quality
Student feedback is used to assess students’ needs 
and demands, to inform planned improvements, 
and to measure satisfaction and quality perceptions. 
Measured primarily by means of student surveys, 
feedback from students at all levels is important to 
the University’s efforts to improve the quality of its 
academic programmes and student support services. 
Various institutional-level student surveys are 
administered, and are complimented by additional 
surveys specific to academic and support sections. 

Survey of Second Year Students (SSYS) collects 
students’ expectations and levels of satisfaction 
relating to their first year at the University. The 2014 
SSYS revealed that 79% of students are satisfied overall 
with their first year of studies at the University. 

The Student Evaluation of Courses (SEC) collects 
responses from undergraduate and postgraduate 
students on their learning experiences in each 
course in which they are enrolled. This provides an 
opportunity for students to actively participate in 
the continual improvement of the courses and also 
enables the University to improve the design and 
delivery of courses. The rate of student satisfaction 
with their courses was 88% in 2014. 

The Graduate Destination Survey (GDS) and 
Programme Experience collects feedback from 
graduates on their employment, further studies, 
programme relevance and university experience. 
This survey is conducted every semester prior to the 
graduation date. GDS in Semester 1 targets students 

who have completed their studies in Semester 2 of the 
previous year, while Semester 2 targets students who 
have completed their studies in the previous semester.  
Student satisfaction with their overall programme 
experience was 89%. The survey also revealed that 
75% of the graduates had taken up employment 
on a full- or part-time basis. Government statutory 
agencies and the public services of USP’s Member 
countries are noted to be the major employers of USP 
graduates. 

The Student VOICE Survey (SVS) was introduced 
for the first time in 2014 as a pilot study to gauge 
student satisfaction with the services provided by the 
University. The survey was open to all students at all 
levels, at all locations, and studying in all modes.  The 
overall student satisfaction rate for this survey was 
88%.

Major Focus in 2015

A key component of the work on Quality Matters will 
be the facilitation of the accreditation processes- at the 
institutional level with respect to the WSCUC, and 
at the programme level with international agencies. 
WSCUC have indicated that there may be a revision 
of their protocols, which would mean a shorter time 
to accreditation. 

There will be a focus on strengthening the processes 
around cyclic reviews by external reviewers, as well as 
stakeholder feedback through surveys. Attention will 
also be directed to addressing the recommendations 
and affirmations in the 2013 External Audit Report 
from AQA. 

A second follow-up visit by AQA either in October 
2015 or early 2016 will be scheduled. Feedback 
from reviews, surveys and external audits must be 
utilised better for decision making and continuous 
improvement at the University.
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As a large public university and as a regional 
organisation, USP actively nurtures and encourages 
good citizenship amongst its staff and students.  

Good citizenship is celebrated at USP; the idea of 
service for the greater good is one which permeates 
both University decision-making and the USP 
student experience. The University measures its 
own corporate citizenship primarily in terms of 
achievements in the areas of widening access, health 
promotion, environmental stewardship, and cultural 
preservation. In its capacity as a higher education 
provider with a duty to offer students a well-rounded 
academic and personal growth experience, and as a 
future-oriented regional organisation with close ties 
to all the communities of which it is a part, USP is 
involved with socially responsible activities in a wide 
variety of topical and geographical areas .     

The University is committed to the values of Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR), and is determined to 
contribute meaningfully to the lasting prosperity of 
the region. These convictions inform our corporate 
actions and, throughout 2014, USP’s contributions 
to communities did make a difference- both to those 
communities and to our staff and students, all of 
whom were enriched by the experience of working 
together.   As we help people to lead healthier and 
more productive lives, and work to understand, 
safeguard and improve our natural environment, our 
institutional performance is enhanced and we progress 
toward the achievement of excellence in 2018.      

Creating an Understanding of 
Social Responsibility 
The University is aware of the soft skills that the job 
market prioritises and that are needed in communities, 
and tries to provide opportunities for its students 
to develop those capabilities while enriching the 
University and local surrounds through their actions.   
By listening to students and engaging with student 
associations, the University is further able to identify 
areas where it can work, as an institution, in a more 
inclusive, sustainable fashion and where it can help 
students and staff to, as individuals, make positive 
contributions, by giving their ideas, time, funds, or 
labour.  

Creating an Inclusive 
Environment
The University is serious about dramatically improving 
its inclusiveness and acting as example to the region 
of how to do this. The Disabilities Office, set up in 
2012, developed the USP Inclusiveness Policy, which 
was adopted in 2013. Following this, the Disabilities 
Office had a stronger mandate and expanded the 
services it offered. Throughout 2014, programmes to 
raise awareness of disabilities, eliminate discrimination, 
and celebrate individuality were rolled out, and more 
comprehensive and personalised assistance was offered 
across USP to staff and students with disabilities.  

As USP staff and students with disabilities become 
increasingly visible, at the campuses and in the media, 
the wider communities are also coming to understand 
that people with disabilities deserve to be treated as 
everyone else and fully supported to achieve their full 
potential.   

Corporate Social Responsibility 
Activities
CSR initiatives and programmes are overseen by 
the Vice-Chancellor & President’s Office, with the 
involvement of Campus Life, Human Resources, 
and Development, Marketing, and Communications 
section.  Individual faculties and campuses have also 
been quick to become involved and have pursued 
many activities which are relevant to their academic 
areas or local context. Several activities that took 
place in 2014 demonstrate how USP is making 
an impact as an organisation and enabling and 
encouraging individual members of its community to 
use their knowledge, talents, and goodwill to improve 
people’s lives and safeguarding our environment. The 
following information, grouped into impact areas, is 
an overview of USP’s involvement in CSR.  

Active and Healthy People- Promoting Human 
Health and Wellness

The Pacific Islands have alarming rates of non-
communicable diseases, many of which can be 
prevented through the adoption of healthier lifestyles. 
USP is committed to promoting good health and 
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sport to all members of its community.  The athletic 
facilities and preventative services offered by the 
Health and Counselling Centres have achieved good 
rates of attendance and uptake.  

Competitions make sport more interesting and 
exciting to many, and so several staff and student 
sporting associations were involved in competitive 
fixtures in 2014.  

The University’s rugby team had an outstanding 
season, and were gifted with new jerseys to mark 
their achievements; from 2015, the USP Team will 
feature in the Premier Division of Suva Club Rugby.   
In May, more than 150 students from Alafua campus 
took part in the Samoa University Games, held at 
the National University of Samoa (NUS). The fun-
filled event stimulated students’ interest in sport and 
a healthy lifestyle. 

USP partnered with Basketball Fiji and FIBA Oceania 
to stage an international U19 basketball tournament 
in December, which was a great opportunity to play 
at a high-level and, for spectators, to enjoy watching 
extremely skilful players. Staff also took part in 
sporting competitions; for example, the Staff Football 
Club played frequently and recorded good results. 
USP Islanders Netball Club (USP-INC), known as 
the Reefs, also had a very good season, competing 
against formidable competitors such as the Fiji 
National A side.  

Not all USP staff and students will compete at the 
highest levels, although we are very proud when they 
do so. There is a depth of sporting talent in the Pacific 
Islands that is yet to be fully explored. The main 
point of sporting competition at USP is to generate 
excitement about an active healthy lifestyle, to provide 
a wholesome and healthy diversion from work and 
studies, and to showcase technical and athletic skills. 

There are other aspects to good health, and the 
Campus Life section worked diligently to encourage 
both staff and students to improve their health and 
maintain an active lifestyle on a budget. In partnership 
with the Ministry of Health, the section staged a 
Health Week in May and urged all participants to 

commit to their good health, through competitions, 
physical activity classes, health information sessions, 
cooking demonstrations and physical examinations. 
Further Health Week will be held to build enthusiasm 
about healthy living and provide information to all 
who wish to make positive changes.  

Promoting and Preserving Cultures

As one of the Pacific Islands’ largest regional 
organisations, which examine arts and culture from an 
academic standpoint, USP is well-placed to promote 
Pacific cultures and raise awareness of cultural diversity 
so that young people throughout the region will be 
interested in preserving Pacific heritage. 

Cultural promotion is a key component of USP’s 
work in the area of CSR. The Oceania Centre for Arts, 
Culture, and Pacific Studies (OCACPS) identifies 
campus and community events where their work can 
be displayed and shared to grow cultural appreciation.  
For example, OCACPS held a two-week workshop, 
led by a Niuean-born and Auckland-based poet, artist, 
and painter, on painting stories based on legends of the 
Gods of Oceania in April.  The Outreach Coordinator 
for Polynesia at OCACPS, who is based at Alafua, 
choreographed the cultural ceremony at the opening 
of the 3rd International Conference on SIDS in Apia 
in August. USP’s Oceania Dance Theatre (ODT) 
group provided cultural performances at a Side Event 
of the same conference.  

The Pacific Heritage Hub, UNESCO’s world 
heritage arm in the Pacific is based at USP and has 
been working to develop links between communities, 
UNESCO in Paris, and Pacific Island Governments.  
Staff and students are encouraged to engage with 
Hub as well, and more easy ways to do this will be 
promoted in 2015. 

The Islands in the World Oceania International Film 
Festival was staged at the Laucala campus in April.  
The first performance of the stage musical, Karmen 
by Igelese Ete and Larry Thomas was held at USP’s 
Japan-Pacific ICT Centre in April. This stunning 
performance was based on the French opera by 
Georges Bizet.  
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In terms of languages and the arts, Dr Mohit Prasad 
was recognised for his contributions to language 
revival in the Fiji diaspora by the Fiji Canada Day 
Celebrations Board (FCDCB) in August. Dr Prasad 
also directed a theatre group, based at the Labasa 
campus, which performed for diabetes patients in 
hospital in May. They promote diabetes awareness 
through dance to communities, schools, and at USP 
Open Day.  

USP’s Indian Students Association (USPISA) aimed 
to bridge all cultural divides as its members invited all 
students to celebrate ‘Holi’, or the Festival of Colours.  
They shared songs, dances, games, and sweets with all 
at the Laucala campus. Throughout the year, many 
of USP’s Student Associations impressed their fellow 
students and their instructors with cultural displays at 
events such as Orientation Week and Open Day.  

The growing numbers of international and exchange 
students also enthusiastically shared cultural items. 
Twenty students from Japan visited Laucala campus in 
February as part of the Global Leaders Development 
(GLD) Programme. The ten-day visit involved the 
students learning about Fijian culture and tradition.   

Widening Community Access to 
Knowledge
USP seeks to broaden the accessibility of intellectual 
resources, beyond its students and campuses to the 
community at large. This is undertaken in numerous 
ways, from enrichment activities for secondary school 
students to alumni events and the provision of free 
online databases.  

USP’s  continued  leadership in the Association 
of Heads of Tertiary Institutions in the Pacific 
Islands enables it to promote CSR, accessibility, 
and community activities to other educational 
organisations in the region. USP seeks to encourage 
other institutions to carry out charitable work and 
instil in students the importance of giving back to 
the community as, with all educational endeavours, 
shaping student attitudes and moral values reaps 
longstanding dividends.  

Through the Pacific Islands Legal Information 
Institute (PacLII) project of the School of Law, USP 
offers reliable online access to legal information, 

USP Blood Drive at Laucala Campus.
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including treaties, which is relevant to the Pacific 
Islands. This information is available at no cost to the 
users of the PacLII web site. 

USP encourages the private sector to interact with 
staff and students. Companies support the educational 
achievements of USP students through the sponsorship 
of USP’s events such as Orientation Week and Open 
Day, and through awards such as the Gold Medals 
which are presented each April. USP increased its 
interactions with the private sector throughout 2014 
in order to secure more funding for academic pursuits, 
grow work placement opportunities for students, and 
encourage more mature students to access higher 
education.  Open lectures and panel discussions often 
interest the private sector, including sponsors, and are 
opportunities for all members of the community to 
engage in intellectual discussions.  

USP Alumni are valued members of the community, 
and, with each year that passes, USP Alumni Network 
grows in strength and in numbers. For example, 2014 
saw the first USP Alumni function held in Niue in 
May.  A dinner for MBA alumni was held in Fiji in 
November, and proved to be a valuable corporate 
networking opportunity for attendees.  

Campaigning for and Creating Healthier 
Environments

USP’s vision for 2018 features beautiful, green and 
healthy campuses, which generate some of their own 
energy, prioritise re-use and recycling, and are full of 
responsible staff and students who understand the 
impacts of Climate Change in the region. We hope 
to work to create an environmental consciousness 
amongst the public as well, and firmly believe that 
a well-informed and supportive community can be 
developed through the interventions of the University. 
Several activities that took place in 2014 demonstrate 
how USP is working to create healthier environments, 
both on-campus and in communities.  

Funded projects

In January, the Lifelong Learning for Energy Security, 
Access and Efficiency in the African and Pacific SIDS 
(LEAP) project was officially launched. The three-
year half million Euro project will be coordinated 

by Hamburg University of Applied Sciences in 
partnership with USP, University of Mauritius and 
Papua New Guinea University of Technology.  

Also, early in the year, The University of the South 
Pacific’s Institute of  Applied Sciences (IAS) was 
engaged in a regional multi-disciplinary WASH 
(Water Sanitation and Hygiene) project in four Pacific 
Island countries. This was done in collaboration with 
researchers from the Monash University (MU) in 
Melbourne, the International Water Centre (IWC) 
in Brisbane and the University of North Carolina 
(UNC) in USA.    

In early 2014, a long-term partnership between USP 
and the people of Navakavu, Rewa was announced.  
As a result of the cooperation, the Navakavu area 
was declared to be one of the best managed in-
shore fisheries in the tropical Pacific, according to 
a report by United Nations Food and Agriculture 
Organisation (UN FAO) Consultant Robert Gillett. 
Navakavu is often used as a field-trip site for classes, 
and the Institute of Applied Sciences has long worked 
with the community.   

At the end of the year, the EU-funded Pacific 
Technical and Vocational Education and Training on 
Sustainable Energy and Climate Change Adaptation 
(PACTVET) project was launched. This project will 
enhance regional and national capacity and technical 
expertise to respond to Climate Change Adaptation 
(CCA) and sustainable energy (SE) challenges, 
thereby enhancing sustainable livelihoods.  

The Institute of Applied Science (IAS) mounted 
an expedition into the mountains of Guadalcanal, 
Solomon Islands to further Pacific biodiversity 
research. Team members, including taxonomic experts 
from the Pacific and overseas, involved local people 
and documented the flora and fauna. The more that is 
known of the region’s biodiversity the easier it will be 
to argue for its protection and to find ways of using it 
sustainably for economic gains.

Energy Savings

In addition to implementing projects, USP has 
worked to protect the natural environment through 
energy-saving initiatives. Properties and Facilities 
section installed occupancy sensor light switches 
in staff toilets in 2014, and, at a campus as large as 
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Laucala, that will save a great deal of energy over 
time. These sixteen devices installed will decrease 
energy consumption and result in cost savings. Similar 
energy-saving modifications are being considered for 
other campuses.  

USP won the Commitment Award in the “2014 
Private Sector Energy Saver Competition” organised 
by the Fiji Ministry of Infrastructure and Transport. 
This competition promotes energy conservation 
and efficiency, and the award acknowledges USP’s 
consistent efforts in this area. In fact, as part of 
its commitment to energy savings, the School 
of Engineering and Physics (SEP) conducted a 
Solar Technicians Workshop for 17 participants in 
July.  Held at the new Renewable Energy Training 
Centre at  Laucala, the week-long workshop was the 
continuation of the USP/Arizona State University 
(ASU) Vocational Training and Education for Clean 
Energy (VOCTEC) programme, and followed the 
two ‘Training of Trainers’ (TOT) workshops and  a 
number of Regional Technicians Workshops. Not 
only is USP committed to saving energy itself as an 
institution, it is committed to enabling others to save 
energy and to increasing the efficient use of renewable 
energy sources.  

Inspiring Pacific Youth
As part of its CSR commitment, the University 
endeavours to offer high-quality education, training, 
and opportunities to youths at the secondary stage 
and to other youths in the community who may not 
have thought they could access a USP education.  It 
also creates opportunities for USP students to gain 
practical skills which they can use in communities.  

In September, FALE staged the 2014 Youth 
Leadership Forum (YLF) on “Entrepreneurship: 
Taking the initiative” in order to develop civic-
minded and socially responsible youth leaders. This 
third forum was attended by close to 100 students.    

The European Union (EU) project implemented 
by USP and the Foundation for Rural Integrated 
Enterprises and Development (FRIEND) graduated 
117 unemployed youth in November as part of the 
Youth Employment Network (YEN) programme. 

In December, 65 Fiji secondary students took part in 
the “Become a Young Scientist” Camp organised by 

the Faculty of Science, Technology and Environment 
(FSTE). This camp enabled the young students to 
experience applied science and generated excitement 
about various study and career possibilities for science 
graduates.   

USP also helped teachers in the region to practice their 
craft more skilfully.  In March, the E-Learning Centre 
trained more than 300 primary school teachers to 
better assist students with the use of technology.  The 
Teacher Educational Resource & E-Learning Centre 
(TEREC) donated 10 computers and educational 
books to Community Learning and Information 
Centres (CLIC) in Molituva village, Kuku, Tailevu 
and Kasavu in Naitasiri in May.  This gift to the 
community was carried out in collaboration with the 
USP Library and Library Services of Fiji.  In addition, 
the Science Teachers Accelerated Programme (STAP), 
implemented in Samoa for science teachers from 
June, aimed to lift the standards of secondary science 
teaching there, and was developed in response to a 
request from the Samoan government.  

Embedding CSR in USP’s Journey 
to Excellence
Through its policies and actions, USP has shown its 
full commitment to the principles of Corporate Social 
Responsibility. The University seeks to provide a 
high-quality education, offer unparalleled volunteer 
and community service opportunities to its students, 
make practical training and knowledge readily 
available to the community, and promote Pacific 
values and good individual and corporate citizenship.    
By undertaking activities in the areas of inclusiveness, 
healthy living, cultural preservation and promotion, 
community education, youth opportunities, and 
environmental protection, USP shows that caring 
for people, and for the planet, can be consistent with 
outstanding organisational performance and financial 
management.  

USP’s social responsibilities are relevant to its journey 
to excellence, the success of which is linked to how 
its core values translate into concrete actions. We 
are proud that this institution is centred on service, 
sustainability, and a better future for Pacific people, 
and CSR reminds us all of that.
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2014 Financial Overview
The financial results for 2014 show that the University has continued its trend seen over the past few years of 
increasing operating surpluses. The University ended 2014 with an operating surplus of $4.9m compared to an 
operating deficit of $1.9m in 2013. There was also an overall growth in net assets of $5.0m to $109.9m from 
$104.9m in 2013.
Five Year Summary of Key Financial Statistics

The key financial figures over the last five years are summarised in the table below.

Particulars
2010

($m)

2011

($m)

2012

($m)

2013

($m)

2014

($m)

Income 136.4 141.4 161.8 172.5 180.8

Expenditure 134.4 137.1 157.1 174.4 175.9

Surplus/(Deficit) 2.0 4.3 4.7 (1.9) 4.9

Operating surplus as % of 
income 1.5 3.3 2.9 (1.1) 2.7

Cash generated from 
operating activities 16.1 14.3 (.3) 4.6 7.3

Capital expenditure 7.0 10.9 9.7 6.8 11.6

Cash and cash equivalent 54.2 57.5 47.5 45.3 45.6

Borrowing 4.7

Results for the Year

The results for 2014 show the University continues to improve its financial performance and is strengthening its 
financial position. Income has continued to grow but the pressure on costs and the need to invest for the long term 
continue to be significant. The 2014 surplus generated of 2.7% of income is not sufficient to maintain long term 
sustainability of the University.

The key highlights for the 2014 financial year are as follows:

•	 Total	Income	increased	by	5%	to	$180.8m.
•	 Total	Expenditure	increased	by	1%	to	$175.9m.
•	 Operating	surplus	increased	to	$4.9m	representing	2.7%	of	total	income.
•	 Cash	and	cash	equivalent	increased	by	$0.3m	to	$45.6m.
•	 Borrowing	was	$4.7m	for	the	year.
•	 Capital	investment	totalled	$11.6m.
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Income

Income for 2014 increased by 4.8% to $180.8m from $172.5m in 2013. All components of income increased 
compared to 2013. The main areas of income increases were:
•	 Government	funding	increased	by	$1.6m	to	$49.5m.
•	 Tuition	fees	increased	by	12.3%	to	$43.9m,	largely	due	to	growth	in	enrolments	of	4%.	The	growth	in	income	

also reflects an increase in postgraduate student enrolments and higher fee levels for MBA courses.
•	 Development	assistance	showed	a	slight	increase	to	$51.3m	from	$51.0m	in	2013.
•	 Other	income	-	comprising	components	of	trading,	consultancy,	interest	and	deferred	revenue	income,	increased	

by 4.7% to $36.0m from $34.4m in 2013. 

During	the	year,	income	from	development	assistance	remained	the	largest	source	of	revenue	for	the	University.	
Development	assistance	income	decreased	to	28.4%	in	2014	from	29.7%	in	2013,	compared	to	member	contributions,	
which	dropped	from	29.7%	in	2013	to	27.4%	in	2014.	Student	fees	(24.3%),	trading	income	(10.5%)	and	other	
income (9.4%) make up the other funding sources during the year.
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Expenditure

Total expenditure increased slightly by 1% to $175.9m.
Staff	costs	increased	by	$3.7m	or	5.0%	to	$82.2m.	Staff	costs	remain	the	largest	component	of	expenditure,	and	
comprise	46.7%	of	total	expenditure.	The	increase	in	staff	costs	was	attributed	to	salary	pay	increases,	increments,	
and bonuses. 

Operating	costs	of	$79.1m	reduced	by	$5.9m,	a	reduction	of	6%.		The	reduction	in	operating	costs	was	driven	by	
efficiency	gains	generated	during	the	year,	slower	spending	of	deferred	maintenance	and	strategic	plan	costs,	and	
lower cost of sales.

The net impact of the increase in salary and reduction in operating costs was an increase in total expenditure of 
$1.5m.

Pay Non Pay Provisions

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Year

Am
ou

nt
 ($

M
)

65.33

64.60 62.40
67.43

78.51
82.20

4.41

70.64

4.07

90.72 94.30

1.61

92.17

1.51



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT 91

Cash Flow and Financing

The	 University	 generated	 $7.3m	 of	 net	 cash	 flow	 from	 operating	 activities,	 compared	 to	 $2.8m	 in	 2013.	 The	
increase	was	attributed	to	additional	cash	flows	from	increase	in	development	assistance	support	and	tuition	fees,	
with	drop	in	operating	costs,	offset	by	increase	in	staffing	costs.

The	University	spent	$11.6m	on	capital	expenditure,	and	drew	down	$4.7m	in	long	term	financing	from	ADB	and	
Fiji	National	Provident	Fund.	Overall	this	resulted	in	a	net	increase	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents	of	$2.2m,	compared	
to a deficit of $2.4m in 2013.

The	available	cash	reserve	at	the	end	of	the	year	was	adequate	to	operate	the	University	for	1.9	months,	slightly	
below the required period of 2 months. This is however masked by a huge backlog of capital expenditures approved 
but not yet spent. The University aims to generate more cash in the coming years in order to meet its cash reserve 
target,	and	to	generate	more	cash	to	invest	into	infrastructure	and	long	term	strategy.

Financial Position

The	University’s	net	assets	totalled	$109.9m,	an	increase	of	$5.0m	or	4.7%	higher	than	2013.

Capital	 assets	 of	 $208.6m	 include	 net	 investments	 in	 land,	 buildings	 and	 equipment	 and	 represent	 75%	 of	 the	
University’s total assets. The increase in total assets was driven primarily by growth in capital assets. Student debt 
level	remains	high,	requiring	improvement	with	creditor	balances	showing	a	reduction	compared	to	last	year.	

The	Borrowing	of	$4.7m	was	drawn	down	during	the	year	to	build	the	new	student	hostel,	and	commencement	of	
the new Kiribati campus.

Financial Strategy

FIC adopted some industry benchmarks to measure the University’s financial performance intended to ensure 
financial sustainability. These targets were put in place to ensure that the University generates sufficient resources to 
be	able	to	deliver	on	its	strategic	plan,	and	to	provide	some	level	of	flexibility	allowing	the	University	to	respond	to	
changes in the external environment. 

Overall,	the	financial	viability	ratios	are	slightly	below	the	targets	set	for	the	last	5	years,	indicating	a	higher	level	of	
financial	risks	in	the	short	term,	which	needs	to	be	addressed	in	the	next	triennium	before	it	could	have	an	impact	
on	the	long	term	financial	sustainability	of	the	University.	The	financial	liquidity	ratios	are	above	the	benchmark,	
which indicate that the University is able to meet its short term cash obligations. 

The	University,	however,	will	need	to	build	its	cash	reserves	over	the	long	term	to	be	able	to	adjust	for	changes	
caused	 by	 factors	 outside	 of	 the	 University’s	 control,	 and	 meet	 its	 borrowing	 commitments.	 The	 University	 is	
committed	to	improving	its	financial	sustainability,	and	will	take	the	required	actions	to	do	so	in	the	coming	years.

Future Outlook

Overall the University financial position remains strong and the forecast to end of 2015 remains positive. The 
University is developing a financial plan for the new triennium 2016 to 2018 with the hope of improving its financial 
performance targets in order to ensure the financial viability and sustainability of the University. It will work to seek 
and	diversify	its	sources	of	income	and	manage	its	costs	efficiently	to	increase	in	its	operating	surplus,	with	the	aim	
of providing cash flow for its long term sustainability. 

Kolinio Boila
Executive Director Finance
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

STATEMENT BY APPOINTED OFFICERS

In our opinion the accompanying Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of The 
University	of	the	South	Pacific	as	at	31	December	2014	and	of	its	financial	performance,	its	changes	in	equity
and its cash flows for the year then ended.

We are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the Financial
Statements misleading or inaccurate.

––––––––––––––––––––––––
Professor Rajesh Chandra

Vice Chancellor & President

––––––––––––––––––––––––
Kolinio Boila

Executive Director

Finance

–––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Ms Fay Yee

Chair – Finance and 

Investments Committee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
We	have	audited	the	accompanying	financial	statements	of	The	University	of	the	South	Pacific,	which	comprise	the	
statement	of	financial	position	as	at	31	December	2014,	and	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income,	statement	
of	changes	in	equity	and	statement	of	cash	flows	for	the	year	then	ended,	and	a	summary	of	significant	accounting	
policies and other explanatory notes as set out on pages 95 to 132 . 

The University Council’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements 

The University Council is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the University’s Royal Charter and for such 
internal control as the council determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our 
audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial	 statements.	The	procedures	 selected	depend	on	 the	auditor’s	 judgement,	 including	 the	assessment	of	
the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	
assessments,	the	auditor	considers	internal	control	relevant	to	the	entity’s	preparation	of	financial	statements	that	
give	a	true	and	fair	view	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	the	circumstances,	but	not	for	
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the	management,	as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.	

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 
In	our	opinion,	the	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	financial	position	of		The	University	of	the	
South	Pacific	as	at	31	December	2014	and	of	its	financial	performance,	its	changes	in	equity	and	its	cash	flows	for	
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

––––––––––––––––––––––––
KPMG

Chartered Accountants

––––––––––––––––––––––––
2015 

Suva, Fiji   

KPMG, a Fiji partnership, is part of the KPMG International network. KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”) is a Swiss entity.
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC    
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014   

   Restated  

 Notes  2014  2013

  $ $ 

Income

Government	contributions		 3		 49,564,724			 47,946,462	

Student	tuition	fees		 4		 43,915,290		 39,120,007

Development	assistance		 5		 51,335,296	 51,082,889

Trading	activities		 6		 18,935,422		 18,454,145	

Consultancy	income		 6a		 1,661,700		 1,534,327

Other	income		 7		 9,811,425		 8,993,349

Release	of	deferred	revenue		 8		 4,833,963		 4,633,316

Interest	income		 	 759,948		 759,819

Total income from continuing operations   180,817,768 172,524,314

Expenditure

Staff	costs		 9		 82,195,130		 78,511,110	

Operating	costs		 10		 79,102,507	 84,393,953

Depreciation	and	amortization		 16,	17		 11,277,418		 9,436,990

Movement	in	impairment	provision		 	 1,929,042	 	1,134,304

Write	down	in	value	of	inventories		 	 (415,317)		 479,420

Realised	exchange	(gain)/loss		 	 424,902		 (670,570)

Unrealised	exchange	loss	 	 480,621	 420,738

Loss	on	disposal	of	assets		 	 13,116		 8,355

Write	off	of	project	debts	 	 630,290	 -	

Total expenditure from continuing operations   175,637,709  173,714,300

Surplus	(deficit)	for	the	year		 	 5,180,059		 (1,189,986)

Other comprehensive expense

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign	operations	-	foreign	currency	translation	differences		 	 (244,401)	 	(710,707)

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the year   4,935,658  1,900,693

The accompanying notes from page 99 to 132 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC    
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION    
as at 31 DECEMBER 2014   
 
 Notes  2014 Restated Restated

  $ 2013 2012

   $ $ 

Current assets    

Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 14		 28,716,237		 26,551,245		 28,934,499	

Held-to-maturity	financial	assets		 14a		 16,929,656		 18,712,133		 18,615,326	

Trade	and	other	receivables		 12		 19,084,790		 19,061,076		 12,442,987	

Inventories		 11		 4,531,505		 3,635,984		 5,707,736	

Prepayments		 13		 56,251		 574,077		 432,364	

	 	 69,318,439		 68,534,515		 66,132,912	

Non-current assets     

Property,	plant	and	equipment		 16		 208,373,868		 204,481,990		 202,860,143	

Intangible	assets		 17		 281,241		 388,085		 384,915	

	 	 208,655,109		 204,870,075		 203,245,058	

Total assets  277,973,548  273,404,590  269,377,970 

Current liabilities     

Creditors	and	accruals		 20		 15,591,938		 18,679,960		 15,320,389	

Development	assistance	(projects)		 20a		 21,049,800		 21,876,410		 20,436,437	

unexpended     

Provisions		 20b		 5,498,349		 5,049,645		 3,786,157	

Deferred	income		 20c		 4,833,963		 4,633,316		 4,462,512	

	 	 46,974,050		 50,239,331		 44,005,495	

Non-current liabilities     

Provisions		 20b		 877,577		 1,217,864		 1,107,833	

Deferred	income		 20c		 115,417,849		 116,983,125		 117,574,718	

Borrowings		 19		 4,714,843		 -	 -

	 	 121,010,269		 118,200,989		 118,682,551	

Total Liabilities  167,984,319  168,440,320  162,688,046 

Net assets  109,989,229  104,964,270  106,689,924 

Represented by:     

Funds and reserves     

Other	contributed	equity		 	 8,173,810		 7,940,310		 7,940,310	

Endowment	capital		 	 5,949,228		 6,093,427		 5,918,388	

Retained	earnings		 	 98,050,558		 92,870,499		 94,060,485	

Foreign	currency	translation	reserve		 21		 (2,184,367)		 (1,939,966)		 (1,229,259)	

  109,989,229  104,964,270  106,689,924

The accompanying notes from page 99 to 132 forms an integral part of these financial statements
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC    
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES     
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014   

 
 Notes  2014 Restated 
  $ 2013 
    
   $

Retained earnings  

Balance	at	1	January	as	previously	stated		 	 92,870,499		 94,777,372	

Prior year adjustments:  

Transferred to development assistance (projects) unexpended  1(w) -	 (716,887)	

Balance	as	at	1	January	-	restated		 	 92,870,499		 94,060,485	

Surplus	for	the	year		 	 5,180,059		 (1,189,986)	

Balance at year end   98,050,558  92,870,499 

Endowment capital  

Balance	at	1	January		 	 6,093,427		 5,918,388	

Foreign	exchange	gain	for	the	year		 	 (144,199)		 175,039	

Balance at year end   5,949,228  6,093,427 

Analyzed as:  

Endowments	–	general		 	 94,133		 94,133	

Endowments	–	specific		 	 5,855,095		 5,999,294	

Total endowment capital   5,949,228  6,093,427 

Other contributed equity  

Balance	at	1	January		 	 7,940,310		 7,940,310	

Movement during the year 21		 233,500		 -

Balance at year end   8,173,810  7,940,310 

Foreign currency translation reserve  

Balance	at	1	January		 	 (1,939,966)		 (1,229,259)	

Other	comprehensive	income		 	 (244,401)		 (710,707)	

Balance at year end   (2,184,367)  (1,939,966) 

The accompanying notes from page 99 to 132 forms an integral part of these financial statements. 
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC    
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014   

     

 Notes  2014  2013

  $ $  
Operating activities    
Recurrent activities    
Development	assistance	(recurrent)		 	 31,261,531		 22,330,858		
Government	contributions		 	 49,364,443			 48,288,017		
Interest	received		 	 863,077				 783,520		
Student	tuition	fees		 	 42,600,705			 36,545,436		
Trading	activities		 	 17,387,409			 17,603,700		
Other	receipts		 	 9,979,408			 8,022,002		
	 	 151,456,573			 133,573,533		
Staff	costs		 	 (78,274,606)			 (69,087,585)		
Other	operating	costs		 	 (65,931,593)				 (61,727,113)		
	 	 (144,206,199)			 (130,814,698)		
Net cash flows provided by recurrent activities   7,250,374   2,758,835  

Project activities    
Receipts	from	development	assistance		 	 20,109,422			 30,046,624		
Staff	costs		 	 (5,564,189)			 (5,510,766)		
Other	operating	costs		 	 (14,521,701)				 (22,723,305)		
	 	 (20,085,890)				 (28,234,071)		
Net cash flows provided/(used in) by project activities   23,532   1,812,553  

Total net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating 

activities  15  7,273,906   4,571,388  

Investing activities    
Payment	for	property	plant	and	equipment	-	General		 	 (10,395,669)			 (2,645,308)		
Payment	for	property	plant	and	equipment	-	Projects		 	 (1,210,565)		 (4,212,527)	
Net	transfers	to	term	deposits		 	 1,782,477			 (96,807)		

Net Cash flows (used in) investing activities  (9,823,757) (6,954,642)

Financing Activities 
Proceeds/(Repayment)	of	term	loan,	net		 	 4,714,843	 -

Net cash flow used in financing activities   4,714,843 -

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,164,992 (2,383,254) 
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	1	January		 	 26,551,245	 28,934,499
Net	increase	/	(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents		 	 3,070,515	 (2,633,086)
Effect	of	exchange	rate	fluctuations	on	cash	held		 	 (905,523)	 249,832

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  28,716,237 26,551,245

The accompanying notes from page 99 to 132 forms an integral part of these financial statements.
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

REPORTING ENTITY 
The University of the South Pacific was established by Royal Charter of the University in 1970. It is a non¬profit 
educational	 institution	 providing	 higher	 education	 to	 member	 regional	 countries,	 with	 its	 main	 operations	
domiciled	in	Fiji.	The	registered	office	is	at	Laucala	Bay	Campus,	Suva,	Fiji.		

The University is the provider of tertiary education in the Pacific region and an international center of excellence 
for	teaching,	research	and	consulting	on	all	aspects	of	Pacific	life.		

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 The summary of significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set 

out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the periods presented unless otherwise stated.  

(a)  Reporting Period 

 The financial statements are reported for the year from 1 January to 31 December 2014. 

(b)  Basis of measurement 

 The financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical costs and do not take into account changing 
money	values	or	current	valuation	of	non-current	assets.	

 The concept of accrual method and going concern basis of accounting are applied. The Finance and 
Investments Committee and officers of the University believe that the basis for preparation of the accounts 
is appropriate and that the University will be able to continue its normal operations in the next 12 months. 
The Committee and the officers resolved that the classification and carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
included in these accounts are appropriate. 

(c)  Functional and presentation currency 

 The financial statements are presented in Fiji dollars which is the University’s functional currency and rounded 
to the nearest dollar. Foreign currency amounts in respect of all overseas regional campuses of the University 
have been converted to Fiji dollars based on note 1 (m). 

(d)  Statement of compliance 

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
 Standards (“IFRS”) and their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(“IASB”). 

 New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted. 

	 A	number	of	new	standards,	amendments	to	standards	and	interpretations	are	effective	for	annual	periods	
beginning	after	1	January	2014,	and	have	not	been	applied	in	preparing	these	financial	statements.	None	of	
these is expected to have a significant effect on the financial statements of the University.

(e)  Basis of aggregation 

 The financial statements of the overseas regional campuses and the book center are aggregated in the 
University’s	 financial	 statement.	 Inter-entity	 transactions,	 balances	 and	 gains/losses	 on	 the	 transactions	
between the University entities are eliminated.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(f)  Use of estimates and judgments 

	 The	preparation	of	the	financial	statements	in	conformity	with	IFRS	require	management	to	make	judgments,	
estimates	and	assumptions	that	affect	the	application	of	accounting	policies	and	the	reported	assets,	liabilities,	
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. In particular 
significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgments relate to impairment provisions for accounts 
receivable and inventories. 

(g)  Property, plant and equipment 

	 The	policy	of	the	University	is	not	to	revalue	its	property,	plant	and	equipment.	In	view	of	the	specialised	
nature	and	wide	geographical	distribution	of	much	of	the	University’s	property	and	equipment,	it	is	considered	
that the costs of any revaluation to reflect current values would outweigh the benefits to the users of these 
financial	 statements.	 The	 value	 of	 its	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	 therefore	 either	 their	 value	 when	
originally	incorporated	within	the	University’s	statement	of	financial	position,	or	historical	cost	if	acquired	at	
a	later	date,	less	depreciation	and	impairment.	

	 Items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment,	costing	$1,000	or	more	are	recognized	as	assets.	Items	of	property,	
plant	and	equipment	costing	less	than	$1,000	are	expensed	directly	to	profit	or	loss	(other	than	where	they	
form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total). 

 (i) Depreciation 

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment,	including	buildings,	but	excluding	freehold	land	acquired	since	31	December	
1993,	are	recorded	at	cost	and	depreciated	on	a	straight	line	basis	over	their	estimated	useful	lives	commencing	
from the time the asset is held and ready for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

	 -	 Motor	vehicles	and	vessels	5	years.	
	 -	 Buildings	50	years.	
	 -	 Equipment,	furniture	and	fittings	5	years.	
	 -	 Freehold	land	not	depreciated.	

 The depreciation applicable to donated assets is offset by a transfer from deferred income to profit or loss. 

 (ii)Impairment 

	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	are	inspected	by	a	Board	of	Survey	when	required.	If	the	inspection	identifies	
that	the	carrying	amount	of	the	fixed	asset	is	overstated,	a	provision	is	made	for	the	impairment.	No	such	
provisions have been found necessary at balance date.
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THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(g)  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 (iii) Deferred income 

	 Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 acquired	with	 the	 aid	of	 specific	grants	 are	 capitalised	 and	depreciated	 in	
accordance	with	the	above	policy,	with	the	related	grant	being	credited	to	the	Deferred	income	as	a	liability	
and	 released	 to	 profit	 or	 loss	 over	 the	 expected	 useful	 economic	 life	 of	 the	 related	 property,	 plant	 and	
equipment.	The	exception	to	this	is	when	the	acquisition	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	is	financed	either	
through University’s own funds donated by member countries or a loan or finance lease. 

 (iv) Leased Assets 

 The University leases some property and equipment under operating leases. The rentals are charged as an 
expense on a straight line basis over the term of the lease to profit or loss. 

 Assets held under leasing agreements which transfer to the University substantially all the benefits and risks of 
ownership of an asset are treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. These are capitalised at their fair 
value at the inception of the lease and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and the useful economic 
life of the assets. The capital element outstanding is shown as obligations under finance leases. The interest 
element of the lease payments is charged to profit or loss over the term of the lease. 

(h)  Intangible assets 

	 IT	software	IT	software	which	is	purchased,	developed,	or	implemented,	is	recorded	at	historical	cost	and	is	
amortised over its estimated useful life. 

 Computer software 5 years. 

(i)  Inventories 
	 Inventories	are	valued	at	the	lower	of	cost	and	net	realisable	value.	Cost	is	determined	on	the	first-in,	first-out	

basis of valuation. Only inventories which are purchased and controlled centrally have been reported within 
the financial statements. Consumables purchased by the University for departmental use and held under the 
control of individual departments have been expensed in profit or loss at the time of purchase. 

(j)  Accounts Receivable 

 Accounts receivable are measured initially at fair value and subsequent measurement is at amortised cost less 
any impairment losses. The impairment provision is made as follows: 

 (i) Government debtors 

	 No	impairment	provision	is	made	for	sovereign	debts	on	the	premise	that,	despite	the	age	of	the	debt,	all	such	
debts will eventually be paid. 

 (ii) Trade debtors 

	 Trade	debtors	greater	than	91	days	and	less	than	180	days	are	provided	for	at	50%,	while	all	debts	greater	than	
180 days are fully provided for.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(j)  Accounts Receivable (continued) 

 (iii) Student debtors 

	 Student	debtors	greater	than	91	days	and	less	than	180	days	are	provided	for	at	50%,	while	all	debts	greater	
than 180 days are fully provided for. 

	 (iv)	Refunds	due	for	Value	Added	Tax/Goods	and	Services	Tax	
 All VAT receivable for Laucala Book Centre prior to 14 May 2012 have been fully provided for. 
 The impairment provision is charged to profit or loss. Bad debts are generally written off against the provision 

when identified. 

(k)  Statement of Cash Flows 

 The following are the definitions of the terms used in the statement of cash flows: 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand,	deposits	held	with	banks,	deposits	held	at	call	with	banks,	
other	short-term	deposits	with	original	terms	of	three	months	or	less	and	are	subject	to	an	insignificant	risk	
of	change	in	value,	and	bank	overdrafts.	

 (i) Operating activities 

 Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not investing or financing activities. 

 (ii) Investing activities 

	 Investing	 activities	 are	 those	 relating	 to	 the	 acquisition,	 holding	 and	 disposal	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	
equipment and investments. Investments can include securities not falling within the definition of cash and 
cash equivalents. 

 (iii) Financing activities 

 Financing activities are those that result in changes in the size and composition of the capital structure. This 
includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash and cash equivalents. 

(l)  Employee benefits 

 (i) Short term benefits 

	 Provision	is	made	for	employee	entitlements	in	respect	of	salaries	and	wages,	annual	leave,	severance	allowance	
and superannuation where the University has a legal or contractual obligation and is calculated as the amount 
unpaid	as	at	reporting	date	at	future	expected	pay	rates.	All	employee	benefit	related	provisions,	except	for	
severance	allowance,	long	service	leave	and	gratuity	of	selected	senior	managers,	are	classified	as	a	current	
liability. Accrued leave is expected to be utilised in the following period. 

 (ii) Superannuation benefits 

 The University contributes to a number of defined contribution superannuation schemes. Contributions 
are made by employees and by the University as a percentage of salary or specified amounts as required by 
relevant agreements. The cost to the University is charged as an expense to the profit or loss. The University’s 
obligation is limited to these contributions.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(l)  Employee benefits (continued) 

 (iii) Termination benefits 
 Termination benefits are employee benefits that are payable as a result of an employee’s decision to accept 

voluntary redundancy in exchange for those benefits. This is recognised as an expense in profit or loss as the 
obligation arises. 

(m)  Foreign currency transactions 

 All foreign currency transactions during the period have been translated to Fijian currency using the exchange 
rate in effect at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities in foreign 
currencies at balance date are translated at the exchange rate existing at that date. 

 Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at period end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised 
in the profit or loss in the financial period in which they arise. 

 Regional campuses 
 The assets and liabilities of regional campuses are translated to Fiji dollars using the exchange rate as at year 

end. The income and expenses of regional campuses are translated to Fiji dollars at average exchange rate. 
Foreign currency differences are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency translation reserve. The 
functional currencies of the regional campuses are those of their respective countries. 

(n)  Income tax 

 The University is exempt from income tax in accordance with the provision of Section 17 of the Fiji Income 
Tax Act. 

(o)  Revenue Recognition 

 Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services 
in	the	ordinary	course	of	the	University’s	activities.	Revenue	is	shown	net	of	value	added	tax,	rebates	and	
discounts. 

	 The	University	recognizes	revenue	when	the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	reliably	measured,	it	is	probable	that	
future economic benefits will flow to the University and when specific criteria have been met for each of the 
University’s activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable 
until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The University bases its estimates on historical 
results,	 taking	 into	 consideration	 the	 type	 of	 customer,	 the	 type	 of	 transaction	 and	 the	 specifics	 of	 each	
arrangement.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(o)  Revenue Recognition (continued) 

 Revenue is recognised in the financial statements for the major activities as follows: 

 (i) Government Grants 

 The University treats operating grants received from government contributions as income in the year of 
receipt	or	when	entitlement	to	the	grant	is	established.	Government	grants	in	respect	of	capex	are	recognized	
initially as deferred income when there is a reasonable assurance that they will be received and the University 
will comply with the conditions associated with the grant and are then recognized in profit or loss as income 
on a systematic basis over the useful life of the acquired asset. 

 (ii) Student tuition fees 

 The University recognises all student tuition fees on enrollment of the courses. 

 (iii) Development Assistance 

 Development assistance received for recurrent funding is recognised on due date while development 
assistance received with specific end purposes is recognized as revenue when the conditions attached to the 
assistance	have	been	met.	Until	those	conditions	are	met,	receipt	of	development	assistance	funds	in	advance	
are accounted for as deferred revenue and recognized as a liability. 

 (iv) Trading Activities 

	 Revenue	from	trading	operations	is	recognised	at	the	point	of	sale	for	goods,	or	as	the	service	is	performed.	

 (v) Consultancy Revenue 

 Consultancy revenue is recognised as revenue when it is earned. 

 (vi) Other Income 

 Other income is recognised on receipt except where a department of the University has arranged for a 
University invoice to be raised to a third party; the revenue associated with these invoices is recognised when 
goods / services has been provided. 

 (vii) Rental Income 

	 Rental	income	is	recognised	in	the	profit	or	loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	term	of	the	lease	for	the	
various properties held by the University. 

 (viii) Interest revenue 

 Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues. 
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(p)  Endowment funds 

 The University has established endowment funds for specific purposes. The capital amount of such funds is 
maintained at its original nominal value. The revenue generated through the investment of the capital is used 
in	accordance	with	any	conditions	 imposed	by	Council,	deed,	gift	or	by	the	terms	of	the	endowments	or	
bequests. Endowment funds are transferred to the profit or loss only when no longer required for the purpose 
for which the fund was originally established. 

(q)  Commitment Accounting 

	 The	University	operates	a	system	of	commitment	accounting	for	its	non-salary	expenditure.	Expenditure	is	
recognised when purchase orders are placed and charged against the appropriate cost centre. At period end 
all expenditure in respect of goods and services not yet rendered is reversed out. 

(r)  Trade creditors and accruals 

	 Liabilities	for	trade	payables	and	other	amounts	are	carried	at	amortised	cost	(inclusive	of	VAT/GST	where	
applicable) which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received 
whether or not billed to the University. The University’s term in respect of its creditors is 30 days. 

(s)  Borrowings 

	 The	 University	 classifies	 non-derivative	 financial	 liabilities	 into	 borrowings.	 Such	 financial	 liabilities	 are	
recognized	initially	at	fair	value	less	any	direct	attributable	transaction	costs.	Subsequent	to	initial	recognition,	
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Other financial 
liabilities	comprise	loans	and	borrowings,	bank	overdrafts,	and	trade	and	other	payables.			

 Finance cost comprise interest expense on borrowings. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to 
the	acquisition,	construction	or	production	of	a	qualifying	asset	are	recognized	in	profit	or	 loss	using	the	
effective interest method. 

(t)  Value Added Tax (VAT)/Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

	 Revenue,	expenses	and	assets	are	recognised	net	of	the	amount	of	associated	VAT/GST,	unless	VAT/GST	
incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of the asset or part of the expense. 

	 Receivables	and	payables	are	 stated	 inclusive	of	 the	amount	of	VAT/GST,	receivable	or	payable.	The	net	
amount	of	VAT/GST	recoverable	from,	or	payable	to,	the	Tax	Authority	is	included	in	other	receivables	or	
payables in the statement of financial position. Amounts charged to the provision account are written off 
when there is no expectation of recovery. 

(u)  Held-to-maturity financials assets 

	 Non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	and	fixed	maturities	of	more	than	three	
months	are	classified	as	held-to-maturity	financial	assets	when	the	University	has	the	positive	intention	and	
ability	to	hold	it	to	maturity.	After	initial	measurement,	these	assets	are	measured	at	amortised	cost.	Interest	
earned from these assets is recognised on an accrual basis.
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1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

(v)  Comparative amounts 
	 Where	the	presentation	or	reclassification	of	items	in	the	financial	report	is	amended,	comparable	amounts	

shall be reclassified unless reclassification is impracticable. 

(w)  Prior period adjustment 
	 Following	 an	 audit	of	 the	Global	Climate	Change	Alliance	 (GCCA)	project	 funded	by	European	Union	

(EU),	a	total	of	€392,546	(FJD$963,068)	of	expenditure	was	noted	to	be	ineligible	due	to	the	University	
charging international fee rates for scholarship students who had been qualified as regional students under the 
project covering the period of December 2010 to May 2014. 

	 The	University	has	restated	its	financial	statements	to	correct	this	misstatement.	Out	of	$963,068	worth	of	
ineligible	expenditures,	$100,800	related	to	the	year	2014,	$145,380	related	to	year	2013	and	$716,887	
related to 2012 and prior periods. Accordingly student tuition fees and development assistance (projects) was 
adjusted and prior period financial statements have been restated. 
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 The University has exposure to the following risks: 
 (i) Credit risk 

 (ii) Liquidity risk and 

 (iii) Market risk 

 The overarching policies and objectives of the University’s treasury management activities are defined as 
being	the	“management	and	control	of	 its	cash	flows,	banking,	and	 investment	transactions;	 the	effective	
control of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks”. 

	 The	Finance	and	Investments	Committee	reviews	and	approves	policies	 for	managing	each	of	 these	risks,	
which are summarised below. 

 (i) Credit risk 
	 The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	balance	date	to	recognised	financial	assets,	is	the	carrying	amount,	

net	of	any	provisions	for	impairment	of	these	assets,	as	disclosed	in	the	statement	of	financial	position	and	
notes to the financial statements. The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade and 
other receivables is included in Note 12 (g). 

 (ii) Liquidity Risk 
 Liquidity risk refers to the risk of financial loss to the University as a result of insufficient funds being available 

to meet its short and long term liabilities. The University has creditors and accruals which are all short term 
and hence have been classified as current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

 The University manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalent balances and 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

 Subventions within campuses or from the main Laucala campus to other campuses are carried out in order to 
maintain	sufficient	cash	balances	in	all	campuses	for	the	funding	of	day-to-day	operations.	

 The table below summarises the maturity profile of the university’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments. 

Year ended 31 
December 2014 

On Demand 

$ 

3 to 12 
months 

$ 

1 to 5 
years 

$

> 5 years Total 

$

Creditors and accruals - 15,591,938 - -	 15,591,938

Borrowings - -	 3,585,842 	1,669,133 5,254,975
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Year ended 31 
December 2013 

On 
Demand 

$ 

3 to 12 
months 

$ 

1 to 5 
years 

$

> 5 years Total 

$

Creditors and accruals - 18,679,960 - -	 18,679,960

 (iii) Market risk 

 Foreign currency risk 
	 Foreign	currency	risk	refers	to	risk	that	the	value	of	a	financial	commitment,	recognized	asset	or	liability	will	

fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency rates. The University’s foreign currency exchange risk arises 
primarily from trade receivables balances denominated in a foreign currency and transactions for receipts and 
payments settled in foreign currencies or with prices dependent on foreign currencies as well as transactions 
for regional campuses in various currency denominations. 

	 The	University	manages	this	risk	by	maintaining	off-shore	bank	accounts	in	its	efforts	to	provide	a	natural	
hedge against currency exposures. 

 The following table demonstrates the sensitivity analysis to a reasonably possible change in the Australian 
dollar	(AUD),	New	Zealand	dollar	(NZD),	Solomon	Island	dollar	(SBD)	and	British	pound	(GBP)	exchange	
rate	on	the	University’s	surplus,	with	all	other	variables	held	constant:

Effect on surplus ($) 

Increase/
(decrease) 

AUD NZD SBD GBP JPY 

31-Dec-14
10% 2,460,824 510,312 311,891 - 7

-10% (2,460,825) (510,312) (311,891)	 - (7)

31-Dec-13
10% 1,411,028 629,887 238,016 5,898 1,753

-10% (1,411,028) (629,887) (238,016) (5,898) (1,753)
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2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  

 (ii) Market risk (continued) 

 Interest Rate risk 

 Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

 The University’s exposure to the changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the investment of surplus 
cash	into	at	call	or	short	term	deposits	as	well	as	through	finance	lease,	utilisation	of	bank	overdrafts	and	
borrowings. 

	 Short-term	investments	are	either	rolled	over	at	maturity	at	 interest	rates	applicable	on	roll-over	dates,	or	
converted to operational use if the need arises at the time of maturity. Interest on bank overdrafts is subject 
to changes in market interest rates. The University does not have any fixed interest instruments at fair value 
through profit and loss and as such is not exposed to fair value movements due to change in interest rates. 

	 Long-term	 investments	 are	not	 feasible	due	 to	 the	nature	of	operations	within	 the	University,	 therefore,	
avoiding the risk of a cash flow mismatch or a liquidity shortfall. 

 Lending Facilities -Debt, Refinancing and Granting Security 

	 The	University	ensures	that	its	borrowing,	private	financing	and	partnership	arrangements	are	negotiated,	
structured,	documented	and	the	maturity	profile	of	the	raised	monies	managed,	with	a	view	to	obtaining	
competitive and favourable terms in light of market conditions prevailing at the time. 

 Prior to entering into or negotiating for any agreement to increase lending facilities (including leases) or 
re-finance	 the	 University’s	 current	 borrowing	 arrangements,	 approval	 from	 the	 Finance	 and	 Investments	
Committee (FIC) must be obtained. 

	 In	raising	capital	finance,	those	with	delegated	authority	will	take	account	of:	

	 (i)		 the	University’s	powers	and	rules	and,	in	particular	the	University’s	Charter,	Statutes,	Regulations	
  and Scheme of Financial Delegations; 
 (ii)  any legal or fiscal statutory restrictions; and 
 (iii)  the terms and covenants of borrowing 

 All the borrowings of the University are at fixed interest rate. 
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3   GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTIONS  

  Student Grant  Campus Grant  Total 

 DECEMBER 2014  $  $  $ 

 Cook	Islands		 147,675		 86,304		 233,979	

	 Fiji		 22,287,912		 14,312,088		 36,600,000	

	 Kiribati		 1,178,045		 126,579		 1,304,624	

	 Marshall	Islands		 127,538		 73,358		 200,896	

	 Nauru		 77,194		 76,235		 153,429	

	 Niue		 23,494		 43,152		 66,646	

	 Samoa		 980,026		 461,724		 1,441,750	

	 Solomon	Islands		 4,598,066		 96,372		 4,694,438	

	 Tokelau		 50,344		 -	 50,344	

	 Tonga		 1,497,846		 109,318		 1,607,164	

	 Tuvalu		 782,007		 54,659		 836,666	

	 Vanuatu		 1,812,376		 562,412		 2,374,788	

  33,562,523  16,002,201  49,564,724 

3  GOVERNMENT CONTRIBUTIONS  

  Student Grant  Campus Grant  Total 

 DECEMBER 2013  $  $  $ 

 Cook	Islands		 232,400		 100,660		 333,060	

	 Fiji		 23,328,341		 13,091,044		 36,419,385	

	 Kiribati		 1,167,784		 153,474		 1,321,258	

	 Marshall	Islands		 122,837		 78,698		 201,535	

	 Nauru		 74,111		 65,887		 139,998	

	 Niue		 18,852		 57,259		 76,111	

	 Samoa		 1,041,045		 160,010		 1,201,055	

	 Solomon	Islands		 3,794,617		 111,380		 3,905,997	

	 Tokelau		 48,268		 -	 48,268	

	 Tonga		 1,471,637		 107,981		 1,579,618	

	 Tuvalu		 697,250		 72,423		 769,673	

	 Vanuatu		 1,565,381		 385,123		 1,950,504	

  33,562,523  14,383,939  47,946,462
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4  STUDENT TUITION FEES  

     Restated 

   2014  2013 

   $ $ 

	 Regional	students		 	 16,772,115		 14,842,183	

	 International	students		 	 1,549,937		 1,212,247	

	 	 	 18,322,052		 16,054,430	

	 Distance	and	flexible	learning		 	 12,866,476		 11,127,676	

   31,188,528  27,182,106 

	 College	of	Foundation	Studies		 	 5,063,721		 5,114,098	

	 Republic	of	Marshall	Islands	(RMI)		 	 233,010		 173,308	

	 Master	of	Business	Administration		 	 3,083,842		 2,511,647	

	 Others		 	 4,346,189		 4,138,848	

   43,915,290  39,120,007 

4a  Student Tuition Fees by Sponsor   

	 Private	students		 	 28,305,194		 27,824,060	

	 Private	Sponsored		 	 1,791,490		 570,364	

	 Government	Sponsored		 	 13,539,961		 10,610,332	

	 USP	Sponsored		 	 278,645		 115,251	

   43,915,290  39,120,007 

5  DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE   

Australia   -	Recurrent		 	 23,618,928		 	 14,950,457	

   -	Projects		 	 16,018,559		 	 9,723,752	

New	Zealand		 -	Recurrent		 	 7,642,603	 	 7,380,401	

	 	 	 -	Projects		 	 44,761	 	 53,953	

European	Union		 	 104,810		 5,074,106	

Japan		 	 310,118		 4,788,315	

Other	Partners		 	 3,595,517		 9,111,905	

   51,335,296  51,082,889
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6  TRADING ACTIVITIES  

   2014  2013  

   $  $  

     

Book	centre		 	 8,588,336		 8,400,806	

	 Computer	shop		 	 2,587,055		 3,282,047	

 Residential rental income   

	 	 -	Laucala		 	 3,774,883		 3,518,838	

	 	 -	Emalus		 	 1,068,747		 903,588	

	 	 -	Alafua		 	 319,601		 226,155	

	 	 	 16,338,622		 16,331,434	

	 Gymnasium	and	Community	Recreation	Centre		 	 819,021		 471,381	

	 ICT	Park	rentals		 	 709,143		 753,382	

	 Other	rental		 	 451,632		 507,019	

	 Others		 	 617,004		 390,929	

   18,935,422  18,454,145 

6a  CONSULTANCY INCOME   

	 Consultancy	work	with	Tonga	Police		 	 -	 78,813	

 Professional services and project consultancies   

	 -	IAS		 	 835,092		 865,850	

	 -	Other		 	 374,169		 189,196	

	 Training	and	teaching		 	 392,500		 294,487	

	 Other		 	 59,939		 105,981	

   1,661,700  1,534,327 

7  OTHER INCOME   

	 Administration	cost	recovery		 	 137,668		 367,268	

	 Course	material	and	text	book	sales		 	 2,799,354		 2,618,060	

	 Faculty	and	support	units’	income		 	 1,294,944		 962,420	

	 ITS	domain	name	registration		 	 151,431		 181,240	

	 Laboratory	income		 	 1,030,508		 1,122,100	

	 Miscellaneous	student	activities		 	 2,238,609		 2,142,756	

	 Other	income		 	 1,908,951		 1,538,283

	 Publication	sales		 	 40,147		 27,666		 	

Insurance	proceeds	 	 209,813		 33,556

   9,811,425  8,993,349 
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8  RELEASE OF DEFERRED REVENUE 

   2014  2013  

   $  $ 

    

Depreciation	charge	for	the	year		 	 11,277,418		 9,436,990

Less: charge on items acquired through normal   

operating	activities		 	 (6,443,455)		 (4,803,674)

Release	of	deferred	revenue	liability	-depreciation		 	 4,833,963  4,633,316

9 STAFF COSTS 

Academic	and	comparable	staff		 	 53,663,891	 52,938,927

Intermediate	and	junior	staff		 	 17,684,141	 15,252,462

Hourly	paid	staff	 	 7,444,398	 7,284,354

Provision	for	leave	entitlement	 	 448,704	 1,263,488	

Senior	management	 	 2,953,996	 1,771,879	

Total staff costs  82,195,130  78,511,110 

Staff numbers (including part-time staff) by category 

Academic and comparable staff   610 635

Intermediate and junior staff   653 626

Hourly paid staff   319 323

Senior management  9 8 

Total staff numbers   1,591 1,592

Annualised taxable emoluments for staff paid $100,000 or more 

$100,000	-	$119,999		 	 40		 61	

$120,000	-	$139,999		 	 29		 19	

$140,000	-	$159,999		 	 14		 12	

$160,000	-	$179,999		 	 16		 16	
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   2014  2013  

   $  $ 

9  Annualised taxable emoluments for staff paid $100,000 or more (Continued) 

	 $180,000	-$199,999		 2	 6

	 $200,000	-$219,999		 8	 9

	 $220,000	-$239,999		 2	 2

	 $240,000	-$259,999		 2	 1

	 $260,000	-$279,000		 1	 -

	 $280,000	-$299,000		 1	 -

	 Above	$300,000		 3	 -	 	

   118  126 

10  OPERATING COSTS 

	 Cost	of	sales		 10,045,210	 11,593,728

	 Travel	and	related	expenses	–	University	related		 5,807,046	 4,271,633

	 Travel	and	related	expenses	–	Projects	related	 2,539,783	 8,625,492		

	 Student	–	research	related	expenses		 9,345,424	 10,147,304

	 Student	–	support	related	expenses		 1,925,582	 1,692,861

	 Grounds	and	maintenance		 5,223,262	 4,763,970

	 Consultancy	expenses		 4,662,800	 3,194,744

	 Utilities		 5,327,716	 5,408,748

	 Telecommunications		 3,513,834	 4,331,272

	 Library	books		 2,811,126	 1,642,250

	 Staff	recruitment	and	passages		 822,884	 1,276,754

	 Printing	and	stationery		 2,379,782	 2,622,944

	 Insurance	premiums		 2,549,790	 2,281,965

	 Computer	software	and	hardware		 1,953,268	 1,026,838

	 Workshop	expenses		 1,334,740	 1,838,521

	 Advertising		 1,808,027	 1,643,843

	 Hospitality	/	expenditure	on	meetings		 1,008,309	 1,213,776

	 Teaching	materials		 2,059,151	 2,577,569

	 Medical	expenses		 2,439,972	 1,157,720

	 Rental	expense		 1,613,419	 1,443,823

	 Equipment	purchase		 1,132,164	 1,120,421

	 Freight	and	courier	charges		 638,669	 829,056
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10   OPERATING COSTS (Continued)   

   2014 2013    

   $ $

	 Operating	costs	-strategic	plan		 3,626,697		 2,716,520	

	 Sub-total		 74,568,655		 77,421,752	

	 Other	items	of	expenditure		 4,145,782		 6,636,887	

 Fees paid to auditors:   

	 External	audit	-	audit	of	financial	statements		 54,483		 61,000	

	 Audit	of	projects		 23,408		 23,823	

	 Other	services		 88,554		 -

	 Internal	audit		 150,000		 178,868	

 Honorarium:   

	 Council		 37,625		 37,623	

	 Audit	and	risk	committee		 23,500		 23,500	

	 Finance	and	investments	committee		 10,500		 10,500	

 Total operating costs  79,102,507  84,393,953
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 Goods and  Academic Maintenance Catering Total

11  INVENTORIES Publications Gowns  and   
    Domestic   

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Balance	at	1	January	2013		 4,767,854			 711,209	 	223,722		 4,951		 5,707,736	

Additions		 8,434,922			 -		 242,116		 56,785			 8,733,823

Expensed		 (9,841,059)		 -		 (427,507)		 (57,589)	 	(10,326,155)

Impairment		 (476,117)	 	-	 (3,303)	 -		 (479,420)

Cost or valuation at 31 December

2013  2,885,600   711,209  35,028  4,147  3,635,984

Balance	at	1	January	2014		 2,885,600		 711,209		 35,028		 4,147		 3,635,984

Additions		 9,342,736		 383,057		 36,057		 39,644		 9,801,494

Expensed		 (9,241,421)		 -		 (39,118)		 (40,751)		 (9,321,290)

Impairment		 420,932			 (5,615)		 -		 -		 415,317

Cost or valuation at 31

December 2014  3,407,847   1,088,651  31,967  3,040  4,531,505

Analysis of value of inventories  2014 2013   

  $ $

Total	cost	of	inventories		 	 6,722,284		 5,739,956

Less:	unrealised	profit		 	 (1,740,882)		 (1,238,758)

Less:	provision	for	obsolescence		 	 (449,897)		 (865,214)	

Cost or valuation at year end   4,531,505  3,635,984

Analysis of goods and publications:

Book	centre	-	inventory		 	 1,415,004		 1,731,386

Book	centre	-	goods	in	transit		 	 893,345		 602,561

Regional	campuses	-	books		 	 1,104,031		 1,016,130

Regional	campuses	-	course	materials		 	 321,094		 283,915

Institute	of	Education		 	 67,016		 65,183

  3,800,490  3,699,175

Less:	provision	for	obsolescence		 	 (392,643)		 (813,575)

Cost or valuation at year end   3,407,847  2,885,600
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12  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  Notes 2014 2013  

    $ $

	 Government	contributions		 12a		 143,905		 	488,019	

	 Trade	debtors		 12b		 3,125,693		 	1,577,680	

	 Student	debtors		 12c		 12,607,497		 	10,987,655	

	 Staff	debtors		 12d		 123,083		 	125,278	

	 VAT	/	GST	receivable		 12e		 3,738,780		 	3,348,793	

	 Other	debtors		 12f		 10,871,707		 	12,464,278	

		 		 	 	 30,610,665		 	28,991,703	

	 Less:	provision	for	doubtful	debts		 12g		 (11,525,875)		 	(9,930,627)	

		 		 	 	 19,084,790		 	19,061,076	

12a Contribution due from governments:      

   

	 Solomon	Islands		 		 -		 	488,019	

	 Marshall	Islands		 		 143,905		 	-	

      143,905		 	488,019 

         

 Ageing of government contributions due:       

	 0	to	90	days		 		 6,853		 	-		

	 91	to	180	days		 		 50,224		 	488,019	

	 181	to	365	days		 		 86,828		 	-	

      143,905		 	488,019	

 

Overpayments by member countries are classified as creditors. 

12b Trade Debtors      

   

	 Alafua	campus		 		 163,153		 	178,235	

	 Emalus		campus	and	book	centre		 		 50,153		 	125,538	

	 Laucala	campus		-	book	centre		 		 182,224		 	37,477	

	 Laucala	campus		-	other	commercial		 		 2,730,163		 	1,236,430	

		 		 	 	 3,125,693		 1,577,680	

         

	 Less:	Impairment	provision		 		 (838,861)		 	(373,243)	

      2,286,832		 	1,204,437
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12b Trade Debtors (continued)  2014 2013  

    $ $

 Ageing of trade debtors due:        

			 0	to	90	days		 		 2,105,562		 	1,106,849	

		 	91	to	180	days		 		 362,540		 	195,178	

		 181	to	365	days		 		 175,892		 	188,318	

		 Between	1	and	2	years	old		 		 404,607		 	33,914	

		 Between	2	and	3	years	old		 		 32,218		 	6,562	

		 More	than	3	years	old		 		 44,874		 	46,859	

       3,125,693   1,577,680 

12c Student Debtors      

	 Alafua		 		 1,071,792		 	754,466	

		 Emalus		 		 2,531,491		 	1,207,357	

		 Laucala		 		 4,673,484		 	5,873,873	

		 Other	regional	campuses		 		 4,330,730		 	3,151,959	

		 		 		 	 12,607,497		 	10,987,655	

		 Less:	Impairment	provision		 		 (7,509,260)		 	(6,581,160)	

		 									Write	off	student	debts		 		 (333,794)		 	(136,815)	

       4,764,443   4,269,680

           

  Ageing of student debtors due:        

		 0	to	90	days		 		 2,026,950		 	1,263,853	

		 91	to	180	days		 		 3,672,910		 	4,429,840	

		 181	to	365	days		 		 1,610,522		 	1,921,401	

		 Between	1	and	2	years	old		 		 2,118,765		 	814,318	

		 Between	2	and	3	years	old		 		 773,602		 	479,121	

		 More	than	3	years	old		 		 2,404,748		 	2,079,122	

       12,607,497   10,987,655

12d Staff debtors        

	 Laucala		 		 104,569		 	101,059	

		 Other	regional	campuses		 		 18,514		 	24,219	

		 		 		 	 123,083		 	125,278	

		 Less:	Impairment	provision		 		 (116,129)		 	(111,578)	

       6,955   13,700
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12d Staff debtors (continued)   2014 2013  

    $ $

 Ageing of staff debtors due:        

	 0	to	90	days		 		 6,084		 	20,537	

		 91	to	180	days		 		 1,741		 	2,732	

		 181	to	365	days		 		 5,694		 	1,279	

		 Between	1	and	2	years	old		 		 11,219		 	2,385			

		 More	than	3	years	old		 		 98,345		 	98,345	

       123,083   125,278 

12e VAT/GST receivable        

	 Alafua	book	centre		 		 804,690		 	583,032	

		 Laucala	book	centre		 		 2,934,090		 	2,765,761	

       3,738,780   3,348,793 

		 Less:	Impairment	provision		 		 (2,727,831)		 	(2,727,831)	

       1,010,949   620,962 

  Ageing	of	VAT/GST	due:        

	 0	to	90	days		 		 52,935		 	49,400	

		 91	to	180	days		 		 72,996		 	71,163			

		 181	to	365	days		 		 264,057		 	99,197	

		 Between	1	and	2	years	old		 		 219,761		 	416,185	

		 Between	2	and	3	years	old		 		 416,183		 	433,301	

		 More	than	3	years	old		 		 2,712,848		 	2,279,547	

       3,738,780   3,348,793 

12f Other debtors        

	 Development	assistance	partners		(projects)		 		 9,210,701		 	5,754,335	

		 Development	assistance	partners		(incentive)		 		 -		 	3,998,095	

		 Development	assistance	partners		(Scholarship’s)		 		 -		 	1,778,374	

		 Interest	receivable		 		 150,992		 	254,121	

		 Other	debtors		 		 1,510,014		 	679,353	

       10,871,707   12,464,278 

  Ageing of other debtors due:        

	 0	to	90	days		 		 2,004,408		 	3,728,526	

		 91	to	180	days		 		 3,258,357		 	3,945,356	

		 181	to	365	days		 		 1,801,357		 	1,634,956	

		 Between	1	and	2	years	old		 		 996,666		 	1,759,508

	 Between	2	and	3	years	old		 		 1,414,987		 	506,963	
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12f   Other Debtors (Continued)  2014 2013  

    $ $

	More	than	3	years	old	 		 1,395,932		 888,969	

    10,871,707  12,464,278 

12g Movement in provision for doubtful debts 

	Balance	at	1	January		 	 9,930,627		 8,933,138	

	Write	offs		 	 (333,794)		 (136,815)	

	Additional	provision	made	during	the	year		 	 1,929,042		 1,134,304	

 Balance at 31 December   11,525,875  9,930,627 

Amounts charged to the provision account are written off when there is no expectation of recovery. 

13  PREPAYMENTS 

	Alafua		 	 17,085		 9,388	

	Laucala		 	 370		 528,260	

	Laucala	book	centre		 	 38,796		 36,429	

    56,251  574,077 

14  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   

 Cash and short – term deposits   

		 -	Current	Accounts		 	 12,165,967		 13,908,204	

		 -	Term	deposits	(3	months	or	less)		 	 16,509,333		 12,608,041	

		 -	Cash	on	hand	and	petty	cash		 	 40,937		 35,000	

 Cash and cash equivalents   28,716,237  26,551,245 

14a HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS   16,929,656  18,712,133 

 Total cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity 

 financial assets   45,645,893  45,263,378

Held-to-maturity	financial	assets	comprise	term	deposits	maturing	between	3	and	12	months	at	31	December	

2014.
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14b Where held:   2014 2013  

    $ $

In	Fiji		 	 9,906,145		 24,889,690

With	other	regional	banks		 	 8,749,692		 5,626,178

In	other	overseas	accounts		 	 26,990,056		 14,747,510

    45,645,893  45,263,378

14c The following term deposits are denominated in the 

 following currencies but stated in Fijian dollars:

Fijian	dollars		 	 608,658		 8,454,365

Australian	dollars		 	 24,608,246		 14,110,273

New	Zealand	dollars		 	 5,103,110		 6,298,867

Solomon	Island	dollars		 	 3,118,908		 2,380,159

British	pounds		 	 -		 58,978

Japanese	yen		 	 67		 17,532

    33,438,989  31,320,174

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in other currencies are exposed to foreign currency risk.

14d Comprising:

University	funds		 	 18,646,865		 17,293,541

Development	assistance	(projects)		 	 21,049,800		 21,876,410

Endowment	funds		 	 5,949,228		 6,093,427

    45,645,893  45,263,378

Development assistance (projects) and Endowment funds are restricted and are not available for                                                                  

University’s recurrent expenditure.



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
122

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014     

  

15   Reconciliation of net cash from operating activities to statement of comprehensive income 

 

     Restated

    2014 2013  

    $ $

	 (Deficit)/surplus	for	the	year		 		 5,180,059		 	(1,189,986)	

  Adjustments to income and expenditure:      

   

		 Release	of	deferred	revenue		 		 (4,833,963)		 	(4,633,316)	

		 Depreciation		 		 11,277,418		 	9,436,990	

		 Movement	in	provision	for	doubtful	debts		 		 1,929,042		 	1,134,304	

		 Loss	on	demolition	of	assets		 		 13,116		 	8,355	

		 Write-off	student	debts		 		 (333,794)		 	(136,815)	

		 Provision	for	leave	entitlement		 		 448,704		 	1,263,488	

		 Write	down/(reversal)	in	value	of	inventories		 		 (415,317)		 	479,420	

		 Write-off	Project	Debts		 		 630,290		 	-	

		 Net	cash	from	operating	activities	before	changes		 	 13,895,555		 	6,362,440

 in assets and liabilities     

		 Decrease/(Increase)	in	inventories		 		 (480,204)		 	1,592,332	

		 Increase	in	accounts	receivable		 		 (2,249,251)		 	(7,615,578)	

		 Decrease/(increase)	in	prepayments		 		 517,826		 	(141,713)	

		 Increase/(decrease)	in	development	assistance	(projects)			 	 (826,610)		 	2,205,433	

		 Increase	in	creditors		 		 (3,572,509)		 	2,879,181	

		 Increase	in	other	contributed	Equity		 		 233,500			 -	

		 (Decrease)	in	foreign	currency	translation	reserve		 		 (244,401)		 	(710,707)	

  Net cash provided by normal activities    7,273,906   4,571,388
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16 Property, plant and equipment 
   Property  Equipment Vehicles Work in Total
    and and Progress
    Furniture Vessels
   $ $ $ $ $

Cost              
Deemed	cost	at	1	January	2013		 211,280,300		 	28,171,711		 	2,536,008		 	8,098,348			250,086,367 
Additions		 2,452,381		 	6,490,776		 	305,956		 	1,693,974		 	10,943,087 
Disposals		 -		 	(15,376)		 	-		 	-		 	(15,376) 
Transfers	between	asset	classes		 3,801,927		 	755,589		 	-		 	(4,557,516)		  - 
Deemed cost 
at 31 December 2013  217,534,608   35,402,700   2,841,964   5,234,806   261,014,078 
Additions		 7,003,142		 	5,287,644		 	672,679			 	2,071,257		 	15,034,722 
Disposals		 	-			 	(15,972)		 		-					 		-					  (15,972) 
Transfers	between	asset	classes		 1,191,657			 	64,759			 		-						(1,256,416)		  -    
Deemed cost 
at 31 December 2014  225,729,407   40,739,131   3,514,643    6,049,647   276,032,828 
 
Accumulated depreciation              
Accumulated depreciation 
at	1	January	2013		 31,699,226		 	13,976,741		 	1,550,257		 	-		 47,226,224 
Charge	for	the	year		 4,598,225		 	4,466,731		 	244,825		 	-		 	9,309,781 
Disposals		 -		 	(3,917)		 	-		 	-		  (3,917) 

Accumulated	depreciation		 36,297,451		 	18,439,555		 	1,795,082		 	-		 	56,532,088
at 31 December 2013   
Charge	for	the	year		 4,827,132		 	5,936,597		 	366,860			 		-			 11,130,589 
Disposals		 	-			 	(3,717)		 	-			 		-			  (3,717) 

Accumulated depreciation 41,124,583   24,372,435   2,161,942    -    67,658,960
at 31 December 2014  

Net carrying amount
at	1	January	2013		 179,581,074		 	14,194,970		 	985,751		 	8,098,348			202,860,143 
Net carrying amount 
at 31 December 2013  181,237,157   16,963,145   1,046,882   5,234,806   204,481,990
Net carrying amount 
at 31 December 2014  184,604,824   16,366,696   1,352,701    6,049,647   208,373,868

Work in progress 
Work	in	progress	relates	to	costs	for	property-related	projects	where	the	project	has	not	been	completed.	The	
costs	will	be	capitalised	once	all	major	items	of	expenditure,	other	than	the	payment	of	retention	monies,	have	
been incurred and the asset is put into service.
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16 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  

 Carrying amount of work in progress projects  2014 2013  

    $ $

Continuing from 2013

Improve	campus	infrastructure	and	developments		 	 2,102,877		 		1,983,429		

IT	equipment	installation		 	 396,290		 		1,168,369		

Lab	equipment	installation		 	 131,783		 		84,566		

Improve	recreational	space	and	campus	life		 	 43,297		 		118,268		

Renewable	Energy	Training	Centre		 	 -		 		28,001		

Biofuel	Testing	Laboratory		 	 239,717		 		137,459		

Road	Upgrade		 	 -		 		286,407		

11th	Hall		 	 -		 		577,438		

Smart	Class	Room		 	 -		 		291,823		

Book	Centre	Extension		 	 -		 		460,451		

MBA	Resource	Centre		 	 113,109		 		76,354		

Pony	Club	Landscaping		 	 -		 		22,241		

       

New Projects in 2014       

Smart	Class	Room		 	 183,958		 	-	

Road	Upgrade		 	 79,000		 	-	

Software	development		 	 70,186		 	-	

Lautoka	Campus		 	 118,196		 	-	

11th	Hall	-	2	Additional	Blocks		 	 687,964		 	-	

	Kiribati	Campus		 	 1,883,270		 		-	

     6,049,647    5,234,806
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16  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)  

    2014 2013   

    $ $

Reconciliation of fixed assets to related accounts     

Carrying	amount	of	property,	plant	and	equipment

 at 31 December 2014   208,373,868  204,481,990 

       

This is represented by:     

Deferred	income		 	 120,251,812		 121,616,441	

Other	contributed	equity		 	 8,173,810		 7,940,310	

Carrying amount of properties acquired directly or through loans:     

Statham	street	campus		 	 3,857,709		 3,941,609	

Services	complex		 	 102,240		 106,560	

Residential	block		 	 736,000		 760,000	

Student	Accommodation		 	 3,044,632		 -	

Kiribati	campus		-	WIP		 	 1,883,270		 -	

Lautoka	Campus	-	WIP		 	 118,196		 -	

Carrying	amount	of	assets		funded	from	operating	activities		 	 70,206,199		 70,117,070	

		 		 	 208,373,868	 204,481,990		

17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS   

Deemed	cost	at	1	January	2013		 	 	 824,376	

Additions		 	 	 130,379	

Deemed	cost	at	31	December	2013		 	 	 954,755	

Additions		 	 	 39,985	

Deemed	cost	at	31	December	2014		 	 	 994,740	

Amortisation and impairment   

At	1	January	2013		 	 	 439,461	

Amortisation		 	 	 127,209	

Amortisation	at	31	December	2013		 	 	 566,670	

Amortisation		 	 	 146,829	

Amortisation	at	31	December	2014		 	 	 713,499	

Net	carrying	amount	at	1	January	2013		 	 	 384,915	

Net	carrying	amount	at	31	December	2013		 	 	 388,085	

Net carrying amount at 31 December 2014    281,241
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18   FINANCING FACILITIES
The	University	has	access	to	overdraft	facilities	of	$5,000,000	(December	2013:	$4,088,542)	with	various	banks	
across the region for which all conditions precedent have been met. As at 31 December 2014: nil (December 2013: 
nil) was utilised. 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The carrying amount of cash and cash 
equivalents	as	at	31	December	2014	is	$28,716,237	(December	2013:	$26,551,245).	Held-to-maturity	financial	
assets	as	at	31	December	2014	is	$16,929,656	(December	2013:	$18,712,133).	

19  BORROWINGS
 December 2014   December 2013 
 $   $  
Non – Current        
Fiji	National	Provident	Fund	Loan	(FNPF)		 	3,051,780		 		 -	
Asian	Development	Bank	Loan	(ADB)		 	1,663,063		 		 -	

   4,714,843 	 		 -	
 

19a Fiji National Provident Fund Loan  
The University entered into a loan agreement of $3.6m with FNPF to construct the 11th Hall for student 
accommodation at the Laucala Campus. The loan is to be repaid within 15 years of the first drawdown with the 
interest rate being fixed at 3.5% for 5 years. The interest rate at each of the next lot of 5 year intervals will be 0.5% 
less than the 5 year Fiji Infrastructure Bond rate applicable at that time. 
 

19b Asian Development Bank Loan 
	The	University	entered	into	a	loan	agreement	with	ADB	of	SDR	2,336,000	to	construct	the	Kiribati	Campus.	The	
loan is to be paid off between December 2020 and May 2046 with the applicable interest rate being 1% during the 
grace period and 1.5% thereafter. 
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     Restated

    2014  2013

    $ $ 

20 CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS       

Member countries’ contributions 

received	in	advance			 	 1,556,820		 2,101,215	

Other	creditors	and	accruals		 	 3,364,165		 915,205	

Research	funds		 	 2,432,783		 2,227,716	

Payroll	creditors		 	 2,211,706		 3,963,790	

Student	creditors		 	 280,370		 210,504	

Student	fees	received	in	advance		 	 797,120		 561,729	

Trade	creditors		 	 4,948,974		 8,699,801	

    15,591,938  18,679,960

20a DEVELOPMENT ASSISTANCE (PROJECTS) UNEXPENDED 

AusAID		 	 10,594,543		 9,357,348	

NZ		 	 117,994		 104,956	

EU		 	 1,725,840		 3,432,394	

Japan			 	 163,777		 291,262	

Others		 	 8,447,646		 8,690,450	

    21,049,800  21,876,410

Development assistance (projects) funds are from development partners and are appropriated for a variety of 

purposes	ranging	from	research,	scholarship,	community	outreach	and	capital	developments.	

 

20b PROVISIONS        

Current       

Provision for annual leave   2014  2013 

    $  $

Balance	at	1	January		 	 5,049,645		 	3,786,157	

Movement	during	the	year		 	 448,704		 	1,263,488	

Balance at 31 December   5,498,349   5,049,645 

Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer  settlement for 

at least 12 months after reporting date.
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20b  PROVISIONS (Continued) 

    2014  2013 

    $ $ 

Non-current		 	 	

Provision for severance allowance    

Balance	at	1	January		 	 894,307		 890,581	

Additional	provision	during	the	year		 	 158,513		 101,709	

Paid	during	the	year		 	 (175,243)		 (97,983)	

Balance at 31 December   877,577  894,307 

Provision for gratuity    

Balance	at	1	January		 	 323,557		 217,252	

Additional	provision	during	the	year		 	 -		 106,305	

Paid	during	the	year		 	 (323,557)		 -	

Balance	at	31	December		 	 -		 323,557	

    877,577  1,217,864 

20c Deferred Income    

Balance	at	1	January		 	 121,616,441		 122,037,230	

Additions	during	the	year		 	 3,469,334		 4,215,631	

Release	during	the	year	–	depreciation		 	 (4,833,963)	 4,633,316)

Release	during	the	year	–	disposals		 	 -	 (3,104)

Balance at year end   120,251,812  121,616,441

  

(i) Disclosed in the financial statements as follows:    

	Current		 	 4,833,963		 4,633,316	

Non-current		 	 115,417,849		 116,983,125	

    120,251,812  121,616,441
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21  Capital and Reserves

(a) Other contributed equity

The amount reflects the cost of assets donated by member countries in its capacity as the owners of the University.  

During	the	year	the	university	received	a	contribution	of	$233,500	from	Solomon	Island	Government.

(b) Foreign currency translation reserve

Translation reserve represents the resultant exchange gain/loss arising from translating all overseas campus 

balances on aggregation.

22  COMMITMENTS

22a Operating lease commitments   2014 2013 

    $ $

The commitments in respect of leased assets are as follows:

Not	later	than	one	year		 	 933,110		 427,800

Later	than	one	year	and	not	later	than	five	years		 	 3,011,231		 1,675,550

Later	than	five	years		 	 -		 -

    3,944,341  2,103,350

The	University	has	an	operating	lease	with	Fuji	Xerox	Business	Center	for	the	provision	of	managed	multi-

function	device	services.	Minimum	monthly	 lease	of	 is	$77,759		for	five	years	subject	to	adjustments	based	

upon actual utilisation.

22b Capital commitments

In	 addition	 to	 the	 amounts	 reported	 in	 note	 16	 of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 the	 University	 has	 a	 capital	

commitment	of	$5,682,079	for	various	projects	not	yet	started	and	asset	purchases	for	which	the	items	had	not	

been received or paid for. This balance was not been recognised as a liability at balance date.

23  CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  2014 2013 

    $ $

Contingent liabilities

The University’s contingent liabilities are estimated to be:

Fiji	Electricity	Authority	-	guarantees	given		 	 158,857		 158,857

FRCA	-	customs	bond	-	guarantees	given		 	 30,000		 30,000

VAT	on	contributions	received	from	Fijian	government	(1992	-	2007)		 39,802,087		 39,802,087

    39,990,944  39,990,944

Contingent assets

VAT	on	Fijian	government	contributions	(1992	-2007)		 	 39,802,087  39,802,087
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23   CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES – (continued)
The Fiji Islands Revenue Customs Authority advised in a letter dated June 2007 that the University may be 
liable	to	pay	VAT	on	contributions	received	from	the	Government	of	Fiji	since	1992.	The	University	made	an	
effort	in	2009	to	close	the	matter	with	FRCA,	but	no	reply	or	any	formal	assessment	has	been	issued	by	FRCA	
since	the	University’s	last	communication	dated	20	October	2009.	Accordingly,	no	liability	has	been	recorded	
in the financial statements. 

The	University	claims	Government	contributions	on	a	VAT	exclusive	basis.	In	the	event	that	the	VAT	liability	
is	considered	probable,	the	University	would	make	a	claim	for	the	short	fall	in	payment	of	contributions	and	
recognise a receivable amount to the same value as the potential tax liability. 

Legal claim contingency 

There are various legal claims and trade disputes pending against the University as at balance date. The University 
considers	 these	 claims,	 arising	 in	 the	normal	 course	of	business,	 to	be	 immaterial	 and	mostly	 spurious.	No	
amounts have been provided in relation to any of these matters. 
 

24     RELATED PARTIES 

The	University	is	controlled	by	12	member	countries	comprise	Fiji,	Tuvalu,	Tonga,	Solomon	Islands,	Samoa,	
Republic	 of	Marshall	 Islands,	Nauru,	Niue,	Cook	 Islands,	Vanuatu,	Kiribati	 and	Tokelau.	During	 the	 year	
the	University	received	grants	of	$49,564,724	(refer	to	note	3),	amounts	receivable	amounted	to	$143,905	
(2013:$488,019)	and	contributions	received	in	advance	amounted	to	$1,556,820	(2013:	$2,101,215).	

 
Key management personnel disclosures 

(a) Names of responsible persons and senior management team 

The following persons were responsible persons and senior management team of the University during the 
period. 

All members of the University council were appointed or elected under the provisions of the University Charter. 
Council	members	include	the	University	employees	who	may	be	ex-official	members	or	elected	staff	members.	

(i) University Council Members 

Mr	Ikbal	Jannif,	Pro-Chancellor	&	Chair	of	Council	
Professor	Rajesh	Chandra,	Vice-Chancellor	&	President	
Hon.	Henry	Puna,	Minister	for	Education,	Cook	Islands		
Hon.	Dr	Hilda	C.	Heine,	Minister	for	Education,	Marshall	Islands	
Hon.	Charmaine	Scotty,	Minister	for	Education,	Nauru	
Hon.	Pokotoa	Sipeli,	Minister	for	Education,	Niue	
Hon.	Dr.	Derek	Sikua,	Minister	for	Education,	Solomon	Islands	
Hon.	Fauoa	Maani,	Minister	for	Education,	Tuvalu	
Hon.	Samiuela	‘Akilisi,	Minister	for	Education,	Women	Affairs,	and	Culture,	Tonga	
Hon.	Bob	Loughman,	Minister	for	Education,	Vanuatu	
Hon.	Maere	Tekanene,	Minister	for	Education,	Kiribati	
Hon.	Saili	Patea	Peau,	Minister	for	Education,	Tokelau	
Hon.	Magele	Mauiliu	Magele,	Minister	for	Education,	Samoa	
Mr	Iulai	Lavea,	Chief	Executive	Officer,	Ministry	of	Finance,	Samoa	
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23   RELATED PARTIES (continued)

  Key management personnel disclosures 

Hon.	Mahendra	Reddy,	Minister	for	Education,	National	Heritage,	Culture	&	Arts,	Fiji	
Ms	Kelera	Taloga,	Permanent	Secretary	for	Education,	National	Heritage,	Culture	and	Arts,	Fiji	
Mr	Filomone	Waqabaca,	Permanent	Secretary	of	Finance,	Fiji	
Ms	Fay	Yee,	Fiji	
Mr	Iowane	Naiveli,	Fiji	
Professor	Janice	Reid	AM,	Government	of	Australia	
Professor	Ian	Watson,	Government	of	New	Zealand	
Ms	Cristelle	Pratt,	Deputy	Secretary	General,	Pacific	Island	Forum	Secretariat	
Professor	Konai	Helu	Thaman,	Senate	rep	
Professor	Arvind	Patel,	Senate	rep	
Mr.	Wilfred	Luiramo,	USPSA	(student	rep)	
Mr. Whitlam Saeni USPSA (student rep) 
Dr	Govinda	Lingam,	Staff	rep	
Mr	Anare	Tuitoga,	Staff	rep	

CO-OPTED MEMBERS 

Ms Fekita ‘Utoikamanu (Deputy Chair of Council) 
Dr Kabini Sanga 
Mr Rex Stephen Horoi 
Mr	Gerald	M.	Zakios		
Mr Digby Bossley  
Ms Kate Vusoniwailala 
Ms Lorna A. Johansson 
(ii) Senior management team 
Professor	Rajesh	Chandra,	Vice-Chancellor	and	President	
Dr	Dilawar	Grewal,	Vice	President	Administration		
Dr	Giulio	Paunga,	Vice	President	(Regional	Campus	and	Properties	and	Facilities)	
Dr	Esther	Williams,	Deputy	Vice-Chancellor	(Administration	and	Regional	Campuses)	–	Up	till	31	August	
2014 
Professor	John	Bythell,	Deputy	Vice-Chancellor	(Research	and	International)	
Dr	Akanisi	Kedrayate,	Dean,	Faculty	of	Arts,	Law	and	Education	
Dr	Anjeela	Jokhan,	Dean,	Faculty	of	Science,	Technology	and	Environment	
Dr	Kesaia	Seniloli,	Acting	Dean,	Faculty	of	Business	and	Economics	
Heather	Stadel,	Executive	Director	Human	Resources	
Kolinio	Boila,	Executive	Director	Finance	
(b) Remuneration of Council Members and Senior Management Team 

2014 2013

Remuneration of Council members  -	

$10,000	-	$19,999	 3  3 

$20,000	-	$29,999	 1  1  

Refer to note 9 and 10 for details of council members and senior management team remuneration.



2014 USP ANNUAL REPORT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
132

THE UNIVERSITY OF THE SOUTH PACIFIC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 

    2014  2013 

     $ $

24   RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Remuneration of Senior management team

$100,000	-	$119,999	 -	  1

$120,000	-	$139,999	 -	 		-

$140,000	-	$159,999	 1  1

$160,000	-	$179,999	 1  1

$180,000	-	$199,999	 1  1

$200,000	-	$219,999	 2  2

$220,000	-	$239,999	 -	  2

$240,000	-	$259,999	 1 	-

$260,000	-	$279,000	 -	 	-

$280,000	-	$299,000	 1 	-

Above	$300,000	 2 	-

 9 8 

  The University is not aware of any material transactions that may have been conducted with Council 
members of the University.  Transactions are at arm’s length and on terms and conditions no more 
favorable	than	those	which	it	is	expected	the	University	would	have	adopted	for	a	normal	employee,	
customer or supplier relationship. 

(c)  Key management personnel compensation 

2014

$

2013

$

Short term employee benefits  2,688,996	 1,484,307	

Termination benefits 265,000	 	287,572	

2,953,996 1,771,879

 

25    EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR END 

There	has	not	arisen	in	the	interval	between	the	end	of	the	year	and	the	date	of	this	report	any	item,	transaction	
or	event	of	a	material	and	unusual	nature	likely	to	affect	significantly	the	operations	of	the	University,	the	
results of those operations or the state of affairs of the University in subsequent financial years.
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